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PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”), imdling Management’s Discussion and Analysis of FarglrCondition and Results
of Operations in Part Il, ltem 7 below, includes/dard-looking statements within the meaning of ®&c7A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchangef 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).sdditements other than statements of
historical facts contained in this Form 10-K, irdihg statements regarding our future financial fp@sj business strategy and plans and
objectives of management for future operationsf@mgard-looking statements. The words “believayidy,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,”
“anticipate,” “i should,” “plan,” “expectand similar expressions, as they relate to usn&eaded to identify forward-looking

” o ”

intend,
statements. We have based these forward-lookibgnséants largely on our current expectations angeptions about future events and
financial trends that we believe may affect ouafinial condition, results of operations, businésgegy and financial needs. These forward-
looking statements are subject to a number of riskeertainties and assumptions described in “Rédtors” in Part |, Iltem 1A below, and
elsewhere in this Form 10-K, including, among otiiémgs: the future growth of the commercial bussjghome user, and broadband service
provider markets; speed of adoption of wirelessvoeting worldwide; our business strategies and tigraent plans; our successful
introduction of new products and technologies; fertoperating expenses and financing requirementscampetition and competitive factors
in the commercial business, home user, and broadbemvice provider markets. In light of these rijskscertainties and assumptions, the
forward-looking events and circumstances discugséuis Form 10-K may not occur and actual rescdtsld differ materially from those
anticipated or implied in the forward-looking staents. All forward-looking statements in this FotGK are based on information available
us as of the date hereof and we assume no obligitiopdate any such forward-looking statemente. foHowing discussion should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statetseand the accompanying notes contained in this A®-K.

Item 1. Business
General

We are a global networking company that deliver®irative products to commercial businesses, homesuand broadband service
providers. For commercial businesses, we providear&ing, storage and security solutions withowt tost and complexity of traditional lar
enterprise products. For consumers, we make higbrpgance, dependable and easy to use home netwgostorage and digital media
products to connect people to the Internet via camigation, computing and entertainment devices.al§e supply top broadband service
providers with retail proven, whole home networksajutions for their customers. Our products ariét ba a variety of proven technologies
such as WiFi, Ethernet and HomePlug powerline, wifocus on reliability and ease-of-use. We sellpoducts through multiple sales
channels worldwide, which includes traditional flet®, online retailers, wholesale distributorsedt market resellers, or DMRs, value added
resellers, or VARSs, and broadband service providediscussion of factors potentially affecting aperations is set forth in “Risk Factors” in
Part |, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

We were incorporated in Delaware on January 8, 1928 principal executive offices are located & East Plumeria Drive, San Jose,
California 95134, and our telephone number atltiation is (408) 907-8000. We file reports, prastgtements and other information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, inrdacae with the Exchange Act. You may read and aypyreports, proxy statements and
other information filed by us at the SEC’s Publief&ence Room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Wgtdnin D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330 for further information about thdolRuReference Room. Our filings are also availdbléhe public over the Internet at the
SEC’s website dtttp://www.sec.goyand, as soon as practicable after such repartled with the SEC, free of charge through a hijple on
our Internet website duttp://www.netgear.comnformation contained on these websites is notragfahis Form 10-K.
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Markets

Our goal is to be the leading provider of innovathetworking products to the commercial businessyéhuser, and broadband service
provider markets. A number of factors are drivinday’s demand for networking products within thessrkets. As the number of computing
devices, such as PCs, smart phones and tablet ¢ersplias increased in recent years, networks—ediged/iFi networks—are being
deployed more broadly in order to share informatiad resources among users and devices. This iafmmmand resource sharing occurs
internally, through a local area network, or exédly via the Internet. To take advantage of complpplications, advanced communication
capabilities and rich multimedia content, usersugpgrading their Internet connections by deployiigh-speed broadband access technologies.
Users also seek the convenience and flexibilityperating their PCs, laptops, smart phones, tableputers and related computing devices
while accessing their content in a more mobileyieless, manner. In addition, market demand fl@vtsion connectivity products has
increased significantly as well, where users sealotinect their televisions to the Internet andefttertainment content. Finally, as the usac
networks, including the Internet, has increasedrsibave become much more focused on the seciititigio connections and the protection of
the data within their networks.

Commercial businesses, home users, and broadbarncesgroviders demand a complete set of wiredwineless networking and
broadband products that are tailored to their $jgenéeds and budgets and also incorporate thstlagtworking technologies. These users
require the continual introduction of new and reflrproducts and often lack extensive IT resourndg@chnical knowledge. Therefore, they
demand ‘plug-and-play’ or easy-to-install and ussdpcts that require little or no maintenance, emstomer service and support. We believe
that these users also prefer the convenience afnibg a networking solution from a single compavith whom they are familiar; as these
users expand their networks, they tend to be Ipyethasers of that brand. In addition, purchasigjsions of users in these markets are also
driven by the affordability of networking product® provide reliable, easy-to-use products at tnactive price, we believe a successful
supplier must have a company-wide focus on theusnigquirements of these markets, operationalgliseiand cost-efficient infrastructure
and processes that allow for efficient product dgwaent, manufacturing and distribution.

Sales Channels

We sell our products through multiple sales chasmalrldwide, including traditional retailers, ordimetailers, wholesale distributors,
DMRs, VARs, and broadband service providers.

Wholesale DistributionOur distribution channel supplies our productsetaiters, e-commerce resellers, Direct Market Reselnd
Value Added Resellers. We sell directly to ourritisttors, the largest of which are Ingram Microg.land Tech Data Corporation.

Retailers.Our retail channel primarily supplies products tha sold into the home market. We sell direct|yotoenter into consignment
arrangements with, a number of our traditionalitets. The remaining traditional retailers, as vaslour online retailers, are fulfilled through
wholesale distributors. We work directly with oetail channels on market development activitieshsas co-advertising, in-store promotions
and demonstrations, instant rebate programs, epemisorship and sales associate training, as webtablishing “store within a store”
websites and banner advertising.

DMRs and VAR4Ne primarily sell into the commercial business negipkace through an extensive network of DMRs (Ditdarket
Resellers) and VARs (Value Added Resellers). Our3Nhclude companies such as CDW and Insight. ViBlside our network of
registered Powershift Partners, and resellersatfgahot registered in our Powershift partner pnogfl@MRs and VARs may receive sales
incentives, marketing support and other progranefiesnfrom us. Our DMRs and VARs generally purchaseproducts through our wholesale
distributors.
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Broadband Service Providerg/e also supply our products directly to broadbagrdise providers in the United States and
internationally. Service providers supply our proguto their business and home subscribers.

Unlike previous years, we derived the majority of net revenue from North America sales in the yrated December 31, 2010.
International sales as a percentage of net revéacreased from 54.2% in the year ended Decemb@089, to 48.4% in the year ended
December 31, 2010. We have committed resourcespaneling our international operations and salesmblia. Accordingly, we are subject to
a number of risks related to international operetisuch as macroeconomic and microeconomic condijtgeopolitical instability, preference
for locally branded products, exchange rate fluibus, increased difficulty in managing inventochallenges of staffing and managing fore
operations, the effect of international sales ontax structure, and changes in local tax laws. tabée below sets forth our net revenue by
major geographic region. While sales in all ourengjeographic regions increased, North Americdanegtowth, primarily due to strength in

retail sales driven by market share gains.

Percentagt Percentag:
2010 Change 2009 Change 2008
(In thousands, except percentage data)
North America $465,06: 48% $314,39: 6% $297,64:
Europe, MiddI-East, and Africa“EMEA”) 340,47 17% 292,18: (17%) 354,05¢
Asia Pacific and rest of worl 96,51¢ 21% 80,02 (13%) 91,64¢
$902,05: 31% $686,59! (8%) $743,34:

Net revenues from significant customers as a péagerof our total net revenues for the years efssember 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008
were as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2009 2008
Best Buy Co., Inc. and Affiliates (Retaile 15% 11% 8%
Ingram Micro, Inc. and Affiliates (Distributo 11% 11% 14%
Tech Data Corporation and Affiliates (Distribut: 7% 8% 11%
All others individually less than 10% of rever 67% 7C% 67%
10(% 10(% 10C%

Product Offerings

Our product line consists of wired and wirelessides that enable commercial business networkirepdivand access, network
connectivity, network storage and security applkand hese products are available in multiple ceméitions to address the needs of our
customers in each geographic region in which oadpets are sold.

Commercial business networkinthese products include:

» Ethernet switches, which are multiple port devigssd to network PCs and peripherals via Ethernéhgyi

*  Wireless controllers, which are devices used toagarand control multiple WiFi base stations whitkuirn provide WiF
connections to PCs and peripher.
* Internet Security Appliances, which provide Intdraecess through capabilities such as-virus and an-spam; anc

* network attached storage, which enables file sgamong multiple PCs and other networked devices alocal area networ
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Broadband acces&roadband is a transmission medium capable of ngowiare digital content over public high speed neksdhan
traditional low speed telephone lines. Productseéhable broadband access include:

» routers, which connect the home or office netwadkthe Internet via broadband model

» gateways, which are routers with integrated modéondnternet acces:

» |P telephony products, used for transmitting vaioenmunications over a network; a

* Media servers, which store files and multimediatennfor access by PCs, laptops, smart phonesthed lmternet enabled device

Network connectivityProducts that enable network connectivity and resosharing include:
» wireless access points, which provide a wirelegslietween a wired network and wireless devi
» wireless network interface cards and adapters, wiiable devices to be connected to the networdegisly;
» Ethernet network interface cards and adapters,hwdri@ble devices to be connected to the networkEwwernet wiring
* media adapters, which connect non PC entertaindeiites such as TVs, audio players, and game @stmh network
» powerline adapters and bridges, which enable dst@ee connected to the network over existingtetad wiring; and

» Multimedia over Coax Alliance standar*MoCA”) adapters and bridges, which enable devices to tweented to the network ov
existing coaxial wiring

We design our products to meet the specific neétt'eccommercial business, home user, and broadéanvite provider markets,
tailoring various elements of the product designluding component specification, physical chanasties such as casing, design and
coloration, and specific user interface featuremé®t the needs of these markets. We also levemagg of our technological developments,
high volume manufacturing, technical support angirgering infrastructure across our markets to méé business efficiencies.

Our products that target the commercial busineggehare generally designed with an industrial @paece, including metal cases and,
for some product categories, the ability to motwetproduct within standard data networking rackesEe products typically include higher g
counts, higher data transfer rates and other peeibce characteristics designed to meet the needsahmercial business user. For example,
we offer data transfer rates up to ten Gigabitsspeond for our business products to meet the hicdygacity requirements of business users.
Some of these products are also designed to suppposimission modes such as fiber optic cabling¢hvis common in more sophisticated
business environments. Security requirements withinproducts for commercial business broadbandsaciniclude firewall, virtual private
network and content threat management capabithizsallow for secure interactions between reméfiees and business headquarter locations
over the Internet. Our connectivity product offgsrfor the commercial business market include erdthsecurity and remote configurability
often required in a business setting. Our ReadyRAnily of network attached storage products impleteeedundant array of independent
disks data protection, enabling businesses to stwdegorotect critical data easily, efficiently antelligently.

Our products for the home user and broadband sepriwvider markets are generally designed withgiteavisual and physical aesthe
that are more desirable in a home environment.coanectivity offerings for use in the home are galhe at a lower price than higher security
and configurability wireless offerings for the comrial business market. Our products for facilitgtbroadband access in the home are
available with features such as parental contrphbdities and firewall security, to allow for safenore controlled Internet
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usage in families with children. Our broadband picid designed for the home market also contaimllation software that guides a less
sophisticated user through the installation proeedstheir broadband service provider, using ggreal user interface and simple point and
click operations. Our connectivity product offer&nipr the home include powerline and MoCA datagnaission modes, which allow home
users to take advantage of their existing eledtdcaoaxial wiring infrastructure for transmittirta among network components.

Our vision for the home network has always beeruabaving all devices connected to the Internetlatmes. Recently, our focus has
been to continue to introduce new products intotwreabelieve are five new growth areas: First, Dvirectivity products such as our new
Push2TV HD edition announced jointly with Inteltaé 2011 International Consumer Electronic Shovep8d, network attached storage
products with enhanced user interfaces, higherdigpand resilience; Third, security applianced thgport more users; Fourth, DOCSIS 3.0
gateways with more integrated functions; and Fiftle, 4G/Long Term Evolution (“LTE”) related repe@t@nd routers. We continue to
announce and introduce new products in these ggnifgrowth markets.

Competition

The commercial business, home user, and broadlmwide provider markets are intensely competitive subject to rapid technological
change. We expect competition to continue to intgn®ur principal competitors include:

» within the commercial business networking marketsnpanies such as Allied Telesyn Internationaly&arda Networks, Buffalc
Inc., Cisco Systems, Inc., Dell Computer Corporatid-Link, Fortinet, Inc., Hewlett-Packard Compahiyawei, the Linksys
division of Cisco Systems, Inc., Seagate Techngl8gynicWALL, Inc., QNAP Systems, WatchGuard and WesDigital; anc

» within the home user markets, companies such aseApp., Belkin Corporation, D-Link, and the Linksdivision of Cisco
Systems, Samsung, Vizio, Sony, and Roku;

» within the broadband service provider markets, canigs such as Actiontec Electronics, Inc., ARRISUt Inc., Comtren
Corporation, D-Link, Hitron, Huawei Technologies.QCad., Motorola, Inc., Pace plc, Sagem Corporat®aientific Atlanta—a
Cisco company, SMC Networks, TechniColor, Ubee, ZndEL.

Other current competitors include numerous spectientry vendors such as Devolo, LEA and AVM in &g, Corega International SA
and Melco, Inc. in Japan and TP-Link in China. @otential competitors include consumer electron@sdors and telecommunications
equipment vendors, including LG Electronics, Panasand Toshiba, who could integrate networkingatsigties into their line of products,
and our channel customers who may decide to oflébsanded networking products. We also face cditipe from service providers who
may bundle a free networking device with their lotmend service offering, which would reduce our séleve were not the supplier of choice
to those service providers. In the service provigerce, we are also facing increased competitam firiginal design manufacturers, or ODI
and contract manufacturers who are selling andngitieg to sell their products directly to serviaqeyiders around the world.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hireger operating histories, greater name recagniéind substantially greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and otheoueces. As a result, they may have more advarcbthdlogy, larger distribution channels,
stronger brand names, better customer service@msito more customers than we do. For exampleleittePackard has significant brand
name recognition and has an advertising preseriztastially greater than ours. Similarly, Ciscot8yss is well recognized as a leader in
providing networking products to businesses andshastantially greater financial resources thardweSeveral of our competitors, such as the
Linksys division of Cisco Systems andLlnk, offer a range of products that directly cortgperith most of our product offerings. Several af
other competitors primarily compete in a more ledimanner. For example, Hewlett-Packard sells n&ing products primarily targeted at
larger businesses or enterprises. However, the ettinp environment in which we operate change&igpOther large companies with
significant resources could become direct compatiteither through acquiring a competitor or thiougernal efforts.
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We believe that the principal competitive factardhie commercial business, home user, and broadigarite provider markets for
networking products include product breadth, sizé scope of the sales channel, brand name, tinsslioenew product introductions, product
availability, performance, features, functionabityd reliability, price, ease-of-installation, m&nance and use, and customer service and
support. We believe our products are competitivih@se markets based on these factors.

To remain competitive, we believe we must inveghsicant resources in developing new productsemtincing our current products
while continuing to expand our sales channels aatht@ining customer satisfaction worldwide.

Research and Development

As of December 31, 2010, we had 178 employees edgagesearch and development. We believe thasueeess depends on our
ability to develop products that meet changing mesrds and to anticipate and proactively respomddtving technology in a timely and cost-
effective manner. Accordingly, we have made investts in our research and development departmentar to effectively evaluate new
third-party technologies, develop newhiouse technologies, and develop and test new prgdDar research and development employees
closely with our technology and manufacturing parsrto bring our products to market in a timelghhguality and cost-efficient manner.

We identify, qualify or self-develop new technolegj and we work closely with our various technoleggpliers and manufacturing
partners to develop products using one or moraefievelopment methodologies described below.

ODM. Under the original design manufacturer, or ODM, meblogy, we define the product concept and sptitin and recommend
the technology selection. We then coordinate withtechnology suppliers while they develop the piidneeting our specification. On cert
new products, one or more subsystems of the desigie done in-house and then integrated in wéhiémaining design pieces from the
ODM. Once prototypes are completed, we work withgartners to complete the debugging and systetagrition and testing. After
completion of the final tests, agency approvals arodiuct documentation, the product is releasegfoduction.

IN-HOUSE DEVELOPMENTUNder the inhouse development model, one or more subsystethe groduct are designed and develc
utilizing the NETGEAR engineering team. Under tmiedel, some of the primary technology is develdpeltouse. We then work closely with
either an ODM or a contract manufacturer to congpleé development of the entire design, perforrnteessary testing, and obtain regula
approvals before the product is released for proloc

OEM. Under the original equipment manufacturer, or OEMthodology, which we use for a limited number afducts, we define the
product specification and then purchase the proflast OEM suppliers that have existing productsniit our design requirements. In some
cases, once a technology supplier’s product issalewe work with the OEM supplier to complete tlosmetic changes to fit into our
mechanical and packaging design, as well as ourrdentation and graphical user interface, or GW@indard. The OEM supplier completes
regulatory approvals on our behalf. When all desigrification and regulatory testing is completda product is released for production.

Our internal research and development efforts facudeveloping and improving the usability, rellapj functionality, cost and
performance of our products. Our total researchdaw&lopment expenses were $40.0 million in 2080, Bmillion in 2009 and $33.8 million
in 2008.
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Manufacturing

Our primary manufacturers are Cameo Communications Delta Networks Incorporated, Hon Hai Preaisindustry Co., Ltd. (more
commonly known as Foxconn Corporation), SerComnp@ation, Kepro, and Unihan Corporation (which wpan out of ASUSTek
Computer, Inc. in January 2008), all of which aeadiquartered in Taiwan. The actual manufacturinguofproducts occurs primarily in
mainland China, with pilot and low-volume manufaotg in Taiwan on a select basis. We distributeroanufacturing among these key
suppliers to avoid excessive concentration witingle supplier. Because substantially all of ounofacturing occurs in mainland China, any
disruptions from natural disasters, health epideraitd political, social and economic instabilityubaffect the ability of our ODMs to
manufacture our products. In addition, our ODM€&hina have continued to increase our costs of mtimhy particularly in the recent year.
These increased costs have affected our marginalality to lower prices for our products to staynpetitive. If our manufacturers or
warehousing facilities are disrupted or destroyeslwould have no other readily available alterregifor manufacturing our products and our
business would be significantly harmed. In additiotheir responsibility for the manufacturing afrgproducts, our manufacturers purchase all
necessary parts and materials to produce comfileished goods. To maintain quality standards far suppliers, we have established our own
product quality organization based in Hong Kong aradnland China. They are responsible for auditind inspecting process and product
quality on the premises of our ODMs and OEMs.

We obtain several key components from limited de sources. For example, many of the semiconduated in our products are
specifically designed for use in our products aredabtained from sole source suppliers on a puscheder basis. In addition, some
components that are used in all our products ataredd from limited sources. These components dekonnector jacks, plastic casings and
physical layer transceivers. We also obtain switghabric semiconductors, which are used in oueEtét switches and Internet gateway
products, and wireless local area network chipsdtgh are used in all of our wireless productspfra limited number of suppliers. Our third
party manufacturers generally purchase these coempemn our behalf on a purchase order basis, amtbwot have any contractual
commitments or guaranteed supply arrangementsowitisuppliers. If these sources fail to satisfy swpply requirements, our ability to meet
scheduled product deliveries would be harmed ancheselose sales and experience increased compoosist

We currently outsource warehousing and distribukigistics to five main third-party providers wheaesponsible for warehousing,
distribution logistics and order fulfillment. In diion, these parties are also responsible for soonéiguration and r@ackaging of our produc
including bundling components to form kits, insegtiappropriate documentation, disk drive configorgtand adding power adapters. APL
Logistics Americas, Ltd. in City of Industry, Calihia serves the Americas region, Kerry Logistits. in Hong Kong serves the Asia Pacific
region, DSV Solutions B.V. and ModusLink B.V. irethetherlands serve the Europe, Middle-East anida&for EMEA, region and Agility
Logistics Pty Ltd. in Matraville, NSW, Australia wdh serves Australia and New Zealand.

Sales and Marketing

As of December 31, 2010, we had 303 employees edgagsales and marketing. We work directly with oustomers on market
development activities, such as co-advertisingstare promotions and demonstrations, instant rglragrams, event sponsorship and sales
associate training. We also participate in majdustry trade shows and marketing events. Our magkeepartment is comprised of our
product marketing and corporate marketing groups.

Our product marketing group focuses on productesgsg product development roadmaps, the new pradtroduction process, product
lifecycle management, demand assessment and coigatialysis. The group works closely with ouresadnd research and development
groups to align our product development roadmapéet customer technology demands from a strateggppctive. The group also ensures
that product development activities, product lawssithannel marketing program activities, and amggdiemand and supply planning occur in
a well-managed, timely basis in coordination withr development, manufacturing, and sales groupsetisas our ODM, OEM and sales
channel partners.



Table of Contents

Our corporate marketing group is responsible fdintleg and building our corporate brand. The gréoguses on defining our mission,
brand promise and marketing messages on a worldvasis. This group also defines the marketing aggres in the areas of advertising,
public relations, events, channel programs anda@lr delivery mechanisms. These marketing messagkapgproaches are customized for the
commercial business, home user, and broadbandegravider markets through a variety of delivemcimanisms designed to effectively
reach end-users in a cost-efficient manner.

We conduct most of our international sales and etar§ operations through wholly-owned subsidiavignéch operate via sales and
marketing subsidiaries and branch offices worldwide

Customer Support

We design our products with “plug and play” eases#. We respond globally to customer questions tinephone and Internet,
including providing an online Knowledgebase andrsmum. Customer support is provided through aldoation of a limited number of
permanent employees and use of subcontracted tamtisg” resources. Our permanent employees desigtechnical support database and
are responsible for training and managing our autssd sub-contractors. We utilize the informatiamgd from customers by our customer
support organization to enhance our product offeximncluding further simplifying the installatigmocess.

Intellectual Property

We believe that our continued success will depeirdarily on the technical expertise, speed of tetbgy implementation, creative ski
and management abilities of our officers and keplegees, plus ownership of a limited but importseit of copyrights, trademarks, trade
secrets and patents. We primarily rely on a contlinaf copyright, trademark and trade secret aatémt laws, nondisclosure agreements
employees, consultants and suppliers and otheramngl provisions to establish, maintain and ptoterr proprietary rights. We hold 22 iss|
United States patents that expire between year3 @0d 2028 and 18 foreign patents that expire 2012 and 2026. In addition, we
currently have a number of pending United Statekfareign patent applications related to technolaggt products offered by us. We also rely
on third-party licensors for patented hardware softlvare license rights in technology that are ipooated into and are necessary for the
operation and functionality of our products. Oucess will depend in part on our continued abtlithave access to these technologies.

We have trade secret rights for our products, stingi mainly of product design, technical produstumentation and software. We also
own, or have applied for registration of trademanksonnection with our products in the Unitedt8saand internationally, including
NETGEAR, the NETGEAR logo, NETGEAR Green, the NET&HEGreen logo, NETGEAR Digital Entertainer, the NEEAR Digital
Entertainer logo, Genie, Readyshare, Neo TV, th&@ GIEAR Neo TV logo, Net-Doctor, NETGEAR Stora, thE NGEAR Stora logo, the
NETGEAR Gear Guy logo, Connect with Innovation, BAmdy's Connecting, ProSafe, RangeMax, ReadyNAS, Smazak¥, ProSecure, the
ProSecure logo, Push2TV, ANYTIME, ANYWHERE, ANY MEB, ANY SCREEN, and X-RAID. We have registered amher of Internet
domain names that we use for electronic interaatibh our customers including dissemination of proidinformation, marketing programs,
product registration, sales activities, and ottenmercial uses.

Seasonal Business

We have historically experienced increased nessaleur third and fourth fiscal quarters as comegao other quarters in our fiscal year
due to seasonal demand of consumer markets reated beginning of the school year and the holgkgson. However, because of irregular
and significant purchases from customers in othenkets, such as the service provider market, diitem has not been consistent. As such
pattern should not be considered a reliable indiaatt our future net sales or financial performance
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Backlog

We believe the actual amount of product backloangtparticular time is not a meaningful indicatafrour future business. Our backlog
consists of products for which customer purchagersrhave been received and that are scheduledltoe process of being scheduled for
shipment. While we expect to fulfill the order blatkwithin the current year, most orders are sutjecescheduling or cancellation with little
or no penalties. Because of the possibility of aogtr changes in product scheduling or order caati@tl, our backlog as of any particular date
may not be an indicator of net sales for any sudiogeperiod. Accordingly, backlog should not be sidered a reliable indicator of our ability
to achieve any particular level of revenue or ficiahperformance.

Environmental Laws

Our products and manufacturing process are sutgi@aimerous governmental regulations, which cowgh the use of various materials
as well as environmental concerns. Environmengalds such as pollution and climate change havaigadicant legislative and regulatory
efforts on a global basis, and there are expectbe additional changes to the regulations in thesas. These changes could directly increase
the cost of energy which may have an impact omténe we manufacture products or utilize energy twdpice our products. In addition, any
new regulations or laws in the environmental aréghtrincrease the cost of raw materials we usauinpooducts. Other regulations in the
environmental area may require us to continue toitnpand ensure proper disposal or recycling ofgoducts. To the best of our knowledge,
we maintain compliance with all current governmegfulations concerning our production processeslfdocations in which we operate.
Since we operate on a global basis, this is atsmgplex process which requires continual monitoohgegulations and an ongoing complia
process to ensure that we and our suppliers axempliance with all existing regulations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we had 654 full-time emppés, with 303 in sales, marketing and technicppstt, 178 in research and
development, 75 in operations, and 98 in finanterimation systems and administration. We alsdzetih number of temporary staff to
supplement our workforce. We have never had a wtmfipage among our employees and no personna@esented under collective
bargaining agreements.

Long-lived assets by geographic location are listeder Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Firgri&tatements in Part Il Item 8 of
this report, which information is incorporated inkds Item 1 by reference.

Website Posting of SEC Filings

Our website provides a link to our SEC filings, aefhiare available on the same day such filings a@emThe specific location on the
website where these reports can be found is fittype8tor.netgear.com/sec.cfm. Our website alsoipgesva link to Section 16 filings which are
available on the same day as such filings are made.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. The risks described below are not extiaei®f the risks that might affect
our business. Other risks, including those we aufyedeem immaterial, may also impact our businésy. of the following risks could
materially adversely affect our business operatjoasults of operations and financial condition aralild result in a significant decline in our
stock price. Before deciding to purchase, holdedl aur common stock, you should carefully consttierrisks described in this section. This
section should be read in conjunction with the atidated financial statements and accompanying sititereto, and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition @esults of Operations included in this Annual ReparForm 11-K.
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We expect our operating results to fluctuate on auprterly and annual basis, which could cause our etk price to fluctuate or decline.

Our operating results are difficult to predict andy fluctuate substantially from quarter-to-quadeyear-toyear for a variety of reasor
many of which are beyond our control. If our actiealenue were to fall below our estimates or theeetations of public market analysts or
investors, our quarterly and annual results woelchégatively impacted and the price of our stoakadecline. Other factors that could affect
our quarterly and annual operating results inclimbse listed in the risk factors section of thiga® and others such as:

» changes in the pricing policies of or the introductof new products by us or our competitc
e unanticipated shift or decline in profit by geodgnagal region that would adversely impact our tabey

» slow or negative growth in the networking prodyersonal computer, Internet infrastructure, horeetebnics and related
technology markets, as well as decreased demardtérnet acces:

» operational disruptions, such as transportatioaydebr failure of our order processing system,iqaerly if they occur at the end
a fiscal quarter

» geopolitical disruption leading to delay or eveopgtage of our operations in manufacturing, trartsgion, technical support at
research and developme

» delay or failure of our service provider customerpurchase at the volumes that we forec
» foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations injtimsdictions where we transact sales and expereditin local currency

» changes in or consolidation of our sales chanmalsadolesale distributor relationships or failusertanage our sales chan
inventory and warehousing requiremel

» delay or failure to fulfill orders for our produats a timely basis

» allowance for bad debts exposure with our existinstomers and new customers, particularly as warekmto new internation:
markets;

« disruptions or delays related to our financial anterprise resource planning syste

e our inability to accurately forecast product dene

» component supply constraints from our vend

» unfavorable level of inventory and turr

» unanticipated shift in overall product mix from hay to lower margin products that would adverseipact our margins

« changes in the terms of our contracts with custeroesuppliers that cause us to incur additionpeages or assume additio
liabilities;

» delays in the introduction of new products by usnairket acceptance of these produ

* anincrease in price protection claims, redemptafmaarketing rebates, product warranty and stotktion returns or allowance 1
doubtful accounts

« litigation involving patent infringemen
» epidemic or widespread failure in one or more afoducts;
* unanticipated safety issues involving one or mdreuo products

» challenges associated with integrating acquisittbas we make, or with realizing value from ouagtgic investments in oth
companies

« labor unrest at facilities managed by our t-party manufacturer:
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e unanticipated increase in costs, including airgingi associated with shipping and delivery of owduicts;

» our failure to implement and maintain the appragriaternal controls over financial reporting whitlay result in restatements
our financial statements; al

» any changes in accounting rul

As a result, period-tperiod comparisons of our operating results maybeaneaningful, and you should not rely on theraragdicatior
of our future performance. In addition, our futoggerating results may fall below the expectatioingublic market analysts or investors. In that
event, our stock price could decline significantly.

Our stock price may be volatile and your investmenin our common stock could suffer a decline in vale.

With the continuing uncertainty about economic dtads in the United States and abroad, there bas Bignificant volatility in the
market price and trading volume of securities ohtelogy and other companies, which may be unrlat¢he financial performance of these
companies. These broad market fluctuations maytivedyaaffect the market price of our common stock.

Some specific factors that may have a significéfieiceon our common stock market price include:
» actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults or our competit¢C operating results
» actual or anticipated changes in the growth rath@fyeneral networking sector, our growth ratesusrcompetitor’ growth rates
» conditions in the financial markets in general loamges in general economic conditic
» interest rate or currency exchange rate fluctuati
« our ability or inability to raise additional cagiti
» our ability to report accurate financial resultoimr periodic reports filed with the SEC; a

» changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorssaigy our common stock, other comparable companiesir industry
generally.

Some of our competitors have substantially greateresources than we do, and to be competitive we még required to lower our prices
or increase our sales and marketing expenses, whicbuld result in reduced margins and loss of markeshare.

We compete in a rapidly evolving and fiercely cotitpee market, and we expect competition to congita be intense, including price
competition. Our principal competitors in the conmai@ business market include Allied Telesyn, Bauda, Buffalo, Dell, D-Link, Fortinet,
Inc., Hewlett-Packard, Huawei, Cisco Systems, timkdys division of Cisco Systems, QNAP Systemsg&eaTechnology, SonicWALL,
Synology, WatchGuard and Western Digital. Our ggatcompetitors in the home market for networkilgyices and television connectivity
products include Apple, Belkin, D-Link, the Linksg#sision of Cisco Systems, Samsung, Vizio, Song Roku. Our principal competitors in
the broadband service provider market include Atdo, ARRIS, Comtrend, D-Link, Hitron, Huawei, Motta, Pace, Sagem, Scientific
Atlanta-a Cisco company, SMC Networks, TechniCdltlsee, and ZyXEL. Other current and potential cotitgrss include numerous local
vendors such as Devolo, LEA and AVM in Europe, @arand Melco in Japan and TP-Link in China. Oueptiél competitors also include
consumer electronics vendors, including LG Eledt®nPanasonic and Toshiba, who could integratear&ing capabilities into their line of
products, such as televisions, set top boxes amihgaconsoles, and our channel customers who mageléo offer self-branded networking
products. We also face competition from servicevjglers who may bundle a free networking device whir broadband
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service offering, which would reduce our saleséf are not the supplier of choice to those serviogigers. In the service provider space, we
are also facing increased competition from origaegign manufacturers, or ODM'’s, and contract mactufers who are selling and attempting
to sell their products directly to service provigleround the world.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hloreger operating histories, greater name recagnéind substantially greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and otheoueces. These competitors may, among other thimgiertake more extensive marketing
campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing policie&gin more favorable pricing from suppliers anchofacturers, and exert more influence
sales channels than we can. We anticipate tha¢muand potential competitors will also intenstigir efforts to penetrate our target markets.
For example, price competition has intensifiedumn imdustry in certain geographical regions anddpot categories. Average sales prices have
declined in the past and may again decline in tiheré. These competitors may have more advancaddéigy, more extensive distribution
channels, stronger brand names, greater accelslfspace in retail locations, bigger promotiobiatigets and larger customer bases than we
do. These companies could devote more capital resstio develop, manufacture and market competioduets than we could. If any of the
companies are successful in competing againstwsades could decline, our margins could be neglgtimpacted and we could lose market
share, any of which could seriously harm our bussrend results of operations.

Economic conditions are likely to materially adversly affect our revenue and results of operations.

Our business has been and may continue to be edfbgta number of factors that are beyond our obstrch as general geopolitical,
economic and business conditions, conditions irfittencial services markets, and changes in theath@demand for networking products. A
severe and/or prolonged economic downturn couléi@gly affect our customers’ financial conditiorddhe levels of business activity of our
customers. Uncertainty about current global econaunditions could cause businesses to postpomelsgein response to tighter credit,
negative financial news and/or declines in incomasset values, which could have a material negatifect on the demand for networking
products.

The recent economic problems affecting the bankjjem and financial markets and the recent uriogrtiam global economic
conditions has resulted in a tightening in the itnerkets, a low level of liquidity in many finaiat markets, extreme volatility in credit,
equity, currency and fixed income markets, and higemployment. There could be a number of followeffacts from these economic
developments and negative economic trends on @inéss, including the inability of customers toadbtcredit to finance purchases of our
products; customer insolvencies; decreased custoomdidence to make purchasing decisions; decreasg#dmer demand; and decreased
customer ability to pay their trade obligations.

If conditions in the global economy, U.S. economyther key vertical or geographic markets remaiceutain or weaken further, such
conditions could have a material adverse impaaorbusiness, operating results and financial ¢mrdiln addition, if we are unable to
successfully anticipate changing economic andipalitonditions, we may be unable to effectivelstpfor and respond to those changes,
which could materially adversely affect our bussiaad results of operations.

Our business is subject to the risks of internatioal operations.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue fromternational operations. As a result, our finahcondition and operating results
could be significantly affected by risks associatgith international activities, including econonaind labor conditions, political instability, tax
laws, and changes in the value of the U.S. doBasws local currencies. Margins on sales of oudyets in foreign countries, and on sales of
products that include components obtained fromigorsuppliers, could be materially adversely a#eldby foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations and by international trade regulatiohdditionally, certain foreign countries have cdexregulatory requirements as condition:
doing business. Meeting these requirements magaser our operating expenses as we expand interalio
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We obtain several key components from limited or de sources, and if these sources fail to satisfy supply requirements, we may lose
sales and experience increased component costs.

Any shortage or delay in the supply of key procdtarnponents would harm our ability to meet schedplediuct deliveries. Many of the
semiconductors used in our products are speckicsigned for use in our products and are obtdirmed sole source suppliers on a purchase
order basis. In addition, some components thatised in all our products are obtained from limgedrces. These components include
connector jacks, plastic casings and physical laggisceivers. We also obtain switching fabric semductors, which are used in our Ethernet
switches and Internet gateway products, and wisdtesal area network chipsets, which are used iof @ur wireless products, from a limited
number of suppliers. Semiconductor suppliers hapergenced and continue to experience componemtafes themselves, such as with
substrates used in manufacturing chipsets, whitbrmadversely impact our ability to procure sesniductors from them. Our third-party
manufacturers generally purchase these componeraardbehalf on a purchase order basis, and wetbave any contractual commitments
or guaranteed supply arrangements with our sugplifdemand for a specific component increasesnag not be able to obtain an adequate
number of that component in a timely manner. Initaatd if worldwide demand for the components irases significantly, the availability of
these components could be limited. Further, oupkens may experience financial or other difficetias a result of uncertain and weak
worldwide economic conditions. It could be diffitutostly and time consuming to obtain alternativerces for these components, or to chi
product designs to make use of alternative compsnémnaddition, difficulties in transitioning froemn existing supplier to a new supplier could
create delays in component availability that wcid@e a significant impact on our ability to fulfdrders for our products.

If we are unable to obtain a sufficient supply ofmponents, or if we experience any interruptiothiznsupply of components, our prod
shipments could be reduced or delayed. Componentagjes and delays affect our ability to meet satetiproduct deliveries, damage our
brand and reputation in the market, and cause las¢éomarket share. For example, component sharfaghe fourth quarter of 2009 limited
our ability to supply all the worldwide demand faur products and our revenue was affected.

If we do not effectively manage our sales channelientory and product mix, we may incur costs assoaied with excess inventory, or
lose sales from having too few products.

If we are unable to properly monitor, control andrmage our sales channel inventory and maintaimppropriate level and mix of
products with our wholesale distributors and witbur sales channels, we may incur increased amxpented costs associated with this
inventory. We generally allow wholesale distribstand traditional retailers to return a limited amiof our products in exchange for other
products. Under our price protection policy, if meeluce the list price of a product, we are ofteuired to issue a credit in an amount equal to
the reduction for each of the products held in imwey by our wholesale distributors and retailéreur wholesale distributors and retailers are
unable to sell their inventory in a timely mannee, might lower the price of the products, or thpagies may exchange the products for newer
products. Also, during the transition from an erigtproduct to a new replacement product, we mestirately predict the demand for the
existing and the new product.

We determine production levels based on our fotsesdemand for our products. Actual demand fargraducts depends on many
factors, which makes it difficult to forecast. Wavie experienced differences between our actuabantbrecasted demand in the past and
expect differences to arise in the future. If wgioperly forecast demand for our products we ceuld up with too many products and be
unable to sell the excess inventory in a timely nganif at all, or, alternatively we could end ughatoo few products and not be able to satisfy
demand. This problem is exacerbated because waitte closely match inventory levels with proddetmand leaving limited margin for
error. If these events occur, we could incur insegbexpenses associated with writing off excessivisolete inventory, lose sales, incur
penalties for late delivery or have to ship produmt air freight to meet immediate demand incurimgemental freight costs above the sea
freight costs, a preferred method, and sufferiegraesponding decline in gross margins.
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If we fail to continue to introduce new products that achieve broad market acceptance on a timely basiwe will not be able to compete
effectively and we will be unable to increase or niatain net revenue and gross margins.

We operate in a highly competitive, quickly chamgéenvironment, and our future success depends oability to develop and introduce
new products that achieve broad market accept@aefuture success will depend in large part upanability to identify demand trends in
the commercial business, home user, and broadleamite provider markets and quickly develop, maaotufee and sell products that satisfy
these demands in a cost effective manner. Suctlggsfedicting demand trends is difficult, andstuery difficult to predict the effect
introducing a new product will have on existing guiot sales. We will also need to respond effegtit@inew product announcements by our
competitors by quickly introducing competitive prmts.

We have experienced delays and quality issuedéasimg new products in the past, which resultddwrer quarterly net revenue than
expected. In addition, we have experienced, andimthye future experience, product introductioret lall short of our projected rates of
market adoption. Any future delays in product depetent and introduction or product introductiorst tho not meet broad market acceptance
could result in:

* loss of or delay in revenue and loss of marketest
* negative publicity and damage to our reputation lanashd;
» adecline in the average selling price of our pobsi
» adverse reactions in our sales channels, suctdaseé shelf space, reduced online product vigjbitit loss of sales channel; a
» increased levels of product retur
Throughout 2010, we have significantly increasezrite of our new product introductions. If we catsustain the rapid pace of

innovation, we may not be able to maintain or inseethe market share of our products. In additiave are unable to successfully introduce
new products with higher gross margins, our ne¢émere and overall gross margin would likely decline.

The average selling prices of our products typicajl decrease rapidly over the sales cycle of the pradt, which may negatively affect our
net revenue and gross margins.

Our products typically experience price erosiofgidy rapid reduction in the average unit selljprices over their respective sales cycles.
In order to sell products that have a falling ageranit selling price and maintain margins at time time, we need to continually reduce
product and manufacturing costs. To manage manufagtcosts, we must collaborate with our thirdtpananufacturers to engineer the most
cost-effective design for our products. In additiase must carefully manage the price paid for congmds used in our products. We must also
successfully manage our freight and inventory casteduce overall product costs. We also needmirtually introduce new products with
higher sales prices and gross margins in orderaiotain our overall gross margins. If we are unablmanage the cost of older products or
successfully introduce new products with highersgrmargins, our net revenue and overall gross marguld likely decline.

Changes in tax rates, adverse changes in tax lawsexposure to additional income tax liabilities cold affect our future profitability.
Factors that could materially affect our futureeefive tax rates include but are not limited to:
* Changes in the regulatory environme
» Changes in accounting and tax standards or prat
* Changes in the composition of operating incomealyjurisdiction; anc
» Our operating results before tax
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We are subject to income taxes in the United Statelsnumerous foreign jurisdictions. Our effectise rate has fluctuated in the past
may fluctuate in the future. Future effective tates could be affected by changes in the compogiti@arnings in countries with differing tax
rates, changes in deferred tax assets and liabilitir changes in tax laws. In 2010, the currembifgstration issued its 2011 budget proposals
that included proposed changes in U.S. tax lawrtiegt adversely affect our tax rate if adopted.

We are also subject to examination by the InteRelenue Service (“IRS”) and other tax authoritiesluding state revenue agencies and
foreign governments. While we regularly assesdikieéihood of favorable or unfavorable outcomesutésg from examinations by the IRS a
other tax authorities to determine the adequaauofrovision for income taxes, there can be narasee that the actual outcome resulting
from these examinations will not materially advéysdfect our financial condition and operatingutts. Additionally, the IRS and other tax
authorities have increasingly focused attentiointgrcompany transfer pricing with respect to salegroducts and services and the use of
intangible assets. Tax authorities could disagrigle @ur intercompany charges, cross-jurisdictianahsfer pricing or other matters and assess
additional taxes. Any such disagreements may affecprofitability.

We are subject to numerous governmental regulationsoncerning the manufacturing and use of our produis. We must stay in
compliance with all such regulations and any futureegulations. Any failure to comply with such reguétions, and the unanticipated
costs of complying with future regulations, may adersely affect our business, financial condition andesults of operations.

We manufacture and sell products which containtela@ components, and such components may comtatarials that are subject to
government regulation in both the locations thatmenufacture and assemble our products, as wiiedscations where we sell our products.
An example of a regulated material is the use ad i@ electronic components. To the best of oumkadge, we maintain compliance with all
current government regulations concerning the riedseutilized in our products, for all the locat®im which we operate. Since we operate
global basis, this is a complex process which megutontinual monitoring of regulations and an enga@ompliance process to ensure that we
and our suppliers are in compliance with all erigtiegulations. There are areas where future régotamay be enacted which could increase
our cost of the components that we utilize. Whikedwo not currently know of any proposed regulategarding components in our products
which would have a material impact on our businédgbere is an unanticipated new regulation wrsnificantly impacts our use of various
components or requires more expensive compondtiswbuld have a material adverse impact on ouinbas, financial condition and results
of operations.

Our manufacturing process is also subject to nuosegovernmental regulations, which cover both e af various materials as well as
environmental concerns. To the best of our knowdedge maintain compliance with all current governtrregulations concerning our
production processes, for all locations in whichoperate. Since we operate on a global basisisthiso a complex process which requires
continual monitoring of regulations and an ongaiogpliance process to ensure that we and our supgie in compliance with all existing
regulations. There are areas where future regatiocay be enacted which could increase our casiaofufacture. One area which has a large
number of potential changes in regulations is thérenmental area. Environmental areas such astpwil and climate change have had
significant legislative and regulatory efforts oglabal basis, and there are expected to be addlthanges to the regulations in these areas.
These changes could directly increase the costerigg which may have an impact on the way we mantufe products or utilize energy to
produce our products. In addition, any new regofetior laws in the environmental area might inadhe cost of raw materials we use in our
products. Other regulations in the environmentahanay require us to continue to monitor and engtoper disposal or recycling of our
products. While future changes in regulations appkieely, we are currently unable to predict hawy such changes will impact us and if such
impacts will be material to our business. If thisra new law or regulation that significantly inases our costs of manufacturing or causes us
significantly alter the way that we manufacture products, this would have a material adverse tffeour business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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We rely on a limited number of retailers and wholeale distributors for most of our sales, and if theyefuse to pay our requested prices
or reduce their level of purchases, our net revenueould decline.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tiglovetailers, including Best Buy Co., Inc. andatfliates, and wholesale distributors,
including Ingram Micro, Inc. and Tech Data Corpamat During the fiscal quarter ended December 8102 sales to Best Buy and its affiliates
accounted for approximately 15% of our net revesmet sales to Ingram Micro and its affiliates acdedrfor approximately 11% of our net
revenue. We expect that a significant portion afreet revenue will continue to come from sales sorall number of retailers and wholesale
distributors for the foreseeable future. In additibecause our accounts receivable are concentséted small group of purchasers, the failure
of any of them to pay on a timely basis, or atwtuld reduce our cash flow. We are also exposéacteased credit risk if any one of these
limited numbers of retailers and wholesale distigbsi fails or becomes insolvent. We generally haweninimum purchase commitments or
long-term contracts with any of these retailerslistributors. These purchasers could decide atiamg/to discontinue, decrease or delay their
purchases of our products. These customers haagetyof suppliers to choose from and thereforerake substantial demands on us,
including demands on product pricing and on cotti@derms, which often results in the allocatidmisk to us as the supplier. Accordingly,
the prices that they pay for our products are suthgenegotiation and could change at any time. &ility to maintain strong relationships w
our principal customers is essential to our fupegormance. If any of our major retailers or wisale distributors reduce their level of
purchases or refuse to pay the prices that weoselur products, our net revenue and operatindtsesould be harmed. If our retailers or
wholesale distributors increase the size of theadpct orders without sufficient lead-time for esprocess the order, our ability to fulfill
product demands would be compromised.

Additionally, if there is consolidation among owstomer base, certain customers may be able to eochincreased leverage in
negotiating prices and other terms of sale, whakict adversely affect our profitability. In additioif, as a result of increased leverage,
customer pressures require us to reduce our prizing that our gross margins are diminished, wédadecide not to sell our products to a
particular customer, which could result in a desecia our revenue. Consolidation among our custdrage may also lead to reduced demand
for our products, replacement of our products whihse of our competitors and cancellations of ardeach of which would harm our operat
results.

We depend on large, recurring purchases from certai significant customers, and a loss, cancellatiorr delay in purchases by these
customers could negatively affect our revenue.

The loss of recurring orders from any of our magaigicant customers could cause our revenue aafitability to suffer. Our ability to
attract new customers will depend on a varietyaotdrs, including the cost-effectiveness, religilscalability, breadth and depth of our
products. In addition, a change in the mix of austomers, or a change in the mix of direct andr@udisales, could adversely affect our reve
and gross margins.

Although our financial performance may depend egdarecurring orders from certain customers asdlkers, we do not generally have
binding commitments from them. For example:

» our reseller agreements generally do not requipstaatial minimum purchase
* our customers can stop purchasing and our reseb@rstop marketing our products at any time;

» our reseller agreements generally are not exclugideare for one-year terms, with no obligatiothef resellers to renew the
agreements

Further, our revenue may be impacted by significer@-time purchases which are not contemplatee tejpeatable. While such
purchases are reflected in our financial statemergsdo not rely on and do not forecast for corgthsignificant one-time purchases. As a
result, lack of repeatable one-time purchasesaaliersely affect our revenue.
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Because our expenses are based on our revenuadtseg substantial reduction or delay in salesioproducts to, or unexpected returns
from, customers and resellers, or the loss of &mnjificant customer or reseller, could harm or offise disrupt our business. Although our
largest customers may vary from period to periogl anticipate that our operating results for anyegiperiod will continue to depend on large
orders from a small number of customers.

We are currently involved in numerous litigation maters and may in the future become involved in addional litigation, including
litigation regarding intellectual property rights, which could be costly and subject us to significartability.

The networking industry is characterized by thesetice of a large number of patents and frequaihsland related litigation regarding
infringement of patents, trade secrets and ottteliéctual property rights. In particular, leadicgmpanies in the data communications matrl
some of which are competitors, have extensive patemfolios with respect to networking technologyom time to time, third parties,
including these leading companies, have assertgdnay continue to assert exclusive patent, copyriggdemark and other intellectual
property rights against us demanding license caltpypayments or seeking payment for damages, atigmrelief and other available legal
remedies through litigation. These also includedtparty non-practicing entities who claim to owattgnts or other intellectual property that
cover industry standards that our products comyitly.Wf we are unable to resolve these mattershbaia licenses on acceptable or
commercially reasonable terms, we could be suedeamay be forced to initiate litigation to protectr rights. The cost of any necessary
licenses could significantly harm our businessrafieg results and financial condition. Also, aydime, any of these companies, or any other
third-party could initiate litigation against ug,we may be forced to initiate litigation agains¢m, which could divert management attention,
be costly to defend or prosecute, prevent us freimguor selling the challenged technology, requseo design around the challenged
technology and cause the price of our stock toigiecln addition, third parties, some of whom aoéeptial competitors, have initiated and may
continue to initiate litigation against our manutaers, suppliers, members of our sales channealsioservice provider customers, alleging
infringement of their proprietary rights with regpéo existing or future products. In the eventcassful claims of infringement are brought by
third parties, and we are unable to obtain licemsesdependently develop alternative technologydimely basis, we may be subject to
indemnification obligations, be unable to offer quetitive products, or be subject to increased es@erFinally, consumer claastion lawsuit:
related to the marketing and performance of ourédnaetworking products have been asserted and ntag ifluture be asserted against us. For
additional information regarding certain of the faits in which we are involved, see the informasenforth under Note 9 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Part Il Iteaf this report, which information is incorporatiedo this Item 1A by reference. If we do not
resolve these claims on a favorable basis, ounbasj operating results and financial conditioriccbe significantly harmed.

We depend substantially on our sales channels, awdr failure to maintain and expand our sales chanrle would result in lower sales
and reduced net revenue.

To maintain and grow our market share, net revamaebrand, we must maintain and expand our samels. We sell our products
through our sales channels, which consists ofttoaxdil retailers, online retailers, DMRs, VARs, amdadband service providers. Some of
these entities purchase our products through ooteshle distributors. We generally have no mininpurchase commitments or long-term
contracts with any of these third parties.

Traditional retailers have limited shelf space praimotional budgets, and competition is intensedtiese resources. If the networking
sector does not experience sufficient growth, l&tsimay choose to allocate more shelf space t&r attnsumer product sectors. A competitor
with more extensive product lines and stronger didentity, such as Cisco Systems, may have greatgaining power with these retailers.
Any reduction in available shelf space or increasampetition for such shelf space would requiréousicrease our marketing expenditures
simply to maintain current levels of retail shgdfise, which would harm our operating margin. Tleenétrend in the consolidation of online
retailers and DMR channels has resulted in interdsdompetition for
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preferred product placement, such as product planeon an online retailer’s Internet home page.daxing our presence in the VAR channel
may be difficult and expensive. We compete witlaleshed companies that have longer operatingrigstand longstanding relationships w
VARs that we would find highly desirable as salkarmnel partners. We also sell products to broadbandce providers. Competition for
selling to broadband service providers is inteR&netrating service provider accounts typicallylmgs a long sales cycle and the challenge of
displacing incumbent suppliers with establishedtrehships and field-deployed products. If we wanable to maintain and expand our sales
channels, our growth would be limited and our bestnwould be harmed.

We must also continuously monitor and evaluate gingrsales channels. If we fail to establish agmes in an important developing
sales channel, our business could be harmed.

We depend on a limited number of third-party manufeacturers for substantially all of our manufacturing needs. If these third-party
manufacturers experience any delay, disruption or gality control problems in their operations, we cold lose market share and our
brand may suffer.

All of our products are manufactured, assemblexddetband generally packaged by a limited numberigfnal design manufacturers
(“ODMs") and original equipment manufacturers (“OEM We rely on our manufacturers to procure congm® and, in some cases,
subcontract engineering work. Some of our prodartamanufactured by a single manufacturer. We ddaee any long-term contracts with
any of our third-party manufacturers. Some of thtege-party manufacturers produce products foraampetitors. Due to weak economic
conditions, the viability of some of these third4gamanufacturers may be at risk. The loss of #reises of any of our primary third-party
manufacturers could cause a significant disruptiomperations and delays in product shipments. sy a new manufacturer and
commencing volume production is expensive and toressuming. As we contemplate moving manufactuninig different jurisdictions, we
will be subject to additional significant challesga ensuring that quality, processes and costengrother issues, are consistent with our
expectations.

Our reliance on third-party manufacturers also eggaus to the following risks over which we haweitiéd control:
* unexpected increases in manufacturing and repatsj
» inability to control the quality of finished prodis¢
» inability to control delivery schedule
» potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacalirer a part of the products we require;
» potential labor unrest affecting the ability of tiérd-party manufacturers to produce our produ

All of our products must satisfy safety and regutgtstandards and some of our products must atsive government certifications. Our
ODMs and OEMs are primarily responsible for obtagnimost regulatory approvals for our productsulf @DMs and OEMs fail to obtain
timely domestic or foreign regulatory approvalsertificates, we would be unable to sell our pradand our sales and profitability could be
reduced, our relationships with our sales chanoeldcbe harmed, and our reputation and brand wsuwfigr.

Specifically, substantially all of our manufactugioccurs in mainland China and any disruptions frtural disasters, health epidemics
and political, social and economic instability woalffect the ability of our ODMs to manufacture @uoducts. In addition, our ODM’s in
China have continued to increase our costs of mtiahy particularly in the recent year. These iases costs have affected our margins and
ability to lower prices for our products to staymquetitive. Recent labor unrest in China may al$ecafour ODMs as workers may strike and
cause production delays. If our manufacturers aetwausing facilities are disrupted or destroyedweeld have no other readily available
alternatives for manufacturing our products andlmsiness would be significantly harmed. Furtifiedhé ODMs and OEMs fail to maintain
good relations with their employees or contractarg] production and manufacturing of our produs&fiected, then we may be subject to
shortages of products and quality of products eéedid may be affected.
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We have had to restate our historical financial stements.

In July 2009, we announced that we had incorreefprted our income tax provision for the three therended March 29, 2009 and,
result of this error, we restated the financiatesteents in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q far tiwree months ended March 29, 2009. The
restatement, which related solely to the correotibthe income tax provision for the three monthdexl March 29, 2009, resulted in
adjustments related to income taxes in our findrstédements. In our previously filed financialtstaents for the three months ended Marcl
2009, we incorrectly included a particular foregtity in calculating our estimated annualizedgeovision. This foreign entity should not
have been included in the calculation becausertieipated losses in that entity would not giverie tax benefits. While our overall annual
provision was not affected for the entire year,magle an error in inter-quarter allocations of teefrovision. Material changes to our
previously reported financial information occuri@Esla result of this error.

In connection with this restatement we identifiedtain control deficiencies relating to the apgima of applicable accounting literature
related to recordation of tax expenses. Theseidafites constituted a material weakness in intezoatrol over financial reporting as of
March 29, 2009, which led to items requiring coti@tin our financial statements and our conclug@restate such financial statements to
correct those items. Specifically, the control dieficies related to our failure to correctly apihlg authoritative guidance for income taxes in
determining the proper allocation of our annualizdprovision.

Although this material weakness had been remediatddecember 31, 2009, we cannot be certain tlatthasures we have taken since
this restatement will ensure that restatementsnailloccur in the future. Execution of restatemdhésthe one described above create a
significant strain on our internal resources anaddcause delays in our filing of quarterly or aahfinancial results, increase our costs and
cause management distraction. Restatements magigtgficantly affect our stock price in an advensanner.

We are required to evaluate our internal controls mder Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@2d any adverse results
from such evaluation could impact investor confidene in the reliability of our internal controls over financial reporting.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, we are required to furnish a report by management on our internal control
over financial reporting. Such report must contimong other matters, an assessment of the effaetgeof our internal control over financial
reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, inchgda statement as to whether or not our internatrobover financial reporting is effective. This
assessment must include disclosure of any mateeiaknesses in our internal control over finan@alorting identified by management.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2009, in cotioaowith the restatement of our previously isstiadncial statements for the period
ended March 29, 2009, and our assessment of czloslise controls and procedures, management cattlindt as of March 29, 2009, our
disclosure controls and procedures were not effectnd that we had a material weakness in inteoatol over financial reporting. The
material weakness related to the accounting farrimetaxes. Specifically, we did not maintain aisight complement of tax personnel with
the required proficiency to identify, evaluate,ieav, and report complex tax accounting matterartter to remediate the material weakness,
we hired additional personnel in the tax departmeétit sufficient knowledge and experience in taxsti@ngthen the controls around the tax
provision. We also engaged tax specialists to agsig the preparation and review of the inconxepravision. As a result of these actions,
management has concluded that we have remediaeadaterial weakness related to income taxes agoémber 31, 2009.

We will continue to perform the system and proaissumentation and evaluation needed to comply 8&ttion 404, which is both
costly and challenging. During this process, if management identifies one or more material weaaseis our internal control over financial
reporting, we will be unable to assert such intecoatrol is effective. If we are unable to asgdkst our internal control over financial reporting
is effective as of
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the end of a fiscal year or if our independentseged public accounting firm is unable to expraas®pinion on the effectiveness of our inte
control over financial reporting, we could loseastor confidence in the accuracy and completerfassrdinancial reports, which may have
adverse effect on our stock price.

If our products contain defects or errors, we couldncur significant unexpected expenses, experienpeoduct returns and lost sales,
experience product recalls, suffer damage to our land and reputation, and be subject to product liadity or other claims.

Our products are complex and may contain defeotsrseor failures, particularly when first introdect or when new versions are relea:
The industry standards upon which many of our pctalare based are also complex, experience chargdime and may be interpreted in
different manners. Some errors and defects maydoevkred only after a product has been installetused by the end-user. For example, in
January 2008, we announced a voluntary recalleXif103 Powerline Ethernet Adapter made for Eulpe other countries using 220-240
volt power sources and sold individually or in axtiled kit. In addition, certain of our contractslirde epidemic failure clauses. If invoked,
these clauses may entitle the customer to returrefdacement or obtain credits for products angmory, as well as terminate an existing
contract and cancel future purchase orders. In Bisthnces, we may also be obligated to coverfigit costs incurred by the customer
associated with the consequences of such epidaihicd, including freight and transportation reedifor product replacement. Costs or
payments we make in connection with an epidemlaraimay materially adversely affect our result®pérations and financial condition. If
our products contain defects or errors, or are ddorbe noncompliant with industry standards, weld¢@xperience decreased sales and
increased product returns, loss of customers amilahshare, and increased service, warranty anodnse costs. In addition, our reputation
and brand could be damaged, and we could face ¢égjais regarding our products. A product liabilityother claim could result in negative
publicity and harm our reputation, resulting in xipected expenses and adversely impact our openatsudfs. For instance, if a third party
were able to successfully overcome the securitysames in our products, such a person or entitydcoisappropriate customer data, third p
data stored by our customers and other informatimhiding intellectual property. In addition, tbperations of our end-user customers may be
interrupted. If that happens, affected end-usertluers may file actions against us alleging prodability, tort, or breach of warranty claims.

We are exposed to adverse currency exchange ratedtuations in jurisdictions where we transact in l@al currency, which could harm
our financial results and cash flows.

Because a significant portion of our business iglocted outside the United States, we face expdswadverse movements in foreign
currency exchange rates. These exposures may chaagéme as business practices evolve, and tbelddhave a material adverse impact on
our results of operations, financial position aadtcflows. Although a portion of our internatiosales are currently invoiced in United States
dollars, we have implemented and continue to implanfor certain countries and customers both irmgiand payment in foreign currencies.
Our primary exposure to movements in foreign cwryeexchange rates relates to non-U.S. dollar demat@d sales in Europe, Japan and
Australia as well as our global operations, and-bd®. dollar denominated operating expenses aridinassets and liabilities. In addition,
weaknesses in foreign currencies for U.S. dollaod@nated sales could adversely affect demanddopmducts. Conversely, a strengthening
in foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar cantidtease foreign currency denominated costs. iksalt we may attempt to renegotiate
pricing of existing contracts or request paymertiganade in U.S. dollars. We cannot be sure thatustomers would agree to renegotiate
along these lines. This could result in customeentially terminating contracts with us or in ogci$ion to terminate certain contracts, which
would adversely affect our sales.

We implemented a hedging program in November 260&tige exposures to fluctuations in foreign cuayesxchange rates as a
response to the risks of changes in the valuerefdn currency denominated assets and liabilitiés.may enter into foreign currency forward
contracts or other instruments, the majority ofahhinature within approximately five months. Oureiign currency forward contracts reduce,
but do not eliminate,
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the impact of currency exchange rate movementsekample, we do not execute forward contractslioualencies in which we conduct
business. In addition, in the second fiscal quart&009, we commenced implementation of a hedgiegram to reduce the impact of volatile
exchange rates on net revenues, gross profit agchtipg profit for limited periods of time. Howeyéhe use of such hedging activities may
offset more than a portion of the adverse finangitdct resulting from unfavorable movements irefgn exchange rates.

If disruptions in our transportation network occur or our shipping costs substantially increase, we nyabe unable to sell or timely
deliver our products and our operating expenses cddi increase.

We are highly dependent upon the transportatiotesyswe use to ship our products, including suréaaair freight. Our attempts to
closely match our inventory levels to our produeinénd intensify the need for our transportationtesys to function effectively and without
delay. On a quarterly basis, our shipping volunse &nds to steadily increase as the quarter gegsewhich means that any disruption in our
transportation network in the latter half of a geawill likely have a more material effect on dursiness than at the beginning of a quarter.

The transportation network is subject to disruptiortongestion from a variety of causes, includatwpr disputes or port strikes, acts of
war or terrorism, natural disasters and congesgsulting from higher shipping volumes. Labor digguamong freight carriers and at ports of
entry are common, particularly in Europe, and weeex labor unrest and its effects on shipping eadpcts to be a continuing challenge for
Since September 11, 2001, the rate of inspectiantefational freight by governmental entities babstantially increased, and has become
increasingly unpredictable. If our delivery timesiiease unexpectedly for these or any other reasansbility to deliver products on time
would be materially adversely affected and resuttélayed or lost revenue as well as customer iegbpenalties. In addition, if increases in
fuel prices occur, our transportation costs woilldly increase. Moreover, the cost of shipping praducts by air freight is greater than other
methods. From time to time in the past, includimghie fourth quarter of 2009, we have shipped prtelusing extensive air freight to meet
unexpected spikes in demand, shifts in demand legtweoduct categories and to bring new producbéhictions to market quickly. If we rely
more heavily upon air freight to deliver our prothyour overall shipping costs will increase. Alprmed transportation disruption or a
significant increase in the cost of freight coutderely disrupt our business and harm our operagsglts.

We are exposed to the credit risk of some of our stomers and to credit exposures in weakened market&hich could result in material
losses.

A substantial portion of our sales are on an opeditbasis, with typical payment terms of 30 todg@s in the United States and, bec:
of local customs or conditions, longer in some regsloutside the United States. We monitor individuatomer financial viability in granting
such open credit arrangements, seek to limit speim @redit to amounts we believe the customergpagnand maintain reserves we believe
adequate to cover exposure for doubtful accounts.

In the past, there have been bankruptcies amongsustomer base. Although any resulting loss loadeen material to date, future
losses, if incurred, could harm our business anve lamaterial adverse effect on our operating tesuld financial condition. To the degree
the recent turmoil in the credit markets makesaterdifficult for some customers to obtain finargiour customers’ ability to pay could be
adversely impacted, which in turn could have a nitadverse impact on our business, operatindteesand financial condition.

If we fail to successfully overcome the challengessociated with profitably growing our broadband sevice provider sales channel, our
net revenue and gross profit will be negatively imacted.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tigtobroadband service providers worldwide. We faneraber of challenges associated
with penetrating, marketing and selling to the loflzend service provider channel that differ from twlhie have traditionally faced with the
other channels. Difficulties and challenges in
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selling to service providers include a longer salgde, more stringent product testing and valmatiequirements, a higher level of
customization demands, requirements that supphéeson a larger share of the risk with respecbittractual business terms, competition
from established suppliers, and pricing pressusaltiag in lower gross margins. For example, asdy@oyment of DOCSIS 3.0 technology by
broadband service providers increases worldwidendu011, we anticipate competing in an extremeigepsensitive market and our margins
may be affected. Orders from service providers g@lyetend to be large but sporadic, which causesevenues from them to fluctuate and
challenges our ability to accurately forecast desnfaom them. In certain cases, we may commit tediprice long term purchase orders, with
such orders priced in foreign currencies which ddose value over time in the event of adverse gbain foreign exchange rates. Even if we
are selected as a supplier, typically a servicgiger will also designate a second source supplibich over time will reduce the aggregate
orders that we receive from that service provitfexe were to lose a service provider customerafoy reason, we may experience a material
and immediate reduction in forecasted revenuertizat cause us to be below our net revenue and apgraargin expectations for a particular
period of time and therefore adversely affect dacls price. In addition, service providers may cé®to prioritize the implementation of other
technologies or the roll out of other services thame networking. Weakness in orders from this $tigucould have a material adverse effect
on our business, operating results, and financiatlition. We have seen slowdowns in capital exgene by certain of our service provider
customers in the past, and believe there may npal for similar slowdowns in the future. Any sidown in the general economy, over
capacity, consolidation among service providergulaory developments and constraint on capitakegjiures could result in reduced demand
from service providers and therefore adverselycaffer sales to them. If we do not successfullyroome these challenges, we will not be able
to profitably grow our service provider sales chelrand our growth will be slowed.

As part of growing our business, we have made andjgect to continue to make acquisitions. If we failo successfully select, execute or
integrate our acquisitions, then our business andpgrating results could be harmed and our stock prie could decline.

From time to time, we will undertake acquisitionsadd new product lines and technologies, gain sedes channels or enter into new
sales territories. Acquisitions involve numerowsksi and challenges, including but not limited t® fibllowing:

» integrating the companies, assets, systems, pmdales channels and personnel that we act

e growing or maintaining revenues to justify the gwase price and the increased expenses associdkedoguisitions

» entering into territories or markets that we haxétéd or no prior experience wit

» establishing or maintaining business relationshils customers, vendors and suppliers who may betoais;

» overcoming the employee, customer, vendor and grgpknover that may occur as a result of the &ition; and

» diverting manageme’s attention from running the day to day operatiofhsur business

As part of undertaking an acquisition, we may algmificantly revise our capital structure or ogimaal budget, such as issuing common

stock that would dilute the ownership percentageufstockholders, assuming liabilities or debitjaimg a substantial portion of our cash
resources to pay for the acquisition or signifibairicreasing operating expenses. Our acquisitiae resulted and may in the future result in

charges being taken in an individual quarter as agefuture periods, which results in variabilitydur quarterly earnings. In addition, our
effective tax rate in any particular quarter magodbe impacted by acquisitions.

As part of the terms of acquisition, we may commipay additional contingent consideration if cert@venue or other performance
milestones are met. We are required to evaluatéathgalue of such commitments at each reportiate dind adjust the amount recorded if
there are changes to the fair value.
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We cannot assure you that we will be successfsélecting, executing and integrating acquisiti¢talure to manage and successfully
integrate acquisitions could materially harm ousihass and operating results. In addition, if stoekket analysts or our stockholders do not
support or believe in the value of the acquisititivet we choose to undertake, our stock price neairte.

We invest in companies for strategic reasons and manot realize a return on our investments.

We have made, and continue to seek to make investrirecompanies around the world to further otatsgic objectives and support
key business initiatives. These investments malydecequity or debt instruments of public or prevabmpanies, and may be nmarketable ¢
the time of our initial investment. We do not redtthe types of companies in which we seek to shv€hese companies may range from early-
stage companies that are often still defining te&&tegic direction to more mature companies edtablished revenue streams and business
models. If any company in which we invest fails, eaaild lose all or part of our investment in thatpany. If we determine that an other-than-
temporary decline in the fair value exists for gnity or debt investment in a public or private gamy in which we have invested, we will
have to write down the investment to its fair vadun recognize the related write-down as an investioss. The performance of any of these
investments could result in significant impairmeharges and gains (losses) on other equity inveggn®/e must also analyze accounting and
legal issues when making these investments. Ifavead structure these investments properly, we b@agubject to certain adverse accounting
issues, such as potential consolidation of findmeisults.

Furthermore, if the strategic objectives of an Bimgent have been achieved, or if the investmehtisiness diverges from our strategic
objectives, we may seek to dispose of the investn@ur non-marketable equity investments in privampanies are not liquid, and we may
not be able to dispose of these investments orrdhl®terms or at all. The occurrence of any of¢hevents could harm our results. Gains or
losses from equity securities could vary from exgeans depending on gains or losses realized ®@sdle or exchange of securities and
impairment charges related to debt instrumentsedlsas equity and other investments.

If we lose the services of our Chairman and Chief ¥ecutive Officer, Patrick C.S. Lo, or our other keypersonnel, we may not be able to
execute our business strategy effectively.

Our future success depends in large part upondahtncied services of our key technical, sales, etarl, finance and senior managen
personnel. In particular, the services of PatricR.C o, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officehosas led our company since its incept
are very important to our business. We do not raairdny key person life insurance policies. The lofsany of our senior management or @
key research, development, sales or marketing peesoparticularly if lost to competitors, couldriraour ability to implement our business
strategy and respond to the rapidly changing neétlee commercial business, home user, and broadenmvice provider markets. While we
have adopted an emergency succession plan fohtreterm, we have not formally adopted a long teumcession plan. As a result, if we
suffer the loss of services of any key executive,long term business results may be harmed. Iitiaddbecause we do not have a formal |
term succession plan, we may not be able to havprbper personnel in place to effectively exeoutelong term business strategy if Patrick
Lo or other key personnel retire, resign or areentlise terminated.

If our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets beome impaired we may be required to record a sigrifant charge to earnings.

Under generally accepted accounting principlesreveew our amortizable intangible assets for impaint when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may eatdgoverable. Goodwill is required to be testedrfgpairment at least annually. Factors 1
may be considered when determining if the carryialye of our goodwill or amortizable intangible @tssmay not be recoverable include a
significant decline in our expected future cashvBor a sustained, significant decline in our stpgke and market capitalization.
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As a result of our acquisitions, we have signiftogmodwill and amortizable intangible assets reedrdn our balance sheet. In addition,
significant negative industry or economic trendsshsas those that have occurred in the last caafplears, including reduced estimates of
future cash flows or disruptions to our businesddindicate that goodwill or amortizable intangilassets might be impaired. If, in any period
our stock price decreases to the point where oukehaapitalization is less than our book valués tho could indicate a potential impairment
and we may be required to record an impairmentgehar that period. Our valuation methodology fasessing impairment requires
management to make judgments and assumptions bagmedjections of future operating performance. &gerate in highly competitive
environments and projections of future operatirgyts and cash flows may vary significantly frontued results. As a result, we may incur
substantial impairment charges to earnings in imantial statements should an impairment of oudgolb or amortizable intangible assets be
determined resulting in an adverse impact on aultg of operations.

If we are unable to provide our third-party manufacturers a timely and accurate forecast of our compoant and material requirements,
we may experience delays in the manufacturing of eproducts and the costs of our products may increse.

We provide our third-party manufacturers with dingl forecast of demand, which they use to deteenoiar material and component
requirements. Lead times for ordering materials@rponents vary significantly and depend on variaators, such as the specific supplier,
contract terms and demand and supply for a comp@tengiven time. Some of our components have lead times, such as wireless local
area network chipsets, switching fabric chips, taldayer transceivers, connector jacks and neetdlplastic enclosures. If our forecasts are
not timely provided or are less than our actualirements, our third-party manufacturers may beéblento manufacture products in a timely
manner. If our forecasts are too high, our thgedtty manufacturers will be unable to use the camepts they have purchased on our behalf.
cost of the components used in our products temdsop rapidly as volumes increase and the teclgiedanature. Therefore, if our third-party
manufacturers are unable to promptly use compomemthased on our behalf, our cost of producinglpcts may be higher than our
competitors due to an oversupply of higher-priceghponents. Moreover, if they are unable to use @omapts ordered at our direction, we will
need to reimburse them for any losses they incur.

We rely upon third parties for technology that is citical to our products, and if we are unable to catinue to use this technology and
future technology, our ability to develop, sell, mantain and support technologically innovative prodicts would be limited.

We rely on third parties to obtain non-exclusivéepéed hardware and software license rights inneldyies that are incorporated into
and necessary for the operation and functionafitpast of our products. In these cases, becausatiitectual property we license is available
from third parties, barriers to entry may be lowean if we owned exclusive rights to the technolaegylicense and use. On the other hand, if a
competitor or potential competitor enters into &olesive arrangement with any of our key third-paechnology providers, or if any of these
providers unilaterally decide not to do businesthws for any reason, our ability to develop arldmeducts containing that technology would
be severely limited. If we are shipping productsalittontain third-party technology that we subsetlydose the right to license, then we will
not be able to continue to offer or support thaselpcts. Our licenses often require royalty paymentother consideration to third parties. Our
success will depend in part on our continued ahiitithave access to these technologies, and wetdmow whether these third-party
technologies will continue to be licensed to usommercially acceptable terms or at all. If we @mable to license the necessary technology,
we may be forced to acquire or develop alternatiebnology of lower quality or performance standaiithis would limit and delay our ability
to offer new or competitive products and increaseamsts of production. As a result, our marginarkat share, and operating results could be
significantly harmed.

We also utilize third-party software developmeninganies to develop, customize, maintain and supgadttvare that is incorporated into
our products. If these companies fail to timelyivier or continuously maintain and support the safewthat we require of them, we may
experience delays in releasing new products or
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difficulties with supporting existing products aadstomers. In addition, if these third-party licerssfail, then we may be unable to continue to
sell products that incorporate the licensed teagiek and we may be unable to continue to maimtathsupport these products. We are
increasingly exposed to these risks as we contmgevelop and market more products with thirdyadftware, such as our TV connectivity
and network attached storage products.

If the redemption rate for our end-user promotional programs is higher than we estima, then our net revenue and gross margin will k
negatively affected.

From time to time we offer promotional incentives;luding cash rebates, to encourage end-usensrah@se certain of our products.
Purchasers must follow specific and stringent dinds to redeem these incentives or rebates. @ftalified purchasers choose not to appl
the incentives or fail to follow the required redaion guidelines, resulting in an incentive redeioprate of less than 100%. Based on
historical data, we estimate an incentive redemptide for our promotional programs. If the actealemption rate is higher than our estimated
rate, then our net revenue and gross margin witldgatively affected.

If we are unable to secure and protect our intelleaal property rights, our ability to compete could be harmed.

We rely upon third parties for a substantial portad the intellectual property we use in our praduét the same time, we rely on a
combination of copyright, trademark, patent anddraecret laws, nondisclosure agreements with erae#n consultants and suppliers and
other contractual provisions to establish, maingaid protect our intellectual property rights. Despfforts to protect our intellectual property,
unauthorized third parties may attempt to desigmiag, copy aspects of our product design or olatathuse technology or other intellectual
property associated with our products. For exangsie, of our primary intellectual property assetthesNETGEAR name, trademark and logo.
We may be unable to stop third parties from adgpsimilar names, trademarks and logos, particularthose international markets where our
intellectual property rights may be less protectadthermore, our competitors may independentlyetigvsimilar technology or design around
our intellectual property. Our inability to secuned protect our intellectual property rights cosilghificantly harm our brand and business,
operating results and financial condition.

Our sales and operations in international markets xpose us to operational, financial and regulatory isks.

International sales comprise a significant amodimtup overall net revenue. International sales wi8% of overall net revenue in fiscal
2010 and 48% of overall net revenue for the threaths ended December 31, 2010. We continue to ftmenitbed to growing our international
sales. We have committed resources to expandingntarnational operations and sales channels asktbfforts may not be successful.
International operations are subject to a numbethudr risks, including:

» political and economic instability, internationattorism and ar-American sentiment, particularly in emerging mask
» preference for locally branded products, and laméslzusiness practices favoring local competit

» exchange rate fluctuatior

» increased difficulty in managing inventol

» delayed revenue recognitic

» less effective protection of intellectual propel

» stringent consumer protection and product compéaegulations, including but not limited to the Riesion of Hazardou:
Substances directive, the Waste Electrical andtileic Equipment directive and the recently ena&eddesign directive (EuP) in
Europe, that may vary from country to country amat tare costly to comply witl
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» difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefign operations; an
» changes in local tax law

We are required to comply with local environmemgaglislation and our customers rely on this compiéim order to sell our products. If
our customers do not agree with our interpretatardrequirements of new legislation, such as tiefiean Ecodesign directive (EuP), they
may cease to order our products and our revenuéhbeuharmed.

We intend to expand our operations and infrastructue, which may strain our operations and increase auoperating expenses.

We intend to expand our operations and pursue rhagmortunities domestically and internationallygtow our sales. We expect that
this attempted expansion will require enhancemientsir existing management information systems,aetational and financial controls. In
addition, if we continue to grow, our expendituvéh likely be significantly higher than our histioal costs. We may not be able to install
adequate controls in an efficient and timely maraseour business grows, and our current systemaotaye adequate to support our future
operations. The difficulties associated with ingtgland implementing new systems, procedures anttals may place a significant burden on
our management, operational and financial resouhoegddition, if we grow internationally, we whiave to expand and enhance our
communications infrastructure. If we fail to contnto improve our management information system;quiures and financial controls or
encounter unexpected difficulties during expansaar,business could be harmed.

For example, we have invested, and will continumtest, significant capital and human resourcebéndesign and enhancement of our
financial and enterprise resource planning systerhish may be disruptive to our underlying businé¥e depend on these systems in order to
timely and accurately process and report key coraptznof our results of operations, financial positand cash flows. If the systems fail to
operate appropriately or we experience any dissaptor delays in enhancing their functionality teehcurrent business requirements, our
ability to fulfill customer orders, bill and traaddur customers, fulfill contractual obligations, acately report our financials and otherwise run
our business could be adversely affected. Everiflavnot encounter these adverse effects, the eatmEmt of systems may be much more
costly than we anticipated. If we are unable totiomre to enhance our information technology systamplanned, our financial position, res
of operations and cash flows could be negativelyaated.

Governmental regulations of imports or exports affeting Internet security could affect our net revene.

Any additional governmental regulation of importseaports or failure to obtain required export ayMai of our encryption technologies
could adversely affect our international and doloestles. The United States and various foreigregowents have imposed controls, export
license requirements, and restrictions on the imngoexport of some technologies, particularly gption technology. In addition, from time to
time, governmental agencies have proposed additiegalation of encryption technology, such as igng the escrow and governmental
recovery of private encryption keys. In responstetoorist activity, governments could enact adaisil regulation or restriction on the use,
import, or export of encryption technology. Thislabnal regulation of encryption technology coudlelay or prevent the acceptance and use of
encryption products and public networks for semammmunications, resulting in decreased demanduppmducts and services. In addition,
some foreign competitors are subject to less srihgontrols on exporting their encryption techigigs. As a result, they may be able to
compete more effectively than we can in the UnBé&ates and the international Internet security etark

We are exposed to credit risk and fluctuations inhhe market values of our investment portfolio.

Although we have not recognized any material losgesur cash equivalents and short-term investmérttge declines in their market
values could have a material adverse effect orfieancial condition and operating results. Givea tfiobal nature of our business, we have
investments with both domestic and
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international financial institutions. If these fim@al institutions default on their obligationstbeir credit ratings are negatively impacted by
liquidity issues, credit deterioration or lossesancial results, or other factors, the value af @ash equivalents and short-term investments
could decline and result in a material impairmeurtich could have a material adverse effect on maricial condition and operating results.

Economic conditions, political events, war, terrorsm, public health issues, natural disasters and o¢h circumstances could materially
adversely affect us.

Our corporate headquarters are located in NortGatifornia and one of our warehouses is locate8idathern California, regions known
for seismic activity. Significantly all of our cidéial enterprise-wide information technology systemsluding our main servers, are currently
housed in colocation facilities near our headqusiite Northern California. While we have moved otitical information technology systems
in 2010 to colocation facilities in a different ggaphic region in the United States, our headqtseted warehouses remain susceptible to
seismic activity so long as they are located irif@adia. In addition, substantially all of our mefaaturing occurs in two geographically
concentrated areas in mainland China, where disngpfrom natural disasters, health epidemics atitigal, social and economic instability
may affect the region. If our manufacturers or \maresing facilities are disrupted or destroyed, veeid be unable to distribute our product:
a timely basis, which could harm our business.

Moreover, if our computer information systems omoounication systems, or those of our vendors dioousrs, are subject to disruptive
hacker attacks or other disruptions, our businestdcsuffer. We have not established a formal desagcovery plan. Our back-up operations
may be inadequate and our business interruptiamanse may not be enough to compensate us foroasgd that may occur. A significant
business interruption could result in losses orafges and harm our business. For example, muchrafrder fulfillment process is automated
and the order information is stored on our seréxsur computer systems and servers go down ewmea $hort period at the end of a fiscal
quarter, our ability to recognize revenue woulddbtayed until we were again able to process armla@lni orders, which could cause our stock
price to decline significantly.

We depend significantly on worldwide economic caiedis and their impact on levels of consumer spggdivhich have recently
deteriorated significantly in many countries angioes, including without limitation the United S¢at and may remain depressed for the
foreseeable future. Factors that could influenedélels of consumer spending include increaséselnand other energy costs, conditions in
the residential real estate and mortgage marlaisy land healthcare costs, access to credit, carstonfidence and other macroeconomic
factors affecting consumer spending behavior.

In addition, war, terrorism, geopolitical uncert#s, public health issues, and other businessriidons have caused and could cause
damage or disruption to international commercetaadjlobal economy, and thus could have a stroggtie effect on us, our suppliers,
logistics providers, manufacturing vendors anda@mstrs. Our business operations are subject tauptéon by natural disasters, fire, power
shortages, terrorist attacks, and other hostilg ¢éadbor disputes, public health issues, and @hents beyond our control. For example, recent
labor disputes at manufacturing facilities in Chivzeve been increasing and have led to workers gmirgtrike. The recent trend of labor unrest
could materially affect our third-party manufacts‘eabilities to manufacture our products. Suchréseould decrease demand for our
products, make it difficult or impossible for usrttake and deliver products to our customers oe¢eive components from our suppliers, and
create delays and inefficiencies in our supply kh8hould major public health issues, includingd®nics, arise, we could be negatively
affected by more stringent employee travel restmd, additional limitations in freight servicegvgrnmental actions limiting the movement of
products between regions, delays in production eaimew products, and disruptions in the operatmfrour manufacturing vendors and
component suppliers.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen
None.
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ltem 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing a@gkarch and development facilities currently ogagproximately 142,700 square feet
in an office complex in San Jose, California, ura@lésase that expires in March 2018.

Our international headquarters occupy approximét8/p00 square feet in an office complex in Coré&land, under a lease entered int
February 2006 and expiring in December 2026. Owrivational sales personnel are based out of &zdas offices or home offices in Austria,
Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Czech Republienmbark, France, Germany, Hong Kong, India, Itadpah, Korea, Mexico, New Zealand,
Poland, Russia, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switggrthe Netherlands, the United Arab Emirates,taedJnited Kingdom. We also have
operations personnel using a leased facility ingdong. We also maintain research and developnagilitfes in Atlanta, Beijing, Guangzhc
Nanjing, and Shanghai, China, and in Taipei, Taiv/laom time to time we consider various alternatikeated to our lor-term facilities
needs. While we believe our existing facilities\pde suitable space for our operations and arewstedo meet our immediate needs, it ma
necessary to lease additional space to accommfdate growth. We have invested in internal capeaitd strategic relationships with outside
manufacturing vendors as needed to meet anticipgethnd for our products.

We use third parties to provide warehousing sesvioaus, consisting of facilities in Southern Gatifia, Australia, Hong Kong and the
Netherlands

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

The information set forth under Note 9 of the Ndte€onsolidated Financial Statements, includeart 1V, Iltem 15 of this Form 10-K,
is incorporated herein by reference. For an aduifidiscussion of certain risks associated witlll@goceedings, see the section entitled “Risk
Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

Item 4. Reservec
Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the names, agesparsitions of our executive officers as of Februgr011.

Name Age Position

Patrick C.S. Lc 54  Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Mark G. Merrill 56  Chief Technology Office

Michael F. Falcor 54  Senior Vice President of Worldwide Operations ang®rt

Christine M. Gorjant 54  Chief Financial Office

Andrew W. Kim 40  Vice President, Legal and Corporate Developmentp@ate Secretar
Charles T. Olsol 55  Senior Vice President of Engineeri

David Soare: 44  Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sa

Michael A. Werdant 42  Vice President of Americas Sal

Patrick C.S. Las our co-founder and has served as our ChairmdrChiref Executive Officer since March 2002. Patrficknded
NETGEAR with Mark G. Merrill with the singular vish of providing the appliances to enable everyorthé world to connect to the hi
speed Internet for information, communication, bess transactions, education, and entertainmeor EB83 until 1995, Mr. Lo worked at
HewlettPackard Company, where he served in various maragguositions in sales, technical support, produembagement, and marketing
the U.S. and Asia. Mr. Lo was named the Ernst & ivgpilational Technology Entrepreneur of the Yea2006. Mr. Lo received a B.S. degree
in electrical engineering from Brown University.
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Mark G. Merrill is our co-founder and has served as our Chief T@obg Officer since January 2003. From Septemb8818 January
2003, he served as Vice President of Engineeridgsarved as Director of Engineering from Septeni®85 to September 1999. From 1987 to
1995, Mr. Merrill worked at SynOptics Communicatioi local area networking company, which latergedmwith Wellfleet to become Bay
Networks, where his responsibilities included systiesign and analog implementations for SynO’ first L0BASE-T products. Mr. Merrill
received both a B.S. degree and an M.S. degrekeatrieal Engineering from Stanford University.

Michael F. Falcorhas served as our Senior Vice President of Worldwv@gerations and Support since January 2009. FranstivR006 t
January 2009, he served as our Senior Vice Prasid@perations, and from November 2002 to Marcb&@&s our Vice President of
Operations. From September 1999 to November 2002F8con worked at Quantum Corporation, a datartelogy company, where he
served as Vice President of Operations and SuppdimOvianagement. From April 1999 to September 1889 Falcon was at Meridian Data,
a storage company acquired by Quantum Corporatibare he served as Vice President of Operatiomsn FHebruary 1989 to April 1999,
Mr. Falcon was at Silicon Valley Group, a semicoectdu equipment manufacturer, where he served axir of Operations, Strategic
Planning and Supply Chain Management. Prior tg theterved in management positions at SCI Sysi@melectronics manufacturer, Xerox
Imaging Systems, a provider of scanning and teedgeition solutions, and Plantronics, Inc., a pdeviof lightweight communication heads:
Mr. Falcon received a B.A. degree in Economics ftbmUniversity of California, Santa Cruz and haspleted coursework in the M.B.A.
program at Santa Clara University.

Christine M. Gorjandas served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceidan2008, as our Chief Accounting Officer from Batber 2006
to January 2008 and as our Vice President, Finsnoe November 2005 to December 2006. From Septet®@8 through November 2005,
Ms. Gorjanc served as Vice President, Controlleea$urer and Assistant Secretary for Aspect Comeations Corporation, a provider of
workforce and customer management solutions. Frotoli@r 1988 through September 1996, she servdwdddnager of Tax for Tandem
Computers, Inc., a provider of fault-tolerant corngoisystems. Prior to that, she served in managepasitions at Xidex Corporation, a
manufacturer of storage devices, and spent eigirsyia public accounting with a number of accoupfirms. Ms. Gorjanc holds a B.A. in
Accounting (with honors) from the University of Texat El Paso and a M.S. in Taxation from Goldete Gaiversity.

Andrew W. Kinhas served as our Vice President, Legal and Cam@ravelopment and Corporate Secretary since OciE and as
our Associate General Counsel from March 2008 twkper 2008. Prior to joining NETGEAR, Mr. Kim sedras Special Counsel in the
Corporate and Securities Department of Wilson Soi@oodrich & Rosati, a private law firm, where tepresented public and private
technology companies in a wide range of mattecduding mergers and acquisitions, debt and eqinntcing arrangements, securities law
compliance and corporate governance from 2000 ®3 2tid 2006 to 2008. In between his two terms ddNiSonsini Goodrich & Rosati, he
served as Partner in the Business and Finance Degarof the law firm Schwartz Cooper Chartere@hicago, lllinois, and was an Adjunct
Professor of Entrepreneurship at the lllinois kugé of Technology. Mr. Kim holds a J.D. from Cdineaw School, and received a B.A. deg
in history from Yale University.

Charles T. Olsotas served as our Senior Vice President of Engimggemce March 2006 and our Vice President of Begiing from
January 2003 to March 2006. From July 1978 to Jym2@03, Mr. Olson worked at Hewlett-Packard Compavhere he served as Director of
Research and Development for ProCurve networkiogn f£998 to 2003, as Research and Development Mafagée Enterprise Netserver
division from 1997 to 1998, and, prior to thatyerious other engineering management roles in HeWwkckard’s Unix server and personal
computer product divisions. Mr. Olson received &.Rlegree in Electrical Engineering from the Unsitgrof California, Davis and an M.B.A.
from Santa Clara University.

David Soaresas served as our Senior Vice President of Worlev@idles since August 2004. Mr. Soares joined Udarnmary 1998, and
served as Vice President of EMEA sales from Decerb@3 to July 2004,
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EMEA Managing Director from April 2000 to Novemh2003, United Kingdom and Nordic Regional Managenfr~ebruary 1999 to March
2000 and United Kingdom Country Manager from Japd&98 to January 1999. Prior to joining us, Mra&s was at Hayes Microcomputer
Products, a manufacturer of dial-up modems. Mrr&oattended Ridley College, Ontario Canada.

Michael A. Werdanrhas served as our Vice President of Americas Salese December 2003. Since joining us in 1998, Werdann
has served as our United States Director of SEK3)mmerce and DMR from December 2002 to Decem®@8 2nd as our Eastern regional
sales director from October 1998 to December 2B@2r to joining us, Mr. Werdann worked for thresays at lomega Corporation, a comp
hardware company, as a sales director for the \added reseller sector. Mr. Werdann holds a B.gr&sein Communications from Seton Hall
University.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securiti¢
Market Information

Our common stock has been quoted under the syMNJIGER” on the Nasdaq National Market from July 3Q202 to July 1, 2006, and on
the Nasdag Global Select Market since then. Poithat time, there was no public market for our own stock. The following table sets forth
for the indicated periods the high and low intradaies prices for our common stock on the Nasdaljetea Such information reflects
interdealer prices, without retail markup, markdasyrcommission, and may not represent actual trioses.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2009 High Low

First Quarte! $12.61 $ 8.57
Second Quarte 16.4¢ 11.1¢
Third Quartel 19.7¢ 13.4¢
Fourth Quarte 22.4: 17.1C
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201 High Low

First Quartel $27.3¢ $20.2¢
Second Quarte 28.9¢ 18.6:
Third Quartel 28.1¢ 17.4¢
Fourth Quarte 35.5( 25.8(

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of Dedger 31, 2010 about our common stock that mayswedupon the exercise of
options and rights granted to employees or menmtfevar Board of Directors under all existing equitympensation plans, including the 2000
Plan (which was terminated as to new grants in RI233), the 2003 Stock Plan, the 2006 Long Termritice Plan and the 2003 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan.

Number of Securities

Number of Securities Remaining Available for
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plan:
Outstanding Options Outstanding Options, (Excluding Securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
. _ @ ®) ©
Equity compensation plans approved
security holder: 4,566,29(1) $ 22.2¢ 2,251,32/(2)
Equity compensation plans r
approved by security holde — $ — —
Total 4,566,29I 2,251,32!

(1) Includes 532,025 shares subject to options outstgnahder the 2003 Plan, 4,034,265 shares sulgjegitions outstanding under the 2
Plan and no outstanding shares under the 2003 Ee®Btock Purchase Pl:

(2) Includes 255,445 shares available for futuseasice under the 2003 Plan, 1,483,848 shares latesiita future issuance under the 2006
Plan and 512,032 shares available for future issiander the 2003 Employee Stock Purchase
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Company Performance

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary ig ahour previous or future filings with the SE@e following information relating to
the price performance of our common stock shallbeotieemed “filed” with the SEC or “soliciting mai&” under the Exchange Act and st
not be incorporated by reference into any suchdsi

The following graph shows a comparison from Decan®ie 2005 through December 31, 2010 of cumulgtit@ return for our common
stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index and the NasdatpGter Index. Such returns are based on histagsallts and are not intended to suggest
future performance. Data for the Nasdagq Composidex and the Nasdaq Computer Index assume reingesthdividends. We have never
paid dividends on our common stock and have nceptgsans to do so.

250 e
1= METGEEAR, Inc
== MNASDAG Compater Indax
g 200 == MNASDAQ Composite [ndax ]
| 150
]
o
2l 100
50
31-Dec-05 31-Dec-06 31-Dec-07 31-Dec-08 31-Dec-09 31-Dec-10
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
NETGEAR, Inc. $ 100.0( $ 136.3¢ $ 185.3( $ 59.2i $ 112.6¢ $ 174.9¢
NASDAQ Computer Inde: $ 100.0( $ 106.1¢ $ 129.3¢ $ 68.9¢ $ 117.7¢ $ 138.3¢
NASDAQ Composite Inde $ 100.0( $ 109.5. $ 120.2: $ 7151 $ 102.8¢ $ 120.2¢

Holders of Common Stock
On February 15, 2011, there were 30 stockholdersauird.
The number of record holders is based upon theabotumber of holders registered on our books &t slate and does not include hold

of shares in “street names” or persons, partnesshgsociations, corporations or other entitiestitied in security position listings maintained
by depository trust companies.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ocapital stock. We currently intend to retain fiegtearnings, if any, to finance the
operation and expansion of our business, and wetlanticipate paying cash dividends in the forabéefuture.
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Repurchase of Equity Securities by the Company

Total Number of Share:

Total Number of Average Price Purchased as Part of Maximum Number of Shares
Shares Paid per Publicly Announced that May Yet Be Purchased
Period Purchased Share Plans or Programs Under the Plans or Program:
January 1, 203-January 31, 201 24,947 $ 22.5¢ — 4,831,22I
February 1, 201-February 28, 201 — — — 4,831,22I
March 1, 201-March 31, 201( — — — 4,831,22I
April 1, 201C-April 30, 2010 — — — 4,831,22I
May 1, 201-May 31, 201( 3,89¢ 23.9( — 4,831,22I
June 1, 201-June 30, 201 — — — 4,831,22I
July 1, 201-July 31, 201( — — — 4,831,22I
August 1, 201-August 31, 201( — — — 4,831,22I
September 1, 20-September 3(

2010 — — — 4,831,22I
October 1, 201-October 31, 201 2,29: 28.9( — 4,831,22I
November 1, 201-November 30

2010 — — — 4,831,22I
December 1, 2010-December 31,

2010 45¢ 34.01 — 4,831,22I

31,59 $ 23.3i —

On October 21, 2008, our Board of Directors autteztimanagement to repurchase up to 6,000,000 sbfawas outstanding common
stock. Under this authorization, the timing anduathumber of shares subject to repurchase ahe atiscretion of management and are
contingent on a number of factors, such as levietash generation from operations, cash requiresrfentacquisitions and our share price. We
repurchased a total of 1,168,780 shares undeptbgram during the year ended December 31, 2008n®the years ended December 31,
2010 and December 31, 2009, we did not repurchassteres of common stock under this repurchaseepation. However, we repurchas
approximately 32,000 shares or $738,000 of commmekgelated to the lapse of restricted stock ushitisng the year ended December 31,
2010.
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ltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Da

The following selected consolidated financial data qualified in their entirety, and should be readonjunction with, the consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto;Madagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations”
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

We derived the selected consolidated statemerperfations data for the years ended December 3D, 2009 and 2008 and the selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@030,and 2009 from our audited consolidated firerstatements appearing elsewhere in
this Form 10-K. We derived the selected consoldiatatement of operations data for the years ebéegmber 31, 2007 and 2006 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as ofribece31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 from our audited datated financial statements, which are
not included in this Form 10-K. Historical resudt® not necessarily indicative of results to beeetgd for future periods.

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Date

Net revenus $902,05: $686,59! $743,34: $727,78° $573,57(
Cost of revenue(z 602,80! 480,19! 502,32( 485,18( 379,91:
Gross profil 299,24 206,40( 241,02: 242,60° 193,65¢
Operating expense
Research and development 39,97: 30,05¢ 33,77: 28,07( 18,44:
Sales and marketing( 131,57( 106,16: 121,68 117,93t 91,88
General and administrative( 36,22( 32,72% 31,73 27,22( 20,90¢
Restructuring (88) 80¢ 1,92¢ — —
In-process research and developn — — 1,80( 4,10( 2,90(
Technology license arrangeme — 2,50( — — —
Litigation reserves, ne 211 2,08( 711 167 —
Total operating expens: 207,88! 174,33¢ 191,63: 177,49! 134,12¢
Income from operation 91,36: 32,06¢ 49,39: 65,11: 59,53(
Interest income, ne 42€ 62¢ 4,33¢ 8,42¢ 6,974
Other income (expense), r (564) (12§) (8,389 3,29¢ 2,498
Income before income tax 91,22 32,567 45,34: 76,83¢ 68,99¢
Provision for income taxe 40,31t 23,23¢ 27,29: 30,88: 27,861
Net income $ 50,90¢ $ 9,33 $ 18,05( $ 45,95/ $ 41,13:
Net income per shar
Basic(1) $ 1.4/ $ 0.27 $ 051 $ 137 $ 1.2t
Diluted(1) $ 141 $ 0.27 $ 0.51 $ 1.2¢ $ 1.1¢

(1) Information regarding calculation of per share datdescribed in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidd&timancial Statement
(2) Stock-based compensation expense was allocated as fo

Cost of revenu $ 91:c $ 95¢ $ 864 $ 632 $ 43C
Research and developm 2,271 1,97: 3,21¢ 2,391 1,11¢
Sales and marketir 4,71C 4,147 3,40¢ 3,01z 1,40¢
General and administrati\ 4,307 3,94¢ 3,83¢ 2,842 1,551
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December 31
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢

Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $270,73°  $247,10(  $203,00¢ $205,34. $197,46!
Working capital $413,32.  $339,11¢ $312,84: $311,08: $280,87"
Total asset $780,32.  $633,12:  $586,20¢ $551,10¢ $437,90«
Total current liabilities $254,720  $195,60¢ $176,50' $168,507 $143,48:
Total nor-current liabilities $ 25,16: $23,35¢ $ 18,74 $11,07¢ $ —
Total stockholder equity $500,43¢  $414,150  $390,95¢ $371,520 $294,42.
Item 7. Managemen'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

You should read the following discussion of ouafiicial condition and results of operations togethth the audited consolidated
financial statements and notes to the financialestents included elsewhere in this Forr-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintie® fbinward-looking statements are not historicalt&but rather are based on current
expectations, estimates, assumptions and projectbout our industry, business and future finangabllts. Our actual results could differ
materially from the results contemplated by these/dérd-looking statements due to a number of fagtorcluding those discussed under “Risk
Factor<” in Part |, Item 1A above.

Business Overview

We are a global networking company that deliver®irative products to commercial businesses, horesuand broadband service
providers. For commercial businesses, we providear&ing, storage and security solutions withowt tost and complexity of traditional lar
enterprise products. For consumers, we make higbrpgance, dependable and easy to use home netwgostorage and digital media
products to connect people to the Internet via camigation, computing and entertainment devices.al§e supply top broadband service
providers with retail proven, whole home networksajutions for their customers. Our products ariét ba a variety of proven technologies
such as WiFi, Ethernet and HomePlug powerline, witbcus on reliability and ease-of-use.

Our product line consists of wired and wirelessiciey that enable Ethernet networking, broadbandsscmetwork connectivity and
security appliances. These products are availahtedltiple configurations to address the needsuofemd-users in each geographic region in
which our products are sold.

We sell our networking products through multipléesachannels worldwide, including traditional réges, online retailers, wholesale
distributors, DMRs, VARS, and broadband servicevgglers. Our retail channel includes traditionabietbocations domestically and
internationally, such as Best Buy, Fry’s ElectraniRadio Shack, Staples, Wal-Mart, Argos (U.K.xdis (U.K.), PC World (U.K.),
MediaMarkt (Germany, Austria), Dick Smith (Austegli JB HiFi (Australia) and Elkjop (Norway). Onlimetailers include Amazon.com, Dell,
Newegg.com and Buy.com. Our DMRs include CDW Caafion, Insight Corporation and PC Connection in dstic markets and Misc
throughout Europe. In addition, we also sell owdurcts through broadband service providers, suchudsple system operators (MSOs), DSL,
and other broadband technology operators domdgtiadl internationally. Some of these retailers brahdband service providers purchase
directly from us while others are fulfilled througiholesale distributors around the world. A subtighportion of our net revenue to date has
been derived from a limited number of wholesaldritistors, the largest of which is Ingram Microclrand Tech Data Corporation.
Additionally, a substantial portion of our revertoedate has been derived from certain retailecdyuding Best Buy. We expect that these
wholesale distributors and retailers will continaecontribute a significant percentage of our eeenue for the foreseeable future.

We have well developed channels in North Americé Barope, Middle-East and Africa, or EMEA, and buélding a stronger presence
in the Asia Pacific and Latin American regions. ildalin the immediately prior
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years, in the year ended December 31, 2010, weetdktihe majority of our net revenue from North Amoarsales. While sales in all our ma
geographic regions increased, North America saes@ercentage of net revenue increased from 468804 to 52% in 2010. North America
sales increased from $314.4 million in the yeareghbDecember 31, 2009 to $465.1 million in the yerated December 31, 2010, representing
an increase of 47.9% during the period. Growth amthl America was primarily due to strength in resaies driven by market share gains.

Our net revenue increased 31.4% during the yeasceBeécember 31, 2010 primarily attributable to kigbales in several of our product
categories. These include wireless-N products teotdtailers and existing service provider cust@anas well as Powerline products,
ReadyNAS products, and switch products.

The commercial business, home user, and broadlmmigde provider markets are intensely competitive subject to rapid technological
change. We expect our competition to continue tienisify. We believe that the principal competitfaetors in these markets for networking
products include product breadth, size and scopleeo$ales channel, brand name, timeliness of medupt introductions, product availability,
performance, features, functionality and reliapjléase-of-installation, maintenance and use, astbmer service and support. To remain
competitive, we believe we must continue to aggvessinvest resources in developing new produats @nhancing our current products wi
continuing to expand our channels and maintainirgjamer satisfaction worldwide.

Our gross margin increased to 33.2% for the yede@ecember 31, 2010 from 30.1% for the year egemmber 31, 2009. The
increase in gross margin was primarily attributdble higher percentage of our total revenue corfrmmg higher sales of home and
commercial business products, which generally caigiier gross margins. Additionally, we experienaddwer percentage of our total reve
derived from sales to service providers, which galhecarry lower gross margins. Operating experisethe year ended December 31, 2010
were $207.9 million, or 23.1% of net revenue, coragao $174.3 million, or 25.4% of net revenue,tfte year ended December 31, 2009.
increase was primarily attributable to a $28.4iomllincrease in salary and other employee relatpéreses as well as an $8.0 million increase
in marketing expenses and outside service costterkto our increased research and developmemgisopPartially offsetting this increase was
a $2.4 million decrease in fees for outside legal ather professional services primarily attribleeato decreased legal patent defense costs.

Net income increased $41.6 million, or 446%, to.$54illion for the year ended December 31, 201@f$9.3 million for the year end
December 31, 2009. This increase was primarilybattable to an increase in gross profit of $92.8iom which was patrtially offset by an
increase in operating expenses of $33.6 millionaméhcrease in the provision for income taxeslaf.$ million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have beepapee in accordance with accounting principles gahyeaccepted in the United States
of America and pursuant to the rules and regulatifithe SEC. The preparation of these financ@kstents requires management to make
assumptions, judgments and estimates that canshaigmificant impact on the reported amounts oésdiabilities, revenues and expenses.
We base our estimates on historical experienceandrious other assumptions believed to be afgécand reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ sigrifily from these estimates. These estimates maygehas new events occur, as additional
information is obtained and as our operating emvirent changes. On a regular basis we evaluatessungptions, judgments and estimates
make changes accordingly. We also discuss oucalriiccounting estimates with the Audit Committéthe Board of Directors. Note 1 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements desctiEesignificant accounting policies used in theppration of the consolidated financ
statements. We have listed below our critical antiog policies that we believe to have the gregtegtntial impact on our consolidated
financial statements. Historically, our assumptigndgments and estimates relative to our critgaounting policies have not differed
materially from actual results.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is generally recograzélde time the product is shipped, provided tleaspasive evidence of an arranger
exists, title and risk of loss has transferrechd¢ustomer, the selling price is fixed or deteable and collection of the related receivable is
reasonably assured. Currently, for some of ouroensts, title passes to the customer upon delivetlyd port or country of destination, upon
their receipt of the product, or upon the customessale of the product. At the end of each figoalrter, we estimate and defer revenue related
to product where title has not transferred. Thenexe continues to be deferred until such timetttiatpasses to the customer. We assess
collectability based on a number of factors, inaghgdgeneral economic and market conditions, pasistiction history with the customer, and
the creditworthiness of the customer. If we detesrthat collection of the corresponding receivableot reasonably assured, then we defer the
revenue until receipt of payment.

Refer to Note 1 of notes to Consolidated FinarStatements for details on early adoption of AccmgnStandards Update (ASU)
No. 200¢-13, “Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements"Si8 2009-13) and Accounting Standards Update (AStl)2009-14, “Certain
Revenue Arrangements That Include Software EleméASU 2009-14) at the beginning of the first quarof fiscal year 2010 on a
prospective basis for applicable transactions oaiing or materially modified after January 1, 20IRe adoption of the new revenue
recognition accounting standards did not have @rni@timpact on our consolidated financial positicesults of operations, or cash flows for
the year ended December 31, 2010.

Allowances for Product Warranties, Returns due tto8k Rotation, Sales Incentives and Doubtful Accdan

Our standard warranty obligation to our direct oostrs generally provides for a right of return oy @roduct for a full refund in the
event that such product is not merchantable ariad to be damaged or defective. At the time regéauecognized, an estimate of future
warranty returns is recorded to reduce revenukdratnount of the expected credit or refund to l@iged to our direct customers. At the time
we record the reduction to revenue related to wagyreeturns, we include within cost of revenue &avdown to reduce the carrying value of
such products to net realizable value. Our standardanty obligation to end-users provides for aepment of a defective product for one or
more years. Factors that affect the warranty otibganclude product failure rates, material usage] service delivery costs incurred in
correcting product failures. The estimated cospeiased with fulfilling the warranty obligation #nd-users is recorded in cost of revenue.
Because our products are manufactured by thirdspaainufacturers, in certain cases we have recaare third-party manufacturer for
replacement or credit for the defective products. §e consideration to amounts recoverable fromthutd-party manufacturers in
determining our warranty liability. Our estimatdtbevances for product warranties can vary from akttaesults and we may have to record
additional revenue reductions or charges to costwdnue, which could materially impact our finagosition and results of operations.

In addition to warranty-related returns, certaistidbutors and retailers generally have the righteturn product for stock rotation
purposes. Upon shipment of the product, we redercenue for an estimate of potential future stot¢&tion returns related to the current period
product revenue. We analyze historical returnsnobhinventory levels, current economic trends eimahges in customer demand for our
products when evaluating the adequacy of the athoedor sales returns, namely stock rotation retudur estimated allowances for returns
due to stock rotation can vary from actual resaitd we may have to record additional revenue r@hsstwhich could materially impact our
financial position and results of operations.

We accrue for sales incentives as a marketing esepiénve receive an identifiable benefit in exchaagd can reasonably estimate the
value of the identifiable benefit received; othessyiit is recorded as a reduction of revenues.eStimated provisions for sales incentives can
vary from actual results and we may have to reaolditional expenses or additional revenue redusti@pendent on the classification of the
sales incentive.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefstimated losses resulting from the inability of oustomers to make required
payments. We regularly perform credit evaluatiohsur customers’ financial
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condition and consider factors such as historigpedence, credit quality, age of the accountsivetde balances, and geographic or country-
specific risks and economic conditions that magetf customes’ ability to pay. The allowance for doubtful acctauis reviewed quarterly a
adjusted if necessary based on our assessments cfistomers’ ability to pay. If the financial catioh of our customers should deteriorate or
if actual defaults are higher than our historicgderience, additional allowances may be requirddcivcould have an adverse impact on
operating expenses.

Valuation of Inventory

We value our inventory at the lower of cost or nedrkcost being determined using the first-in, fsat method. We continually assess the
value of our inventory and will periodically writkown its value for estimated excess and obsoletntory based upon assumptions about
future demand and market conditions. On a quarteryjs, we review inventory quantities on hand amarder under non-cancelable purchase
commitments, including consignment inventory, imgarison to our estimated forecast of product dehfanthe next nine months to
determine what inventory, if any, are not saleaBler analysis is based on the demand forecastkestinto account market conditions,
product development plans, product life expectaargy other factors. Based on this analysis, we wioten the affected inventory value for
estimated excess and obsolescence charges. Abititeoploss recognition, a new, lower cost basisthat inventory is established, and
subsequent changes in facts and circumstancestdeguit in the restoration or increase in that Iyexgtablished cost basis. As demonstrated
during prior years, demand for our products caatfiate significantly. If actual demand is lowerntaur forecasted demand and we fail to
reduce our manufacturing accordingly, we coulddzpiired to write down additional inventory, whiclowmid have a negative effect on our
gross profit.

Goodwill and Intangibles

We apply the authoritative guidance for intangildes perform an annual goodwill impairment tesb8t certain events or indicators of
impairment occur between annual impairment testsywill perform the impairment test as those eventsdicators occur. For purposes of
impairment testing, we have determined that we ey one reporting unit.

The goodwill impairment test involves a two-stepgass. In the first step, we estimate our fair@a@nd compare the fair value with the
carrying value of our net assets. If the fair vakigreater than the carrying value of our nettassleen no impairment results. If the fair vals
less than our carrying value, then we would perftrensecond step and determine the fair valueso§tiodwill. In this second step, the amc
of impairment is determined by comparing the ingbliair value to the carrying value of the goodwilthe same manner as if we were being
acquired in a business combination. Specifically,would allocate the fair value to all of our assatd liabilities, including any unrecognized
intangible assets, in a hypothetical analysiswwatld calculate the implied fair value of goodwifithe implied fair value of goodwill is less
than the recorded goodwill, an impairment chargald/de recorded to earnings in the ConsolidateteBtants of Operations.

In addition, we would evaluate goodwill for impaint if events or circumstances change between atesia indicating a possible
impairment. Examples of such events or circumstameude the following: a significant decline inreexpected future cash flows; a sustai
significant decline in our stock price and markapitalization; a significant adverse change inlibisiness climate; the testing for recoverab
of a significant asset group; and slower growtbsat

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, we completieel annual impairment test of goodwill. In condangtour impairment test, we
determined that our fair value exceeded the cagryalue of our net assets by approximately 101%gbldwill impairment loss was
recognized in the years ended December 31, 2009 @02008.

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives amerdized using the straight-line method over thévested economic lives of the assets,
which range from two to ten years. Purchased inkd@@ssets determined to have
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indefinite useful lives are not amortized. Lolnged assets, including property and equipmentiatahgible assets, are reviewed for impairrn
whenever events or changes in circumstances imdibat the carrying amount of such assets mayaotdoverable. Such conditions may
include an economic downturn or a change in thessssent of future operations. Determination of vecability is based on an estimate of
undiscounted future cash flows resulting from tee af the asset and its eventual disposition. Measent of an impairment loss for loffiged
assets that management expects to hold and uased bn the fair value of the asset. Long-live@tas® be disposed of are reported at the
lower of carrying amount or fair value less costsell. The carrying value of the asset is reviemed regular basis for the existence of facts,
both internal and external, that may suggest inmpet.

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 200& were no events or changes in circumstana¢#nitiicated the carrying amount
of our long-lived assets may not be recoverablmftioeir undiscounted cash flows. Consequently, idendt perform an impairment test or
record an impairment of our long-lived assets dythose periods.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, a key employee resfie for managing the asset group acquired imeotion with our 2006 acquisition
Skipjam Corp. departed the Company. The departuttisoemployee, along with the recent economidremvnent, resulted in our decision to
reduce efforts geared at marketing the relatedymtsd As a result, we performed an impairment asiglgf these long-lived assets during the
fourth quarter of 2008. Based on the results ofthedysis, we recorded an impairment charge withst of revenue in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations of $458,000 in the yede@mecember 31, 2008 for the net carrying valuatahgibles acquired in connection with
our 2006 acquisition of Skipjam Corp.

We will continue to evaluate the carrying valueoaf long-lived assets and if we determine in thariithat there is a potential further
impairment, we may be required to record additiaharges to earnings which could affect our finaha@sults.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under an asset anititiiadpproach. Under this method, income tax exgaeis recognized for the amount
taxes payable or refundable for the current yemaddition, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesrapegnized for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences resulting fiidferent treatments for tax versus accountingesfain items, such as accruals and
allowances not currently deductible for tax purgogehese differences result in deferred tax assetdiabilities, which are included within the
consolidated balance sheet. We must then asselisdiiteood that our deferred tax assets will beoreered from future taxable income and to
the extent we believe that recovery is not moreljikhan not, we must establish a valuation alloseas of December 31, 2010, we believe
that all of our deferred tax assets are recoveralolever, if there were a change in our abilitydoover our deferred tax assets, we would be
required to take a charge in the period in whichde®=rmined that recovery was not more likely thah

Uncertain tax provisions are recognized under quidahat provides that a company should use a tikalg-than-not recognition
threshold based on the technical merits of thenmetax position taken. Income tax positions thagtntlee more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold should be measured in order to deterthiméax benefit to be recognized in the finandialesments. We include interest expense and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions adtiaddl tax expense.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the Consolidatedt&teents of Operations and the percentage changetfr® preceding year for the

periods indicated:

Net revenu

Cost of revenu

Gross profi

Operating expense
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati
Restructuring
In-process research and developn
Technology license arrangeme
Litigation reserves, ne

Total operating expens:

Income from operation

Interest income, ne

Other income (expense), r

Income before income tax

Provision for income taxe

Net income

**  Percentage change not meaning

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2010 Change 2009 Change 2008
(In thousands, except percentage dat:

$902,05: 31.2% $686,59! (7.€%) $743,34:
602,80! 25.5% 480,19! (4.4%) 502,32(
299,24 45.(% 206,40( (14.4%) 241,02:
39,97: 33.(% 30,05¢ (11.C%) 33,77:
131,57( 23.%% 106,16: (12.€%) 121,68
36,22( 10.7% 32,72, 3.1% 31,73
(89) x> 80¢ (58.1%) 1,92¢
— * — (100.(%) 1,80(

— (100.(%) 2,50( * —
211 (89.£%) 2,08( 192.5% 711
207,88! 19.2% 174,33¢ (9.C%) 191,63:
91,36: 184.%% 32,06¢ (35.1%) 49,39
42¢ (32.2%) 62¢ (85.5%) 4,33¢
(564) 340.6% (12€) (98.5%) (8,389
91,22« 180.1% 32,567 (28.2%) 45,34:
40,31 73.5% 23,23¢ (14.%) 27,29:
$ 50,90¢ 445.5% $ 9,33t (48.2%) $ 18,05(
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The following table sets forth the Consolidatedt@teents of Operations, expressed as a percentage @venue, for the periods
presented:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net revenus 100% 10(% 10C%
Cost of revenu 66.€ 69.¢ 67.€
Gross margit 33.2 30.1 32.4

Operating expense

Research and developm 45 4.4 45
Sales and marketir 14.¢ 15.¢ 16.4
General and administrati\ 4.C 4.8 4.3
Restructuring 0.C 0.1 0.3
In-process research and developn 0.C 0.C 0.2
Technology license arrangeme 0.C 0.4 0.C
Litigation reserves, ne 0.C 0.3 0.1
Total operating expens 23.1 25.4 25.€
Income from operatior 10.1 4.7 6.6
Interest income, ne 0.1 0.1 0.6
Other income (expense), r 0.7 (0.7 1y
Income before income tax 10.1 4.7 6.1
Provision for income taxe 4.5 3.3 3.7

Net income 5.6% 1.4% 2.4%

Net Revenue

Year Ended December 31

Percentag Percentagt
2010 Change 2009 Change 2008
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Net revenug $902,05: 31.4&% $686,59! (7.€%) $743,34-

Our net revenue consists of gross product shipmkesis allowances for estimated returns for stot&tion and warranty, price protecti
end-user customer rebates and other sales incemtdemed to be a reduction of net revenue anchaeges in deferred revenue.

2010 Net Revenue Compared to 2009 Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $215.5 million, or 31.496302.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2600n $686.6 million for the ye:
ended December 31, 2009. The increase in net reweas principally attributable to higher salesémesal of our product categories. These
include wireless-N products sold to retailers axidtang service provider customers, as well as Rtimeeproducts, ReadyNAS products, and
switch products.
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Net revenue by geographic location is as follows:

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt
2010 Change 2009
(In thousands, except percentage dat:

North America $465,06: 47.% $314,39:

Percentage of net reven 51.6% 45.8%
Europe, Middl-East, and Afric: $340,47: 16.5% $292,18:

Percentage of net reven 37.1% 42.6%
Asia Pacific $ 96,51¢ 20.€% $ 80,02

Percentage of net reven 10.7% 11.€%

2009 Net Revenue Compared to 2008 Net Revenue

Net revenue decreased $56.7 million, or 7.6%, 8636 million for the year ended December 31, 2@&@8n $743.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in net rewessiprincipally attributable to lower shipment®or broadband gateway products to
traditional resellers and existing service providestomers. Additionally, we experienced weakemiagand for our switch products and
wireless-G products. Our revenue decline contirtodzk negatively impacted by the economic downgurd relatively stronger U.S. dollar.
These decreases were partially mitigated by ineaales of wireless-N products sold to retailasexisting service provider customers as
well as our increased focus on reducing sales thamnthat impact net revenue.

Net revenue by geographic location is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt
2009 Change 2008
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
North America $314,39. 5.6% $297,64:
Percentage of net reven 45.8% 40.(%
Europe, Middl-East, and Afric: $292,18: (17.5%) $354,05¢
Percentage of net reven 42.€% 47.€%
Asia Pacific $ 80,02 (12.7%) $ 91,64¢
Percentage of net reven 11.€% 12.8%
Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin
Year Ended December 31,
Percentagt Percentagt
2010 Change 2009 Change 2008
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Cost of revenu $602,80! 25.5% $480,19! (4.4%) $502,32(
Gross margin percenta 33.2% 30.1% 32.4%

Cost of revenue consists primarily of the followitige cost of finished products from our third-gartanufacturers; overhead costs
including purchasing, product planning, inventooptol, warehousing and distribution logistics;anind freight; warranty costs associated
with returned goods; write-downs for excess ankas inventory; and amortization expense of ceréaiquired intangibles. We outsource our
manufacturing, warehousing and distribution logstWe believe this outsourcing strategy allowsousetter manage our product costs and
gross margin. Our gross margin can be affectednynaber of factors, including fluctuation in foraigxchange rates, sales returns, changes ir
net revenues due to changes in average sellinggyend-user
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customer rebates and other sales incentives, arjeb in our cost of goods sold due to fluctuationmices paid for components, net of
vendor rebates, warranty and overhead costs, irbfsaight, conversion costs, and charges for exaesgsolete inventory.

2010 Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin Compared@02Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue increased $122.6 million, or 25.694602.8 million for the year ended December2B11,0, from $480.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2009. Our gross margiaaserd to 33.2% for the year ended December 31, 2@1H0 30.1% for the year end:
December 31, 2009.

The increase in gross margin was primarily attdbig to a higher percentage of our total revenueing from higher sales of home and
commercial business products, which generally caigiier gross margins. Additionally, we experienaddwer percentage of our total reve
derived from sales to service providers, which galhecarry lower gross margins.

2009 Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin Compared@0&Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue decreased $22.1 million, or 4.498480.2 million for the year ended December 3D26rom $502.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2008. Our gross margirased to 30.1% for the year ended December 31, #@09 32.4% for the year end
December 31, 2008.

The decrease in gross margin was primarily attablet to the impact of a relatively stronger U.Sladmn our foreign currency
denominated revenues. Gross margins were also tethbay sales declines of our switch products as agetupply constraints late in the year,
which resulted in the use of higher cost air freigkpense to acquire inventory levels sufficienswpport increased demand. These margin
decreases were partially offset by our increasedd@n reducing sales incentives that impact rvetmee.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expense

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentag¢
2010 Change 2009 Change 2008
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Research and development expe $39,97: 33.(% $30,05¢ (11.C%) $33,77:
Percentage of net reven 4.5% 4.4% 4.5%

Research and development expenses consist priro&plgrsonnel expenses, payments to suppliersefsigd services, safety and
regulatory testing, product certification expendsto qualify our products for sale into speaifiarkets, prototypes and other consulting fees.
Research and development expenses are recognitieelyeare incurred. We have invested in buildingresearch and development
organization to enhance our ability to introducedvative and easy to use products. In the futueebelieve that research and development
expenses will increase in absolute dollars as vpam into new networking product technologies amédlen our core competencies.

2010 Research and Development Expense Compare®®® Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses increased 3$Bd® hoir 33.0%, to $40.0 million for the year edd@ecember 31, 2010, from $30.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Tioedase was primarily attributable to increasedscofk$7.2 million related to an increase in
payroll and other employee expenses principallyltieg from increased variable compensation, as agincreased overall research and
development headcount. We note there was mininrédlMa compensation expense in the year ended
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December 31, 2009. Also included in the $9.9 millwas an increase of $646,000 due to acquisititate® contingent compensation related to
our May 2007 acquisition of Infrant Technologias;.learned during the year ended December 31, 2@t @id not occur during the year
ended December 31, 2009. Furthermore, the increasettributable to higher outside service costlo2 million, primarily related to our
increased research and development projects.

2009 Research and Development Expense Compare@®8 Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses decreased #iid,rar 11.0%, to $30.1 million for the year endeecember 31, 2009, from $33.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Téerebse was primarily attributable to decreasets afs$3.1 million related to a reduction
in payroll and other employee expenses, includiegebsed variable compensation and a reductioaveltexpenses, which was partly in
response to our cost-cutting initiatives. Includrethe $3.1 million was a decrease of approxima$éy0,000 due to acquisition-related
contingent compensation. Additionally, stock-baserhpensation expense decreased $1.2 million torlion for the year ended
December 31, 2009, from $3.2 million for the yeaded December 31, 2008. Partially offsetting trdesmreases was an increase in costs
allocated to research and development from othestional expense categories of $536,000, primagdyilting from increased facilities costs
and higher information technology costs relateduonew enterprise resource planning software.fA3ezember 31, 2009, we had 149
employees engaged in research and development, fdlomrl58 employees as of December 31, 2008.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2010 Change 2009 Change 2008
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Sales and marketing exper $131,57( 23.9% $106,16: (12.¢%) $121,68
Percentage of net reven 14.€% 15.%% 16.4%%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilyle¢rising, trade shows, corporate communicatiorsather marketing expenses,
product marketing expenses, outbound freight cpstsonnel expenses for sales and marketing stdffexhnical support expenses.

2010 Sales and Marketing Expense Compared to 208@$Sand Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses increased $25.4mitiid23.9%, to $131.6 million for the year endeztBmber 31, 2010, from $106.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. @& ithcrease, $15.1 million was related to an insegia payroll and other employee expenses
primarily attributable to increased overall saled aarketing headcount, increased variable comgiensand an increase in travel expenses.
Additionally, marketing expenses and other outsielerice costs increased by $6.8 million due togased marketing campaigns.

2009 Sales and Marketing Expense Compared to 208@&$and Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $15.5ndlid2.8%, to $106.2 million for the year endeztBmber 31, 2009, from $121.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2008. @& tlecrease, $6.7 million was related to a redandtigpayroll and other employee expenses
primarily attributable to decreased overall saled marketing headcount and a reduction in travpeasges, which was partly in response to our
cost-cutting initiatives. Additionally, marketinggenses and other outside service costs decreseddlion attributable to reduced
marketing campaigns and cost savings efforts. Earibre, outbound freight decreased by $1.6 miltioa to our reduction in sales. Partially
offsetting these decreases was an increase inaltmtated to sales and marketing from other fumeti expense categories of $1.7 million,
primarily resulting from increased facilities casts
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General and Administrative Expense

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentagt
2010 Change 2009 Change 2008
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
General and administrative expel $36,22( 10.7% $32,721 3.1% $31,73:
Percentage of net reven 4.C% 4.8% 4.2%

General and administrative expenses consist ofisaland related expenses for executive, finandeaanounting, human resources,
professional fees, allowance for doubtful accoamts other corporate expenses.

2010 General and Administrative Expense Compare@®®9 General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses increasednilién, or 10.7%, to $36.2 million for the yeardad December 31, 2010, from $32.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. @Gf #mount, $6.1 million was related to an incraageayroll and other employee expenses
primarily attributable to increased variable cormgation. We note there was minimal variable comp@nsaxpense in the year ended
December 31, 2009. Partially offsetting this inseeavas a $2.4 million decrease in fees for outeigal and other professional services
primarily attributable to decreased legal paterfienige costs.

2009 General and Administrative Expense Compare@@®8 General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses increasedn§illion, or 3.1%, to $32.7 million for the year esdiDecember 31, 2009, from $31.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Tioedase was primarily attributable to increased t#e$1.5 million for outside legal and
other professional services, particularly incregsatent litigation defense costs. Furthermore, yygeenced increased salary, related payroll,
and other employee costs of $511,000. This incrisgsemarily due to capitalizing certain employassts in 2008 in connection with their
involvement in the implementation of new enterprisgource planning software, which lowered totapkayee costs included in general and
administrative expenses in that year. We did npitalize any such costs in 2009. Partially offsgftthese increases was a decrease of $1.2
million for outside professional services primarilye to decreased information technology consul@ugh consulting expenses were relati
higher in the year ago period due to our implenténaof new enterprise resource planning softwar2d08.

Restructuring

In July 2008, we ceased using buildings leasedim&Clara and Fremont, California, and consol@iatepersonnel and operations from
those locations to our new corporate headquanteBsan Jose, California. During the year ended Dbeer®1, 2010, we realized a benefit of
$88,000 related to these facilities in Santa Céaré Fremont due to lower than expected commonraaéatenance fees. During the year ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, we expensed $809,@$54,000, respectively, related to these exaashities. Additionally, we expensed
$965,000 during the year ended December 31, 208&deto the termination of employment of approxieha35 individuals on November 12,
2008. For a detailed discussion of our restructuexpenses, please see Note 4 of the Notes to {ated Financial Statements.

In-process Research and Development
We did not incur any in-process research and dewedmt expenses during the years ended Decemb2030,and 2009.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we expe$® million for in-process research and develepimelated to intangible assets
purchased in our acquisition of certain assetsPBEcure. See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidadtexh€ial Statements for additional
information regarding this acquisition.
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Technology License Arrangements
We did not incur any expenses related to techndliognse arrangements in the years ended Decemb@030 and 2008.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we entete@ $2.5 million arrangement to license sofeveachnologies that we may
integrate into certain future products. At thatdinwe had not yet established the technologicailfday of these products, and we did not
believe the software had an alternative future Asesuch, we expensed the entire technology licansengement amount of $2.5 million in the
year ended December 31, 20

Litigation Reserves and Payments

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we redaditigation reserve expense of $211,000 fonesstied costs related to the
settlement of potential lawsuits or lawsuits algefildd against us. For a detailed discussion aflitigation matters, please see Note 9 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we redardtlitigation reserves expense of $2.1 millibhis expense was primarily
comprised of $2.6 million in estimated costs relatethe settlement of various lawsuits againstusch includes $2.1 million related to a one-
time settlement payment made to the Commonwealtmgfic and Industrial Research Organization (“R6I') and $350,000 related to a one-
time settlement payment made to Network-1 Sec@itjtions, Inc. (“Network-1"). These expenses waffset by a reduction in previously
accrued legal settlement costs of $500,000 duestoranary judgment ruling in our favor on anothegeca

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we redardelitigation reserves expense of $711,000. &kjEense was primarily compris
of $575,000 in estimated costs related to theesattht of various lawsuits filed against us. Additithy, we incurred an expense of $109,00(
costs related to the settlement of the patentrigéiment lawsuit filed by Hybrid Patents, Inc. (“Higl3) against Charter Communications, Inc.
(“Charter™),where we assumed the defense of the litigatiom edteiving a request for indemnification from Gleaand an expense of $85,(
for costs related to the settlement of the patefninigement lawsuit filed by Linex Technologiesclmgainst us. These expenses were offset by
a reduction in previously accrued legal settlenoaists of $58,000.

Interest Income and Other Income (Expense)

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Interest income and other income (expenst

Interest income, ne $ 42¢€ $ 62¢ $ 4,33¢
Other income (expense), r (564) (12¢) (8,389
Total interest income and other income (expe $(13€)  $501 $(4,04¢)

Interest income represents amounts earned on shr cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Other income (expense), net, primarily represeatssgand losses on transactions denominated ifgfocairrencies and other
miscellaneous expenses.
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2010 Interest Income and Other Income (Expense) Guared to 2009 Interest Income and Other Income (EExze)

Interest income decreased $203,000, or 32.3%,26,980 for the year ended December 31, 2010, fl629 $00 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The decrease in interest ineeaseprimarily attributable to a decrease in theaye interest rate earned in the year ended
December 31, 2010, as compared to the year endeehiber 31, 2009.

Other expense, net, increased $436,000 to expéi$E®H4,000 for year ended December 31, 2010, froperse of $128,000 for year
ended December 31, 2009. Our foreign currency Imgdgiogram reduced volatility associated with heldgerrency exchange rate movements
during the year ended December 31, 2010. The erp=564,000 is primarily related to exposurestirrencies that are not included in our
hedging program. For details of our hedging progaau related foreign currency contracts, pleaséNste 5 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

2009 Interest Income and Other Income (Expense) Guared to 2008 Interest Income and Other Income (Exse)

The aggregate of interest income, interest expartker income, and other expense amounted to het mtcome of $501,000 for the ye
ended December 31, 2009, compared to net othenszpd $4.0 million for the year ended December2BD8. We recorded a net foreign
exchange loss of $8.4 million during the year endedember 31, 2008 due to the continued strengibesfithe U.S. dollar against the euro,
the British pound, the Australian dollar and thpaleese yen during 2008. We implemented a hedgimgygm in November 2008, and therer
the impact of fluctuations in currency decreasegdificantly during the year ended December 31, 2088ulting in a decrease in net foreign
exchange losses of $8.3 million. This decreaseirother expense is partially offset by decreasstarest income of $3.7 million, which is a
result of a decrease in interest rates on our @&, equivalents, and short-term investments bataduring the year.

Provision for Income Taxes
2010 Provision for Income Taxes Compared to 200@Wsion for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes increased $17.1 milli@sulting in a provision of $40.3 million for tlyear ended December 31, 2010,
compared to a provision of $23.2 million for theayended December 31, 2009. The effective taxdateeased from 71.3% for the year ended
December 31, 2009 to 44.2% for the year ended DieeeB1, 2010. The effective tax rate for both pasidiffered from the statutory rate of
35% due to non-deductible stock-based compensatiate taxes, other non-deductible expenses, aratadits. Additionally, in 2010 tax
attributable to foreign operations increased tfiecti/e tax rate by 5.1 percentage points compareth increase of 28.4 percentage points for
2009. In both years, this was primarily causedheytax effect of non-deductible losses in foreignisdictions where no benefit could be
claimed. The unfavorable rate impact of foreignragiens was lower in 2010 compared with 2009 beeatfismprovements in both
international and worldwide earnings.

2009 Provision for Income Taxes Compared to 200®Wsion for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes decreased $4.1 milliesulting in a provision of $23.2 million for thegr ended December 31, 2009,
compared to a provision of $27.3 million for theayended December 31, 2008. The effective taximateased from 60.2% for the year ended
December 31, 2008 to 71.3% for the year ended DieeeB1, 2009. The effective tax rate for both pesidiffered from the statutory rate of
35% due to non-deductible stock-based compensatiate taxes, other non-deductible expenses, aratadits. Additionally, in 2009 tax
attributable to foreign operations increased tliectif’e tax rate by 28.4 percentage points comptreah increase of 19.4 percentage points for
2008. This was primarily caused by the tax efféetan-deductible losses in foreign jurisdictionsesd no benefit can be claimed as well as
increases in earnings in countries with rates higen 35%.
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Net Income

Net income increased $41.6 million to $50.9 millfon the year ended December 31, 2010, from $9lBomior the year ended
December 31, 2009. This increase was primarilybattable to an increase in gross profit of $92.8iom. This increase was partially offset by
an increase in operating expenses of $33.6 midiwhan increase in the provision for income taxXel@.1 million.

Net income decreased $8.8 million, or 48.3%, t@$8illion for the year ended December 31, 2009nf&i8.1 million for the year end
December 31, 2008. This decrease was primarilippatable to a decrease in gross profit of $34.6ionil This decrease was offset by a
decrease in operating expenses of $17.3 millionsathelcrease in other expense, net of $8.3 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2010, we had cash, cash equigadend short-term investments totaling $270.7iomill

Our cash and cash equivalents balance decreasedi@2.2 million as of December 31, 2009 to $126illon as of December 31,
2010. Our short-term investments, which repredemirtvestment of funds available for current operes, increased from $74.9 million as of
December 31, 2009 to $144.6 million as of Decendde2010, as we shifted assets from money markelsfto U.S. Treasuries with higher
returns. Operating activities during the year endedember 31, 2010 generated cash of $26.4 milliaesting activities during the year ent
December 31, 2010 used $95.2 million, which inctuthe net purchases of short-term investments @flfmillion, payments made in
connection with business acquisitions of $12.0iamill and purchases of property and equipment &f 88llion. During the year ended
December 31, 2010, financing activities provide@.82million, primarily due to the issuance of oonunon stock upon exercise of stock
options and our employee stock purchase programelss the excess tax benefit from exercisescandellations of stock options.

Our days sales outstanding increased from 71 dag$ Recember 31, 2009 to 78 days as of Decemhe2@D, primarily due to our
increased sales to U.S. retailers, who generallg fenger payment terms during the holiday sealsan bther customers.

Our accounts payable increased from $69.1 milltoRecember 31, 2009 to $89.2 million at December2810 primarily as a result of
timing of payments.

Inventory increased by $36.8 million from $90.6lmil at December 31, 2009 to $127.4 million at Deber 31, 2010. Ending inventory
turns decreased from 6.7 turns in the three mastded December 31, 2009, to 5.6 turns in the tm@eths ended December 31, 2010. This
decrease is primarily attributable to our increaseentory levels to support current and expectemiahd levels for our products.

We enter into foreign currency forward-exchangeti@mts, which typically mature in three to five ntlos, to hedge a portion of our
exposure to foreign currency fluctuations of fore@irrency-denominated revenue, costs of reverartgin operating expenses, receivables,
payables, and cash balances. We record on thelitated balance sheet at each reporting periofbih@alue of our forward-exchange
contracts and record any fair value adjustmentsimConsolidated Statements of Operations andrifConsolidated Balance Sheets. Gains
losses associated with currency rate changes agelemhtracts that are non-designated under thewdtative guidance for derivatives and
hedging are recorded within other income (expemsat),offsetting foreign exchange gains and lossesur monetary assets and liabilities.
Gains and losses associated with currency rategelsaon hedge contracts that are designated casth@ddges under the authoritative guidance
for derivatives and hedging are recorded within clative other comprehensive income until the relatasenue, costs of revenue, or expenses
are recognized.
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On October 21, 2008, the Board of Directors appiig¥ans to repurchase shares of our common stattleiopen market. During the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, we dicpotchase any shares of common stock under fhisalease authorization. As
December 31, 2010, we were authorized to purchage an additional 4.8 million shares under theshapurchase plan. See Note 10 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements foseaudision of the accounting for our common stockimepases. The stock repurch:
authorization does not have an expiration dateti@gace of repurchase activity will depend onawsifactors including, but not limited to,
such factors as levels of cash generation fromatipers, cash requirements for acquisitions, anceatistock price. Although we did not
repurchase any shares of common stock under fisalease authorization during the years ended Dieee1, 2010 and 2009, we
repurchased approximately 32,000 shares or $73&0D60mmon stock related to the lapse of restristedk units during the year ended
December 31, 2010.

Based on our current plans and market conditioesh@lieve that our existing cash, cash equivakemisshort-term investments will be
sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requieats for the foreseeable future. However, we cabhaatertain that our planned levels of
revenue, costs and expenses will be achievedrlbperating results fail to meet our expectations we fail to manage our inventory,
accounts receivable or other assets, we coulddueres to seek additional funding through publigdwate financings or other arrangements.
In addition, as we continue to expand our prodfferimgs, channels and geographic presence, weretpyre additional working capital. In
such event, adequate funds may not be available wlieded or may not be available on favorable mmgercially acceptable terms, which
could have a negative effect on our business asdtseof operations.

Backlog

As of December 31, 2010, we had a backlog of apprately $82.4 million, as compared to approximatk#p.6 million as of
December 31, 2009, primarily due to supply constsaand greater product demand in the three mamtied December 31, 2010. Our backlog
consists of products for which customer purchadersrhave been received and that are scheduledtoe process of being scheduled for
shipment. While we expect to fulfill the order blokwithin the current year, most orders are suthif@cescheduling or cancellation with little
or no penalties. Because of the possibility of comtr changes in product scheduling or order caatgatl, our backlog as of any particular date
may not be an indicator of net sales for any sutiogeperiod.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arragements
Contractual Obligations
The following table describes our commitments titles@on-cancelable lease and purchase commitnasr$ December 31, 2010.

More Than
Less Than 1-3 3-5
1 Year Years Years 5 Years Total
(In thousands)
Operating leases, net of sublease paymer $ 6,401 $9,871 $7,87¢ $ 9,63¢ $ 33,787
Purchase obligations $160,35( $ — $ — $ — $160,35(

$166,75: $9,87i $7,87¢ $ 9,63t $194,13°

We lease office space, cars and equipment undecaiocelable operating leases with various expmadiates through December 2026.
Rent expense was $6.4 million for the year endeckBer 31, 2010, $6.2 million for the year endedddgber 31, 2009, and $6.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2008. The terms of sbthe office leases provide for rental paymems@raduated scale. We recognize rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the leasedyemnd have accrued for rent expense incurreddupaid. The amounts presented are
consistent with contractual terms and are not exgpkto differ significantly, unless a substantiaaoge in our headcount needs requires us to
exit an office facility early or expand our occugpigpace.
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We enter into various inventory-related purchageagents with suppliers. Generally, under theseeagents, 50% of the orders are
cancelable by giving notice 46 to 60 days priothi® expected shipment date and 25% of orders acelzble by giving notice 31 to 45 days
prior to the expected shipment date. Orders areantelable within 30 days prior to the expectddrabnt date. At December 31, 2010, we
had $160.4 million in non-cancelable purchase camemts with suppliers. We expect to sell all praddor which we have committed
purchases from suppliers.

We adopted the guidance related to the recogrdimhmeasurement of uncertain tax positions on #griy&007. As of December 31,
2010 and December 31, 2009, we had $19.8 millieh%r8.0 million, respectively, of total gross uroguized tax benefits and related interest.
The timing of any payments that could result frdveste unrecognized tax benefits will depend upomnaber of factors. Accordingly, the
timing of payment cannot be estimated. The possdilaction in liabilities for uncertain tax posit®in multiple jurisdictions in the next 12
months is approximately $5.3 million, excluding theerest, penalties and the effect of any relateférred tax assets or liabilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2010, we did not have any offhee sheet arrangements as defined in Item 3@3(i&) of SEC Regulation S-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Finand&ksents for recent accounting pronouncements;hndrie hereby incorporated by
reference into this Part Il, Item 7.

Iltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk
Interest Rate Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun investment portfolio. We have an investmentfpdic of fixed income securities that
are classified as “available-for-sale” securitielsese securities, like all fixed income instrumeatg subject to interest rate risk and will fall i
value if market interest rates increase. We attémfpmit this exposure by investing primarily ifghly rated short-term securities. Our
investment policy requires investments to be raipte-A with the objective of minimizing the potéal risk of principal loss. Due to the short
duration and conservative nature of our investrpentfolio, a movement of 10% by market interesésatould not have a material impact on
our operating results and the total value of thefplio over the next fiscal year. We monitor onterest rate and credit risks, including our
credit exposure to specific rating categories anddividual issuers. There were no impairment gharon our investments during fiscal 2010.

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk

We invoice some of our international customeriign currencies including, but not limited toe thustralian dollar, British pound,
euro, and Japanese yen. As the customers thatigeatty invoiced in local currency become a largercentage of our business, or to the
extent we begin to bill additional customers irefign currencies, the impact of fluctuations in fgneexchange rates could have a more
significant impact on our results of operationst fwse customers in our international marketswreatontinue to sell to in U.S. dollars, an
increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relativéareign currencies could make our products mapeesive and therefore reduce the demand
for our products. Such a decline in the demanaéwmproducts could reduce sales and negatively étnpar operating results. Certain opera
expenses of our foreign operations require paynmethie local currencies.
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We are exposed to risks associated with foreighaxge rate fluctuations due to our internationkdssand operating activities. These
exposures may change over time as business pmetiodve and could negatively impact our operategylts and financial condition. We
began using foreign currency forward contract daies in the fourth quarter of 2008 to partialffset our business exposure to foreign
exchange risk on our foreign currency denominassets and liabilities. Additionally, in the secandhrter of 2009 we began entering into
certain foreign currency forward contracts thatdhbeen designated as cash flow hedges under therigative guidance for derivatives and
hedging to partially offset our business exposar®teign exchange risk on portions of our antitépaforeign currency revenue, costs of
revenue, and certain operating expenses. The olgeaxftthese foreign currency forward contract®iseduce the impact of currency exchange
rate movements on our operating results by offsgtiains and losses on the forward contracts witteases or decreases in foreign currency
transactions. The contracts are marked-to-market monthly basis with gains and losses includesthier income (expense), net in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, and in catinel other comprehensive income on the ConsolidBsdance Sheets. We do not use
foreign currency contracts for speculative or tngdburposes. Hedging of our balance sheet andgatic cash flow exposures may not alw
be effective to protect us against currency exchaatg fluctuations. In addition, we do not fullydge our balance sheet and anticipated cash
flow exposures, leaving us at risk to foreign exaegains and losses on the un-hedged exposutksréfwere an adverse movement in
exchange rates, we might suffer significant losSe& Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Finar8tatements for additional disclosure on our
foreign currency contracts, which are hereby inocaifed by reference into this Part II, Item 7A.

As of December 31, 2010, we had net assets inustaxal currencies. A hypothetical 10% movemerbirign exchange rates would
result in an after-tax positive or negative impaic$428,000 to net income, net of our hedged pwmsitat December 31, 2010. Actual future
gains and losses associated with our foreign cayrerposures and positions may differ materialbnfrthe sensitivity analyses performed a
December 31, 2010 due to the inherent limitatissoeiated with predicting the foreign currency exae rates, and our actual exposures and
positions. For the year ended December 31, 2019, dftotal net revenue was denominated in a cuyretieer than the U.S. dollar.
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ltem 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and SupplementBgta
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of NETGEAR, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15(g@x@sent fairly, in all material respe«
the financial position of NETGEAR, Inc. and its sitharies at December 31, 2010 and December 38,20@ the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three yeatbhérperiod ended December 31, 2010 in conformitlg eccounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addjtin our opinion, the financial statement schedisked in the index appearing under Item 15
(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material resped® information set forth therein when read in canfion with the related consolidated financial
statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maiet, in all material respects, effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2010, based on criteria establishédémal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOg Tbhmpany’s management is responsible for thesadial statements and financial
statement schedule, for maintaining effective imaércontrol over financial reporting and for itsassment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in Mareagent’'s Report on Internal Control over FinanciapBrting under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on theserfaial statements, on the financial statement sdeedad on the Company'’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our integrateditsuWe conducted our audits in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thdsedards require that we plan and perform the sadibbtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement and whether effective internal mbmiver financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Our audits of the finahstatements included examining, on a test bagidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessagccounting principles used and significantesties made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. Quditeof internal control over financial reportingcluded obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing thk tiigt a material weakness exists, and testingeaatliating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on thessskrisk. Our audits also included performing setbler procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe thaaadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclsddose policies and procedures that (i) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readslaassurance regarding prevention or timely dieteaf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, CA
February 28, 2011

54



Table of Contents

NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS

Current assett

Cash and cash equivalel

Shor-term investment

Accounts receivable, n

Inventories

Deferred income taxe

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r
Intangibles, ne
Goodwill
Other nor-current asseti

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued employee compensati
Other accrued liabilitie
Deferred revenu
Income taxes payab
Total current liabilities
Non-current income taxes payal
Other nor-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock: $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shartsrized in 2010 and 2009; none outstandin@02r
2009
Common stock: $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 stertt®rized in 2010 and 2009; shares issuec
outstanding: 36,173,406 in 2010 and 34,732,57D09:
Additional paic-in capital
Cumulative other comprehensive inco
Retained earning
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2010

2009

$126,17.  $172,20:
144,56 74,80¢
226,73. 162,85
127,39 90,59(
19,33: 13,34
23,85( 20,83t
668,04 534,72
17,50" 16,89
6,241 8,29¢
74,19 64,90¢
14,33 8,29¢
$780,32:  $633,12:
$ 89,158 $ 69,08
24,13( 11,04(
110,41 87,89:
27,53¢ 22,10¢
3,48 5,48¢
254,72. 195,60
19,71¢ 17,47¢
5,44: 5,88(
279,88 218,96t
36 35
316,10¢ 280,25t
281 24
184,01 133,83
500,43( 414,15
$780,32:  $633,12:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net revenue

Cost of revenu

Gross profi

Operating expense
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati\
Restructuring
In-process research and developn
Technology license arrangeme
Litigation reserves, ne

Total operating expens

Income from operation

Interest income, ne

Other income (expense), r

Income before income tax

Provision for income taxe

Net income

Net income per shar
Basic

Diluted

NETGEAR, INC.

(In thousands, except per share data)

Weighted average shares outstanding used to comptitecome per shar

Basic
Diluted

Year Ended December 31,

2010

2009

2008

$902,05.  $686,59!  $743,34:
602,80 480,19 502,32
299,24’ 206,40 241,02
39,97: 30,05¢ 33,77:
131,57( 106,16 121,68°
36,22( 32,72 31,73

(88) 80¢ 1,92¢

— — 1,80(

— 2,50( —

211 2,08( 711
207,88t 174,33 191,63
91,36 32,06¢ 49,39

42€ 62¢ 4,33¢

(564) (128) (8,38¢)
91,22 32,56 45,34
40,31 23,23 27,29:
$50,00¢ $ 933° $ 18,05(
$ 14 $ 027 $ 051
$ 141 $ 027 $ 051
35,38t 34,48t 35,21
36,12 34,84 35,61¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands)

Cumulative
Common Stock Other
Additional Comprehensive
Paid-In Retained
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Total
Balance at December 31, 20C 35,24 $ 35 $252,42: $ 101 $118,96¢ $371,52:
Comprehensive incom:
Change in unrealized gains and losses on ave-
for-sale securities, net of ti — — — (39 — (39
Net income — — — — 18,05( 18,05(
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — 18,01¢
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — 11,20¢ — — 11,20¢
Purchase and retirement of common si (1,17¢) (D) — — (12,229 (12,230
Issuance of common stock under stock-based
compensation plar 214 — 2,36z — — 2,36:
Tax benefit from exercises and cancellations aoflsto
options — — 81 — — 81
Balance at December 31, 20C 34,28( 34 266,07( 67 124,78 390,95¢
Comprehensive incom
Change in unrealized gains and losses on available-
for-sale securities, net of t: — — — (63) — (63)
Change in unrealized gains and losses on
derivatives, net of ta — — — 20 — 20
Net income — — — — 9,33: 9,33:
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — 9,29(
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — 11,05¢ — — 11,05¢
Purchase and retirement of common si (22) — — — (282) (282)
Issuance of common stock under stock-based
compensation plar 474 1 2,991 — — 2,99:
Tax benefit from exercises and cancellations aoflsto
options — — 13€ — — 13€
Balance at December 31, 20C 34,73: 35 280,25¢ 24 133,83 414,15!
Comprehensive incom
Change in unrealized gains and losses on available-
for-sale securities, net of t: — — — 4 — 4
Change in unrealized gains and losses on
derivatives, net of ta — — — 253 — 258
Net income — — — — 50,90¢ 50,90¢
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — 51,16¢
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — 12,17: — — 12,177
Purchase and retirement of common si (32 — — — (73€) (73€)
Issuance of common stock under s-basec
compensation plar 1,47 1 20,11¢ — — 20,11°
Tax benefit from exercises and cancellations oflsto
options — — 3,55¢ — — 3,55¢
Balance at December 31, 201 36,17 $ 36 $316,10¢ $ 281 $184,01: $500,43¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie!
Depreciation and amortizatic
Purchase premium amortization (discount accretionvestment
Non-cash stoc-based compensati
Income tax benefit associated with stock optiorr@ses and cancellatiol
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic
Deferred income taxe
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effectanfuisitions
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued employee compensati
Other accrued liabilitie
Deferred revenu
Income taxes payab
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of shi-term investment
Proceeds from sale of sh-term investment
Purchase of property and equipm
Loans issued, net of loan repi
Payments for paten
Cost method investme
Payments made in connection with business acauisi
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activities:
Purchase and retirement of common si
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under eraglstock purchase pli
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of p¢
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of pe

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for income tax

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
$ 50,90¢ $ 9,33t  $ 18,05(
13,43¢ 12,36( 13,26:
46¢ @) 56
12,20: 11,02 11,32:
3,55¢ 13€ 81
(3,470) (86¢) (142)
(8,43%) (4,865) (2,029
(63,87%) (24,57%) 19,49(
(36,809 21,65( (29,135
(3,220) 102 (2,175
20,07+ 9,00¢ 4,74
13,09( 3,86¢ (8,90¢)
21,79¢ (272) 4,947
5,437 59¢ 13,88¢
1,197 10,61( 4,08¢
26,35! 48,09; 47,52;
(185,12 (89,827 (10,139
115,00( 25,00( 37,70(
(8,720 (3,945) (15,390
(102) — —
(1,270 — —
(3,009 — —
(12,000) (3,539 (24,63Y)
(95,229 (72,31 (12,459
(739) (282) (12,229
18,91¢ 1,861 1,00¢
1,207 1,12¢ 1,35¢
3,47C 86¢ 14z
22,84¢ 3,57 (9,725
(46,029 (20,637 25,34
172,20; 192,83 167,49
$126,17.  $172,20.  $192,83¢
$ 4408:  $14,40: $ 2517;

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—The Company and Summary of Significant Accauting Policies:
The Company

NETGEAR, Inc. (“NETGEAR” or the “Company”) was ingmrated in Delaware in January 1996. The Compsuayglobal networking
company that delivers innovative products to conuiaébusinesses, home users, and broadband sereiciglers. For commercial businesses,
the Company provides networking, storage and sgcswiutions without the cost and complexity of BIg For consumers, the Company
makes high performance, dependable and easy hamerking, storage and digital media products tormant people with the Internet and t
content and devices. The Company also suppliebrimgdband service providers with retail proven, lwhwme solutions for their customers.
The Company'’s products are built on a variety afvyen technologies such as wireless, Ethernet amgtiae, with a focus on reliability and
ease-of-use. The Company sells products primdrifyugh a global sales channel network, which inetuladitional retailers, online retailers,
wholesale distributors, direct market resellerdDbiRs, value added resellers, or VARSs, and broadlsanvice providers.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiestade the accounts of the Company and its whmlyed subsidiaries. All inter-
company accounts and transactions have been etediimathe consolidation of these subsidiaries.

Fiscal periods

The Company'’s fiscal year begins on January 1®f/tar stated and ends on December 31 of the saaneThe Company reports its
results on a fiscal quarter basis rather than cadendar quarter basis. Under the fiscal quartsishaach of the first three fiscal quarters ends
on the Sunday closest to the calendar quarternvettdthe fourth quarter ending on December 31.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally accepteth@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assus it affect the reported amounts of assetsiabifities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the finamstialements and the reported amounts of revenuksxgenses during the reported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith a maturity at the time of purchase of thre@nths or less to be cash equivale
The Company deposits cash and cash equivalentsigithcredit quality financial institutions.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments are comprised of marketsdterities that consist of government securitigh an original maturity or a
remaining maturity at the time of purchase, of ggethan three months and no more than 12 monthsmakketable securities are held in the
Company’s name with one high quality financial ington, which acts as the Company’s custodianiamdstment manager. All of the
Company’s marketable securities are classified/agable-forsale securities in accordance with the provisidrth® authoritative guidance f
investments and are carried at fair value with alized gains and losses reported as a separateocempof stockholders’ equity.
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Certain risks and uncertainties

The Company’s products are concentrated in thear&tng industry, which is characterized by rapidhieological advances, changes in
customer requirements and evolving regulatory mequénts and industry standards. The success @dhgany depends on management’s
ability to anticipate and/or to respond quickly amtkquately to technological developments in idaigtry, changes in customer requirement
changes in regulatory requirements or industrydsteds. Any significant delays in the developmenintnoduction of products could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s businedgaerating results.

The Company relies on a limited number of thirdtiearto manufacture all of its products. If anytled Company’s third-party
manufacturers cannot or will not manufacture idoicts in required volumes, on a cost-effectivasyas a timely manner, or at all, the
Company will have to secure additional manufacdapacity. Any interruption or delay in manufaatgrcould have a material adverse ef
on the Company’s business and operating results.

Derivative financial instruments

As discussed in Note 5, the Company uses foreigeieay forward contracts to manage the exposuréséign exchange risk related to
expected future cash flows on certain forecastedmee, costs of revenue, operating expenses, andrtain existing assets and liabilities.
Foreign currency forward contracts generally matitgin five months of inception. Under its foreigarrency risk management strategy, the
Company utilizes derivative instruments to reddreeiimpact of currency exchange rate movementse@tmpany’s operating results by
offsetting gains and losses on the forward cordradth increases or decreases in foreign currerarysactions. The company does not use
derivative financial instruments for speculativegmses.

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumasteither assets or liabilities and records thefaiavalue. Derivatives that are not
defined as hedges in the authoritative guidancedoivatives and hedging must be adjusted to finesthrough earnings. For derivative
instruments that hedge the exposure to variabiligxpected future cash flows that are designasezhah flow hedges, the effective portion of
the gain or loss on the derivative instrument goreed as a component of cumulative other compgherncome in stockholders’ equity and
reclassified into earnings in the same period oiopgs during which the hedged transaction affeatsiags. The ineffective portion of the gain
or loss on the derivative instrument is recognizecurrent earnings. To receive hedge accountegfnent, cash flow hedges must be highly
effective in offsetting changes to expected futtash flows on hedged transactions. For derivatiessgnated as cash flow hedges, changes in
the time value are excluded from the assessmeredife effectiveness and are recognized in earnings.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to a concentration of credit risk consistash and cash equivalents, shertn
investments and accounts receivable. The Compdievbe that there is minimal credit risk associatétth the investment of its cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments, due teodbiictions placed on the type of investment tzet be entered into under the Company’s
investment policy. The Company'’s short-term investis consist of investment-grade securities, aacCttmpany’s cash and investments are
held and managed by recognized financial institigio

The Companys customers are primarily distributors as welletaiters and broadband service providers who selistribute the produc
to a large group of end-users. The Company mammtainallowance for doubtful accounts for estimdosdes resulting from the inability of the
Company’s customers to make required paymentsChmepany regularly performs credit evaluations ef @ompany’s customers’ financial
condition and considers factors such as histoggpérience, credit quality, age of the accountsivable balances, geographic or country-
specific risks and current economic conditions thay affect customersibility to pay, and, generally, requires no collatérom its customer:
The Company secures credit insurance for certatoouers in international markets.
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The Company is exposed to credit loss in the eskEnbnperformance by counterparties to the foreigmency forward contracts used to
mitigate the effect of foreign currency exchange hanges. The Company believes the counterpéotiés outstanding contracts are large,
financially sound institutions and thus, the Compdoes not anticipate nonperformance by these eopatties. However, given the recent,
unprecedented turbulence in the financial markbésfailure of additional counterparties is possibl

The following table summarizes the percentage ®Cbmpany’s total accounts receivable representediftomers with balances in
excess of 10% of its total accounts receivablef &ecember 31, 2010 and 2009.

December 31

2010 2009
Best Buy Co., Inc. and Affiliate 25% 26%
Wal-mart Stores, Inc 11% 6%

Fair value measurements

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financiatrimaents, including cash equivalents, short-termestments, accounts receivable,
and accounts payable approximate their fair vatiuesto their short maturities. Foreign currencyviand contracts are recorded at fair value
based on observable market data. See Note 13 dfdtes to Consolidated Financial Statements farlaésires regarding fair value
measurements in accordance with the authoritativdegice for fair value measurements and disclosures

Cost method investments and loans receivable

In the three months ended June 27, 2010, the Compade a $3.0 million loan to a third party thasvesassified within prepaid and
other current assets. The loan was repaid in ttee thonths ended December 31, 2010.

In the three months ended December 31, 2010, thep@oy made a $3.0 million cost method investmeattithclassified within other
non-current assets.

The Company measures its cost method investmedt®ans receivable at fair value quarterly; howetteey are recorded at fair value
only when an impairment charge is recognized. Ngaiinment charges have been recognized relatee tGampanys cost method investmer
and loans receivable in the years ended Decemh@030. The Company did not have cost method invests or loans receivable prior to the
year ended December 31, 20

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfubaots for estimated losses resulting from the iitglwf its customers to make
required payments. The Company regularly perforraditevaluations of its customers’ financial cdiwti and considers factors such as
historical experience, credit quality, age of thkeaunts receivable balances, and geographic ottigespecific risks and economic conditions
that may affect a customer’s ability to pay. ThHewséance for doubtful accounts is reviewed quartarig adjusted if necessary based on the
Company’s assessments of its customers’ abilipyap If the financial condition of the Company’sstamers should deteriorate or if actual
defaults are higher than the Company’s historigpbéence, additional allowances may be requirddckvcould have an adverse impact on
operating expenses.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of finished goods elhiare valued at the lower of cost or market, wikt being determined using the first-
in, first-out method. The Company writes down itggntories based on estimated excess and obsoletetories determined primarily by
future demand forecasts. At the point of loss redam, a new, lower cost basis for that inventsrgstablished, and subsequent changes in
facts and circumstances do not result in the rastor or increase in that newly established cosisba
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Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historicd| tess accumulated depreciation. Depreciatiomisputed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assefollows:

Computer equipmet 2 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years

Software 2-5 years

Machinery and equipmel 2-3 years

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the lease term or 5 ye

Recoverability of assets to be held and used issured by comparing the carrying amount of an asstste estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected to be generated bysbetalf the carrying amount of the asset excdsdsstimated undiscounted future net cash
flows, an impairment charge is recognized by thewm by which the carrying amount of the asset easdhe fair value of the asset. The
carrying value of the asset is reviewed on a redais for the existence of facts, both intermal external, that may suggest impairment.
Charges related to the impairment of property andpnent were not material in the years ended Deeerdl, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

Goodwill

The Company performs an annual goodwill impairntest in the fourth quarter of each year. Shoultbgeevents or indicators of
impairment occur between annual impairment telstssQompany will perform the impairment test as ¢hegents or indicators occur. Examg
of such events or circumstances include the folgwa significant decline in the Compagsgxpected future cash flows; a sustained, sigamit
decline in the Company’s stock price and markettabpation; a significant adverse change in theibess climate; the testing for
recoverability of a significant asset group; armv@r growth rates. For purposes of impairmentngsthe Company has determined that it has
only one reporting unit.

The goodwill impairment test involves a two-stepgass. In the first step, the Company estimate€tmepanys fair value and compar
the fair value with the carrying value of the Compa net assets. If the fair value is greater ttiencarrying value of the Compasyiet asset
then no impairment results. If the fair value issi¢han its carrying value, then the Company wepeldorm the second step and determine the
fair value of the goodwill. In this second stepe #imount of impairment is determined by comparivegitnplied fair value to the carrying value
of the goodwill in the same manner as if the Congpaas being acquired in a business combinationciSpaly, the Company would allocate
the fair value to all of the Company’s assets datgillties, including any unrecognized intangibksats, in a hypothetical analysis that would
calculate the implied fair value of goodwill. Ifahimplied fair value of goodwill is less than tleeorded goodwill, an impairment charge would
be recorded to earnings in the Consolidated Statenod Operations.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compaawpleted the annual impairment test of goodwillcémducting the impairment test, the
Company determined that the Company’s fair valuesed the carrying value of the Company’s netsifgeapproximately 101%. No
goodwill impairment loss was recognized in the geanded December 31, 2010, 2009 or 2008.

Long-lived assets

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives amergized using the straight-line method over thérested economic lives of the assets,
which range from two to ten years. Purchased inkd@@ssets determined to have indefinite usefekliare not amortized. Long-lived assets,
including property and equipment and intangibleetsssare reviewed for impairment whenever eventhanges in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of such assets may not be ezable. Such conditions may include an economicndiorm or a change in the assessme
future operations. Determination of recoverabilitypased on an estimate of undiscounted
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future cash flows resulting from the use of theetasd its eventual disposition. If the aggregaigiscounted cash flows are less than the
carrying value of the assets, the resulting impairhtharge to be recorded is calculated basedeoexttess of the carrying value of the assets
over the fair value of such assets, with the falue determined based on an estimate of discodutieet cash flows. Long-lived assets to be
disposed of are reported at the lower of carryimgant or fair value less costs to sell. The cagyialue of the asset is reviewed on a regular
basis for the existence of facts, both internal extérnal, that may suggest impairment.

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 208& were no events or changes in circumstanegéntiicated the carrying amount
of the Company’s long-lived assets may not be rece from their undiscounted cash flows. Consetiyiethe Company did not perform an
impairment test or record an impairment of its ldingd assets during those periods.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, a key employee resjile for managing the asset group acquired imeotion with the Company’s 2006
acquisition of Skipjam Corp. departed the Compdine departure of this employee, along with the meeeonomic environment, resulted in
the Company’s decision to reduce efforts gearedaaketing the related products. As a result, them@any performed an impairment analysis
of these long-lived assets during the fourth quart®008. Based on the results of the analysesQbmpany recorded an impairment charge,
which was classified in cost of revenue in the @tidated Statements of Operations, of $458,008ényear ended December 31, 2008 for the
net carrying value of intangibles acquired in catim& with the Company’s 2006 acquisition of Skipj&orp.

The Company will continue to evaluate the carrywafue of its long-lived assets and if it determiirethe future that there is a potential
further impairment, the Company may be requiredttmrd additional charges to earnings which coffecathe Company’s financial results.

Product warranties

The Company provides for estimated future warrattjgations at the time revenue is recognized. Company’s standard warranty
obligation to its direct customers generally pr@ador a right of return of any product for a fidfund in the event that such product is not
merchantable or is found to be damaged or defechi/the time revenue is recognized, an estimafetofe warranty returns is recorded to
reduce revenue in the amount of the expected avedéfund to be provided to its direct custom@étshe time the Company records the
reduction to revenue related to warranty retutms,Gompany includes within cost of revenue a wditeén to reduce the carrying value of such
products to net realizable value. The Company'sdsted warranty obligation to its engers provides for replacement of a defective profiu
one or more years. Factors that affect the warrabligation include product failure rates, matetishge, and service delivery costs incurred in
correcting product failures. The estimated cospeissed with fulfilling the Company’s warranty ofpition to end-users is recorded in cost of
revenue. Because the Company’s products are mduatdddy third-party manufacturers, in certain sabe Company has recourse to the
third-party manufacturer for replacement or créalitthe defective products. The Company gives aersition to amounts recoverable from its
third-party manufacturers in determining its watyaiability. Changes in the Company’s warrantybiidty, which is included as a component
of “Other accrued liabilities” in the consolidatedlance sheets, are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009

Balance as of beginning of the per $ 30,61( $ 28,60
Provision for warranty liability made during therjoel 61,85« 43,08:
Settlements made during the per (51,95) (41,080
Balance at end of peric $ 40,51 $ 30,61(
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Revenue recognition

Revenue from product sales is generally recogrétéle time the product is shipped provided thasymesive evidence of an arrangement
exists, title and risk of loss has transferrechid¢ustomer, the selling price is fixed or deteable and collection of the related receivable is
reasonably assured. Currently, for some of the Gmy's customers, title passes to the customer dptivery to the port or country of
destination, upon their receipt of the productupon the customer’s resale of the product. At tiie@&f each fiscal quarter, the Company
estimates and defers revenue related to produateviitie has not transferred. The revenue continoid® deferred until such time that title
passes to the customer. The Company assessegatuligcbased on a number of factors, includingg@l economic and market conditions,
past transaction history with the customer, andcteditworthiness of the customer. If the Compaetedmines that collection of the fee is not
reasonably assured, then the Company defers trenteeecognizes revenue upon receipt of payment.

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upd&8U) No. 2009-13,
“Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements” (ASUO2013). The guidance eliminates the residual metiaodvenue recognition and allows
the use of management’s best estimate of sellig for individual elements of an arrangement whendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOE") or third-party evidence (“TPE") is unavable. Concurrently to issuing ASU 2009-13, the FAS® issued ASU No. 2009-14,
“Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include SoftviEements”. ASU 2009-14 excludes software thabigtained on a tangible product from
the scope of software revenue guidance if the sofhvis essential to the tangible product’s funetityp. The Company elected to early adopt
these standards at the beginning of its first quant fiscal year 2010 on a prospective basis fiplieable transactions originating or materially
modified after January 1, 2010.

The Company has an insignificant amount of prodéfetrings with multiple elements. The Company’s tiplé-element product offering
include networking hardware with embedded softweaeious software subscription services, and suppdiich are considered separate units
of accounting. In general, the networking hardwaite embedded software is delivered up front, whiile subscription services and suppor
delivered over the subscription and support peffde: Company allocates revenue to the softwargetalbles and the non-software
deliverables (including software deliverables whighction together with hardware deliverables tovile the producs essential functionalit
based upon their relative selling price. Revenigeated to each unit of accounting is then recogphiwhen persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, title and risk of loss hassfeamed to the customer, the selling price is figedleterminable and collection of the related
receivable is reasonably assured.

When applying the relative selling price metho@, @ompany determines the selling price for eacivelable using its best estimate of
selling price (“ESP”), as the Company has deterdhihés unable to establish VSOE of selling pricel®E of selling price for the deliverables.
The objective of ESP is to determine the price lsitivthe Company would transact a sale if the dedible were sold on a stand-alone basis.
The Company determines ESP for a deliverable bgidening multiple factors including, but not limitéo, market conditions, competitive
landscape, internal costs, gross margin objectinespricing practices. The determination of ESRasle through consultation with and formal
approval by the Company’s management, taking iotesitleration the go-to-market strategy.

The adoption of the new revenue recognition acdngrgtandards did not have a material impact orCiw@panys consolidated financi
position, results of operations, or cash flowstfe year ended December 31, 2010. The new accowtindards for revenue recognition if
applied in the same manner to the year ended Dezreddh 2009 and 2008 would not have had a materjzdct on total net revenues for those
fiscal years.

Certain distributors and retailers generally hdeeright to return product for stock rotation pwses. Upon shipment of the product, the
Company reduces revenue for an estimate of potdatiae product warranty and stock rotation returelated to the current period product
revenue. Management analyzes historical returns,
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channel inventory levels, current economic trenu$ @hanges in customer demand for the Companytiugts when evaluating the adequacy
of the allowance for sales returns, namely warramty stock rotation returns. Revenue on shipmerdtso reduced for estimated price
protection and sales incentives deemed to be coetenue under the authoritative guidance for raeaecognition.

Sales incentives

The Company accrues for sales incentives as a tivaglexpense if it receives an identifiable benfiexchange and can reasonably
estimate the fair value of the identifiable benediteived; otherwise, it is recorded as a redudbaievenues. As a consequence, the Company
records a substantial portion of its channel mamigetosts as a reduction of revenue.

The Company records estimated reductions to reefmesales incentives at the later of when thateel revenue is recognized or when
the program is offered to the customer or end amesu

Shipping and handling fees and costs

The Company includes shipping and handling fedsdtb customers in net revenue. Shipping and liragndbsts associated with inbot
freight are included in cost of revenue. In cashen the Company gives a freight allowance to ttstaener for their own inbound freight
costs, such costs are appropriately recorded edution in net revenue. Shipping and handlingscassociated with outbound freight are
included in sales and marketing expenses and tb§dl#.4 million, $11.0 million and $12.5 million the years ended December 31, 2010,
and 2008 respectively.

Research and development
Costs incurred in the research and developmengwfproducts are charged to expense as incurred.

Technology license arrangements
The Company expenses the licensing of softwarentdofies intended to be integrated into certainriproducts if those products have
not yet reached technological feasibility and therised software does not have alternative futsee u
The Company did not incur any expenses relateedonology license arrangements in the years endedrbber 31, 2010 and 2008.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyngiatered into a $2.5 million arrangement to lieeasrtain software technologies
that the Company may integrate into certain fupraucts. At that time, the Company had not yedtdisthed the technological feasibility of
these products, and the Company did not believedfterare had an alternative future use. As suehClompany expensed the entire
technology license arrangement amount of $2.5anilin the year ended December 31, 2009.

Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Totarising and promotional expenses were $19.3anijl$14.4 million, and
$17.0 million in the years ended December 31, 20009 and 2008, respectively.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under am asddiability approach. Under this method, incaire expense is recognized for
the amount of taxes payable or refundable for theeat year. In addition, deferred tax assets sfudlities are recognized for the expected
future tax consequences of temporary differences
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resulting from different treatment for tax versgs@unting for certain items, such as accruals dodiances not currently deductible for tax
purposes. These differences result in deferredsagts and liabilities, which are included withiia tonsolidated balance sheet. The Company
must then assess the likelihood that the Compatefarred tax assets will be recovered from futaxable income and to the extent the
Company believes that recovery is not more likebntnot, the Company must establish a valuatiawalhce.

In the ordinary course of business there is inhtaranertainty in assessing the Companpcome tax positions. The Company assess
tax positions and records benefits for all yealjestt to examination based on management’s evatuafithe facts, circumstances and
information available at the reporting date. Farsthtax positions where it is more likely than thait a tax benefit will be sustained, the
Company records the largest amount of tax bendtfit avgreater than 50 percent likelihood of beiaglized upon ultimate settlement with a
taxing authority that has full knowledge of alleehnt information. For those income tax positiome¥e it is not more likely than not that a tax
benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit has beeorded in the financial statements. Where applicassociated interest and penalties have
also been recognized as a component of incomexfzense.

Computation of net income per share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome by the weighted average number of conshares outstanding for the
period. Diluted net income per share reflects ttditeonal dilution from potential issuances of coomrstock, such as stock issuable pursua
the exercise of stock options and awards. Potgntdutive shares are excluded from the computatibdiluted net income per share when
their effect is anti-dilutive.

Stock-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopteddinealue recognition provisions of the updatethattative guidance for stock
compensation, using the modified prospective ttemmsimethod. Under this transition method, stockdshcompensation expense for the years
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 includes compemsxipense for all stock-based compensation awgratged prior to, but not yet vested
as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant datedhie estimated in accordance with the originaljsions of the authoritative guidance for
stock compensation. Stock-based compensation egfenall stockbased compensation awards granted on or after 3Jabu2006 is based «
the grantdate fair value estimated in accordance with tlewipions of the updated authoritative guidancesfock compensation. The valuat
provisions also apply to grants that are modifigdralanuary 1, 2006. The Company recognizes tb@sgensation costs on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period of the dwahich is generally the option vesting term affgears. The Company will recognize an
excess benefit from stock-based compensation iityeloased on the difference between tax expenseuted with consideration of the
windfall deduction and without consideration of thimdfall deduction. In addition, the Company acatsufor the indirect effects of stodlaset
compensation on the research tax credit and theggiotax credit in the income statement. See Notefthe Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for a further discussion on stock-baeetpensation.

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income consists of net income anel gifins and losses affecting stockholder’s egh#y the Company excluded from
net income, including gains and losses relateditosBlue of short-term investments and the eféecgiortion of cash flow hedges that were
outstanding as of the end of the year.

Foreign currency translation

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. dditat all of its international subsidiaries. Fomeigurrency transactions of international
subsidiaries are re-measured into U.S. dollarseaehd-of-period exchange rates for monetary aaset$iabilities, and historical exchange
rates for non-monetary assets.
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Expenses are re-measured at average exchang@raftest during each period, except for expenségted to non-monetary assets, which are
re-measured at historical exchange rates. Revemagrieasured at average exchange rates in effect deaicty period. Gains and losses ari
from foreign currency transactions are includetbial comprehensive income and were a net los48®$00 for the year ended December 31,
2010, a net gain of $954,000 for the year endeceBbber 31, 2009 and a net loss of $7.2 million fieryear ended December 31, 2008.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stassl&lpdate (ASU) No. 2009-13, “Multiple-Deliverali®evenue
Arrangements” (ASU 2009-13). The guidance elimigdkte residual method of revenue recognition aludvalthe use of management’s best
estimate of selling price for individual elemenfsn arrangement when vendor-specific objectiveevte (“VSOE”) or third-party evidence
(“TPE") is unavailable. Concurrently to issuing A2009-13, the FASB also issued ASU No. 2009-14 rt&ie Revenue Arrangements That
Include Software Elements” (ASU 2009-14). ASU 2d@Pexcludes software that is contained on a taegibdduct from the scope of software
revenue guidance if the software is essentialedahgible product’s functionality. The Companycéel to early adopt these standards at the
beginning of its first quarter of fiscal year 20d9 a prospective basis for applicable transactisiggnating or materially modified after
January 1, 2010. These recent accounting pronowrasrare discussed in additional detail in aboed@e “Revenue Recognition” under the
same Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Finaitatements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06pfoving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurenifg®tSU 2010-06). The
guidance provides amendments to Accounting Stasdaedlification 820-10 that require entities to thise separately the amounts of
significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and &k fair value measurements and describe the medsothe transfers. In addition ASU 2010-
06 requires entities to present separately infaonatbout purchases, sales, issuances, and sattiemehe reconciliation for fair value
measurements using significant unobservable infuetgel 3). The disclosures related to Level 1 aegidl 2 fair value measurements are
effective for the Company in 2010 and the disclesuelated to Level 3 fair value measurementsféeetive for the Company in 2011. Since
this update only required additional disclosurks,adoption did not impact the Company’s consadiddinancial position, results of operations
or cash flows in 2010, and is not expected to impgae Company’s consolidated financial positiorsules of operations or cash flows in 2011.

Note 2—Business Acquisitions:
Leaf Networks, LLC

On January 15, 2010, the Company completed theisitiqn of certain intellectual property and otlaessets of Leaf Networks, LLC
(“Leaf"), a developer of virtual networking softwearThe acquisition qualified as a business acdmisénd was accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. The Company beligneacquisition will accelerate the Company’s garihg networking technology
research and development initiatives. The aggrgmaiehase price was $2.1 million, of which $2.0limil was paid in cash in the three months
ended March 28, 2010. Additionally, the acquisitBgreement specified that Leaf shareholders magivea total additional payout of up to
$900,000 in cash over the three years followingwle of the acquisition if developed products gastain acceptance criteria. During the tt
months ended March 28, 2010, the Company had ditednthat the present value of the $900,000 pakatiditional payout was
approximately $800,000, for which the Company witasure at fair value for each reporting periodracdrd a liability. As of December 31,
2010, the Company had determined the acceptartegi@nvere nearing completion, and as such recaadibility of $860,000.

The results of Leaf’s operations have been includete consolidated financial statements sincedtite of acquisition. The historical
results of operations of Leaf prior to the acqigsitwere not material to the Company’s resultspdrations.
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In accordance with the purchase method of accogifitinbusiness combinations, the Company alloctitedotal purchase price to
identifiable intangible assets based on each elésestimated fair value. Acquisition costs werg@enxsed as incurred, and were immaterial for
this transaction. Purchased intangibles, represgtitie existing technology acquired from Leaf, Wil amortized on a straight-line basis over
their respective estimated useful lives. Goodwadlwecorded based on the residual purchase ptareadibcating the purchase price to the fair
market value of intangible assets acquired. Goddwdlse as a result of the $800,000 present valuati the $900,000 potential additional
payout, plus $100,000 in additional payment consitiien. The allocation of the purchase price wafbews (in thousands):

Intangibles, ne $2,00(
Goodwill 90C
Total purchase price allocati $2,90(

Of the $900,000 of goodwill recorded on the acdiaisiof Leaf, approximately $416,000 is deductitiefederal and state income tax
purposes.

The $2.0 million in acquired intangible assets @asignated as existing technology. The value wiasileded based on the present value
of the future estimated cash flows derived fromgutions of future revenue attributable to existiaghnology. This $2.0 million will be
amortized over its estimated useful life of sevearg.

CP Secure International Holding Limited

On December 18, 2008, the Company completed tha@sitign of certain intellectual property and otlesets of CP Secure International
Holding Limited (“CP Secure”), a privately-held pider of integrated network security solutions. Hggregate purchase price was $14
million, paid in cash. Under the terms of the asjigin agreement, CP Secure shareholders receiiedladditional payout of $3.5 million in
cash as developed products passed certain acceiatecia. This additional payout was earned aaid ; the year ended December 31, 2009,
and was accounted for as additional purchase priderecorded as a $3.5 million increase to goodwill

The results of CP Secure’s operations have bedudied in the consolidated financial statementsesthe date of acquisition. The
historical results of operations of CP Secure pioahe acquisition were not material to the Conyparesults of operations.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemmilsct a purchase price of approximately $14.8iom) consisting of cash, and other
costs directly related to the acquisition as folidfim thousands):

Purchase pric $14,00(
Direct acquisition cost 63E
Total consideratiol $14,63¢
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In accordance with the purchase method of accogytiire Company allocated the total purchase padartgible assets, liabilities and
identifiable intangible assets based on their exttioh fair values. Purchased intangibles are anegrtin a straight-line basis over their
respective estimated useful lives. Goodwill wa®rded based on the residual purchase price aftexatihng the purchase price to the fair
market value of tangible and intangible assets isedUess liabilities assumed. Goodwill arises assallt of, among other factors, future
unidentified new products and new technologies @t as the implicit value of future cost savingsaagsult of the combining of entities. The
allocation of the purchase price in December 2088 as follows (in thousands):

Inventories 82
Property and equipment, r 49
Intangibles, ne 3,90(
Goodwill 10,68¢
Other accrued liabilitie (82

Total purchase price allocati $14,63¢

Of the $10.7 million of goodwill recorded on thegagsition of CP Secure, $4.5 million and $10.7 ioiilis deductible for federal and
state income tax purposes, respectively. Of th 88llion additional payout recorded as goodwiltire year ended December 31, 2009, $1.7
million and $3.5 million are deductible for fedeeald state income tax purposes, respectively.

A total of $1.8 million of the $3.9 million in acged intangible assets was designated as in-pragesssarch and development. In-process
research and development was expensed upon amutsitcause technological feasibility had not bestablished and no future alternative
uses existed. The Company acquired two in-proesssarch and development projects, which involvedwgments to threat management
characteristics of future products. These two mtsjeequired further research and developmenttiraéne technical feasibility and
commercial viability. The fair value assigned tepirocess research and development was determiiggithe income approach, under which
the Company considered the importance of produndgrudevelopment to the Company’s overall develofmbans, estimated the costs to
develop the purchased in-process research andogewent into commercially viable products, estimdteriresulting net cash flows from the
products when completed and discounted the netftasgh to their present values. The Company us8®% discount rate in the present value
calculations, which was derived from a weightedrage cost of capital analysis, adjusted to refilctitional risks related to the products’
development and success as well as the produatge sif completion. The estimates used in valuingrotess research and development were
based upon assumptions believed to be reasonatlehizh are inherently uncertain and unpredictablese assumptions may be incomplete
or inaccurate, and unanticipated events and cirtamoes may occur. Accordingly, actual results mey ¥rom the projected results. The
Company incurred costs of approximately $1.2 millio complete the projects, of which approxima®&10,000 was incurred during the year
ended December 31, 2008 and an additional $1.iomilvas incurred during the year ended Decembe2@19. The Company completed one
project in the beginning of the year ended Decer3tie009 and the final project at the end of tbaryended December 31, 2009.

A total of $1.2 million of the $3.9 million in acged intangible assets was designated as exigttgblogy. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estintsl flows derived from projections of future rewvemttributable to existing technology. This
$1.2 million is being amortized over its estimatseful life of three years.

A total of $900,000 of the $3.9 million in acquiredangible assets was designated as core techndlbeg value was calculated based on
the present value of the future estimated cashsflderived from estimated royalty savings attriblgab the core technology. This $900,000 is
being amortized over its estimated useful lifeieé fyears.
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Infrant Technologies, Inc.

On May 16, 2007, the Company completed the acipnsiif 100% of the outstanding shares of Infranthrelogies, Inc. (“Infrant”), a
developer of network attached storage products.affgeegate purchase price was $60 million, pachsh. Under the terms of the acquisition
agreement, Infrant shareholders received a totditiadal payout of $20 million in cash over thedahryears following closure of the acquisition
as specific revenue targets were reached. $10millias paid in November 2008 and $10 million wad paApril 2010.

The November 2008 payment of $10 million resultedn increase in goodwill of $8.7 million, the rgodion of compensation expense
of $650,000, and a reduction in taxes payable @DFRO0.

The April 2010 payment of $10 million resulted imiacrease in goodwill of $8.5 million, the recoiiom of compensation expense of
$677,000, and a reduction in taxes payable of $880,The Company had accrued for $113,000 of #ir¥ P00 in compensation expense in
the year ended December 31, 2009.

The results of Infrant’s operations have been etlin the consolidated financial statements sihealate of acquisition. The historical
results of Infrant prior to the acquisition were nmaterial to the Company'’s results of operations.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeilsct an initial purchase price of approximat®§0.3 million, consisting of cash,
and other costs directly related to the acquisiéisfiollows (in thousands):

Purchase pric $60,00(
Direct acquisition cost 254
Total consideratiol $60,25¢

In accordance with the purchase method of accogytiire Company allocated the total purchase padartgible assets, liabilities and
identifiable intangible assets based on their estoh fair values. Goodwill was recorded based erréBidual purchase price after allocating
purchase price to the fair market value of tangésid intangible assets acquired less liabilitissiaged. Purchased intangibles are amortized on
a straight-line basis over their respective estaiseful lives. Goodwill arises as a result ofpagiother factors, future unidentified new
products and new technologies as well as the iibpidue of future cost savings as a result ofdbmbining of entities. The total allocation of
the purchase price in 2007 was as follows (in thods):

Cash and cash equivale $ 2,781
Accounts receivabl 1,20z
Inventories 3,50¢
Deferred income taxe 667
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 36
Property and equipme 12¢
Intangibles 22,70(
Goodwill 38,18t
Accounts payabl (697)
Accrued employee compensati (396)
Other accrued liabilitie (1,04
Deferred income tax liabilit (6,819

Total purchase price allocatis $60,25¢

None of the goodwill recognized related to Infrentdleductible for income tax purposes.
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A total of $4.1 million of the $22.7 million in aa@ed intangible assets was designated as in-psgesgarch and developmentpimces
research and development was expensed upon amulsitcause technological feasibility has not bestablished and no future alternative
uses exist. The Company acquired threprivcess research and development projects. Twegisojnvolve development of new products in
ReadyNAS desktop product category, and one prajgotves development of a higher end version ofadpct currently selling in the
ReadyNAS rack mount product category. These threiegts required further research and developntedéetermine technical feasibility and
commercial viability. The fair value assigned tepirocess research and development was determiiegithe income approach, under which
the Company considered the importance of produndgrudevelopment to the Company’s overall develofmbans, estimated the costs to
develop the purchased in-process research andogeneht into commercially viable products, estimatetiresulting net cash flows from the
products when completed and discounted the netftasgh to their present values. The Company usedadint rates ranging from 36% to 38%
in the present value calculations, which was derivem a weighted-average cost of capital analysigjsted to reflect additional risks related
to the products’ development and success as wélleagroducts’ stage of completion. The estimagesiun valuing in-process research and
development were based upon assumptions believael teasonable but which are inherently uncertathumpredictable. These assumptions
may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipatests and circumstances may occur. Accordinglyshcesults may vary from the
projected results. The Company incurred costs pfagmately $1.6 million to complete the projea$which approximately $1.4 million was
incurred during the year ended December 31, 208&aradditional $200,000 was incurred during ther ysded December 31, 2009. The
Company completed two projects in the middle ofytbar ended December 31, 2008 and the final projete middle of the year ended
December 31, 2009.

A total of $10.8 million of the $22.7 million in gaired intangible assets was designated as exigaimology. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estintsl flows derived from projections of future rewvemttributable to existing technology. This
$10.8 million is being amortized over its estimateséful life of four years.

A total of $5.2 million of the $22.7 million in aoged intangible assets was designated as coradtgy. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estintsh flows derived from estimated royalty savintysbatable to the core technology. This
$5.2 million is being amortized over its estimatseful life of four years.

A total of $2.6 million of the $22.7 million in aa@ed intangible assets was designated as trademiHnk value was calculated based on
the present value of the future estimated cashsflderived from estimated royalty savings attriblgdb use of the trademarks. This $2.6
million is being amortized over its estimated u$éfa of six years.

Note 3—Balance Sheet Components (in thousands):
Available-for-sale short-term investments consisttioe following:

December 31
2010 2009
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Estimated
Cost Gain Fair Value Cost Gain Fair Value
U.S. Treasury bills and not $144,55: $ 13 $144,56¢ $74,89: $ 6 $74,89¢
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Accounts receivable and related allowances conefdhe following:

December 31
2010 2009
Gross accounts receivat $241,63. $178,43(
Less: Allowance for doubtful accoun (1,487 (2,039
Allowance for sales returr (10,279 (12,999
Allowance for price protectio (3,149 (1,545
Total allowance: (14,909 (15,57
Accounts receivable, n $226,73: $162,85:

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,

2010 2009
Raw material $ 1,591 $ 1,15(C
Finished good 125,80: 89,44(
Total $127,39: $90,59(

Property and equipment, net, consists of the follog:

December 31

2010 2009
Computer equipmet $ 6,057 $ 5,08¢
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improveme 9,45( 8,43¢
Software 18,55 17,95«
Machinery and equipmel 17,46¢ 11,54¢
Construction in progres 30 41F

51,55t 43,43;
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (34,059 (26,549

Depreciation and amortization expense pertainingréaperty and equipment in 2010, 2009 and 2008%8ak million, $7.3 million and
$6.3 million, respectively.

Goodwill
Activity related to goodwill consisted of the folling:

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009
Balance as of beginning of the per $ 64,90¢ $ 61,40(
Additions related to ea-out payment: 8,47¢ 3,50(¢
Net additions related to acquisitio 81€ 8
Balance at end of peric $ 74,19¢ $ 64,90¢
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During 2010, the Company recorded $8.5 million oddwill associated with a $10 million earn-out payrnmade in connection with the
Company’s 2007 acquisition of Infrant (see Note the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemeiits¢. Company also recorded $900,000 of
goodwill associated with the Company’s 2010 actjoisiof Leaf (also see Note 2 of the Notes to Céidated Financial Statements), and
recorded an $84,000 reduction in goodwill relatethikes associated with the Company’s 2006 acensitf Skipjam Corp.

During 2009, the Company recorded $3.5 million obdwill associated with a $3.5 million eapnt payment made in connection with
Company’s 2008 acquisition of CP Secure (see Natkete Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemefitsy Company also recorded an
additional $39,000 of goodwill associated with aideial acquisition costs related to the Compan@8&acquisition of CP Secure, and
recorded a $31,000 reduction in goodwill relatetht@s associated with the Company’s 2007 acquisdf Infrant.

Intangibles, net, consist of the following:

Weighted
Average
Amortization
December 31 December 31 December 31
Amortization Period
2009 2009 2010 Remaining
Cost Net Additions Expense Net (Years)
Core technolog $ 7,10C $ 245¢ $ — $ 1,48 $ 972 0.9z
Existing technolog! 12,00( 4,40( 2,00( 3,362 3,03¢ 1.8¢
Trademarks 2,60( 1,44¢ — 434 1,011 1.17
Patents — — 1,27(¢ 51 1,21¢ 4.7¢
Non-compete agreemer 10C — — — — —
Total intangible asse $ 21,80( $  8,29¢ $ 3,27( $ 532i $ 6,241 2.17
Weighted
Average
Amortization
December 31 December 31 December 31
Amortization Period
2008 2008 2009 Remaining
Cost Net Additions Expense Net (Years)
Core technolog' $ 7,20( $ 3,93t $ — $ 1,48 $ 245 1.0¢€
Existing technolog! 12,00( 7,50( — 3,10( 4,40( 0.7:
Trademarks 2,60( 1,87¢ — 432 1,44t 1.67
Non-compete agreemer 10C — — — — —
Total intangible asse $ 21,80( $ 13,31 $ — $ 5,018 $ 8,29 0.9¢

Amortization expense related to intangibles inythars ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 wasrtifion, $5.0 million and $4.7
million, respectively.

In the year ended December 31, 2008 the Compayded an impairment charge within cost of revemuthé Consolidated Statements
of Operations of $458,000 for the net carrying eafi intangibles acquired during the Company’s 2806uisition of Skipjam Corp.
Recoverability was assessed based on undiscoustiethéed future net cash flows, and the impairnchiarge was based on fair value using
discounted cash flows. No such impairment charga® wnecorded in the years ended December 31, 204008 .
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Estimated amortization expense related to intaegifibr each of the next five years and thereadtesifollows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31

2011 $2,761
2012 1,027
2013 73¢
2014 414
2015 414
2016 and thereafte 887
Total expected amortization exper $6,241

Other non-current assets consist of the following:

December 31,
2010 2009
Non-current deferred income tax $ 7,112 $4,66°
Cost method investme 3,00¢ —
Other 4,21 3,63¢
Other nol-current assel $14,33¢ $8,29¢

Other accrued liabilities consist of the following:

December 31

2010 2009
Sales and marketing prograi $ 37,02( $30,761
Warranty obligatior 40,51 30,61(
Freight 7,17¢ 6,95¢
Other 25,70¢ 19,55¢
Other accrued liabilitie $110,41: $87,89¢

Note 4—Restructuring:
The Company accounts for its restructuring plardeuthe authoritative guidance for exit or dispasaivities. The Company presents
expenses related to restructuring as a separatééim in its Consolidated Statements of Operations

In July 2008, the Company ceased using buildingsdd in Santa Clara and Fremont, California, amdaalated all personnel and
operations from those locations to its new corgoretadquarters in San Jose, California. The latstese operating leases expired in December
2010.

The following is a summary of the accrued restriingucharges related to ceasing use of certairdings:

Accrued Accrued

Restructuring Restructuring

Charges at Adjustment Charges at
December 31 Present December 31

to Accrual Value Cash
2009 Recognitior Accretion Payment: 2010
(In thousands)

Abandonment of excess leased facili $ 51€ $ (109 $ 15 $ (42¢) $ =

Current portior $ 51€ $ —

Long-term portion $ — $ —
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The Company initially expected to sublease the ntgjof this space through the end of the operalages. However, in the three
months ended June 28, 2009, a sub-lessee ceasewjrpagments, and the Company did not expect tbdineplacement sub-lessee for the
defaulting sub-lessee during the remaining teritheflease. Additionally, in the three months enledtember 27, 2009, the Company agreed
to reduce the monthly facility maintenance fees @teethe Company by the sub-lessee. As a restiftssie events, the Company increased its
accrual for restructuring charges by $702,000 énytear ended December 31, 2009 to reflect the dserni@ sublease income through the
remaining term of the lease.

Accrued Accrued
Restructuring Restructuring
Charges at Adjustment Charges at
December 31 Present December 31
to Accrual Value Cash
2008 Recognitior Accretion Payments 2009
(In thousands)
Abandonment of excess leased facili $ 354 $ 752 $ 57 $ (647) $ 51€
Current portior $ 264 $ 51€
Long-term portion $ 9C $ —

Note 5—Derivative Financial Instruments:

The Company’s subsidiaries have had and will catito have material future cash flows, includingeraue and expenses, that are
denominated in currencies other than the Compdopaional currency. The Company and all its sulasids designate the U.S. dollar as the
functional currency. Changes in exchange ratesdmtwhe Company'’s functional currency and otherecwies in which the Company
transacts will cause fluctuations in cash flow extpions and cash flow realized or settled. Acaugtyi, the Company uses derivatives to
mitigate its business exposure to foreign exchaisfe The Company enters into foreign currency famivcontracts in Australian dollars,
British pounds, Euros, and Japanese yen to mahagexposures to foreign exchange risk related pe&ed future cash flows on certain
forecasted revenue, costs of revenue, operatingnsegs, and on certain existing assets and lialsiliihe Company does not enter into
derivatives transactions for trading or speculagiveposes.

Cash flow hedges

To help manage the exposure of gross and opernaiamgins to fluctuations in foreign currency exchangtes, the Company hedges a
portion of its anticipated foreign currency revencests of revenue, and certain operating expefi$ese hedges are designated at the
inception of the hedge relationship as cash flodgles under the authoritative guidance for deriesti@and hedging. Effectiveness is tested at
least quarterly both prospectively and retrospetfiusing regression analysis to ensure that thgéneelationship has been effective and is
likely to remain effective in the future. The Compaypically hedges portions of its anticipatedeiign currency exposure for three to five
months. The Company enters into about six forwardracts per quarter with an average size of abéunillion USD equivalent related to its
cash flow hedge program.

The Company expects to reclass to earnings dlletmounts recorded in other comprehensive incasacated with its cash flow
hedges over the next 12 months. Other compreheimsivene associated with cash flow hedges of foreigmency revenue is recognized as a
component of net revenue in the same period aetated revenue is recognized. Other comprehemstaene associated with cash flow
hedges of foreign currency costs of revenue andatipg expenses are recognized as a componensbétmevenue and operating expense in
the same period as the costs of revenue and apgeatpenses are recognized, respectively.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow éedgust be de-designated as hedges when it istpeothe forecasted hedged
transaction will not occur within the designatedidgpe period or if not recognized within 60 daysdaling the end of the hedge period. Defel
gains and losses in other comprehensive incomeiassd with such derivative instruments are redi@ssimmediately into earnings through
other income and expense. Any subsequent chandais iralue of such derivative instruments alsorafected in current earnings unless they
are re-designated as hedges of other transacfibesCompany did not enter into any cash

75



Table of Contents

flow hedges in the year ended December 31, 2008 Cldmpany did not recognize any material net gaiingsses related to the loss of hedge
designation on discontinued cash flow hedges duhieg/ears ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

Non-designated hedges

The Company enters into non-designated hedges timel@uthoritative guidance for derivatives anddiegi to manage the exposure of
non-functional currency monetary assets and ligslineld on its financial statements to fluctuagian foreign currency exchange rates, as well
as to reduce volatility in other income and expefi$® non-designated hedges are generally expextetset the changes in value of its net
non-functional currency asset and liability positi@sulting from foreign exchange rate fluctuatidrsreign currency denominated accounts
receivable and payable are hedged with non-desidrietdges when the related anticipated foreigmrevand expenses are recognized in the
Company'’s financial statements. The Company alslgée certain non-functional currency monetary assed liabilities which may not be
incorporated into the cash flow hedge program. Chmpany adjusts its non-designated hedges montlleaters into about three non-
designated derivatives per month. The averageo$iite non-designated hedges is about $2 millioDW§uivalent and these hedges range
from one to five months in duration.

The Company may choose not to hedge certain fomighange exposures for a variety of reasons,diray but not limited to,
immateriality, accounting considerations, and tte@hjbitive economic cost of hedging particular espes. There can be no assurance the
hedges will offset more than a portion of the ficiahimpact resulting from movements in foreign lexege rates. The Company’s accounting
policies for these instruments are based on wheitleeinstruments are designated as hedge or nagehestruments in accordance with the
authoritative guidance for derivatives and hedgirfge Company records all derivatives on the balaheet at fair value. The effective porti
of cash flow hedges are recorded in other compsaheincome until the hedged item is recognizedamings. Derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments and the inefeeptirtions of its designated hedges are adjustéartvalue through earnings in “Other
income (expense), net.”

The Company’s foreign currency forward contractsidbcontain any credit-risk-related contingentdieas. The Company is exposed to
credit losses in the event of nonperformance byctunter-parties of its forward contracts. The Campenters into derivative contracts with
high-quality financial institutions. In additiorhe derivative contracts are limited to a time p&idb less than six months and the Company
continuously evaluates the credit standing ofdtsnter-party financial institutions. The countertjis to these arrangements are large highly
rated financial institutions and the Company dagsconsider non-performance a material risk.

The fair values of the Company’s derivative insteums and the line items on the Consolidated Bal&heets to which they were
recorded as of December 31, 2010 and Decembei0B®, &e summarized as follows:

Fair Value at Fair Value at
Balance December 31 Balance December 31
Sheet Sheet
Derivative Assets Location 2010 Location 2009
(In thousands)
Derivative assets not designated as hedgi Prepaid expenses ani Prepaid expenses ani
instruments other current asse $ 1,381 other current asse $ 1,32¢
Derivative assets designated as hedging Prepaid expenses and Prepaid expenses and
instruments other current asse 8 other current asse —
Total $ 1,38¢ $ 1,32¢
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Derivative Liabilities

Derivative liabilities not designated a
hedging instrument

Derivative liabilities designated :
hedging instrument

Total

Fair Value at Fair Value at
Balance December 31 Balance December 31
Sheet Sheet
Location 2010 Location 2009
(In thousands)

Other accrued liabilitie $ (770) Other accrued liabilitie $ (347)
Other accrued liabilitie (19 Other accrued liabilitie (1)
$ (789 $ 34¢

For details of the Company’s fair value measuresigriease see Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidétethcial Statements.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedgin

Instruments

Foreign currency forward contrac

Location of Gains or (Losses

Amount of Gains or
(Losses) Recognized

Income on Derivative

Amount of Gains or
(Losses) Recognized

Income on Derivative

Recognized in Income on Year ended Year ended
Derivative December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009
(In thousands)
Other income (expense), $ 72 $ (997)

The effects of the Comparg/terivative instruments on other comprehensiverimeand the Consolidated Statement of Operatiarthd
year ended December 31, 2010 and December 31,&280mmarized as follow

Derivatives Designated a:
Hedging Instruments

Year ended December 31, 201

Location of Gain

or (Loss) Gain or (Loss) Amount of Gain or
Gain or (Loss, Reclassified from Reclassified Location of Gain or (Loss) (Loss) Recognized i
Recognized ir OCl into from OCI into Recognized in Income ani Income and
OCI-Effective Income-Effective Income-Effective Excluded from Excluded from
Portion (a) Portion Portion (a) Effectiveness Testing Effectiveness Testin
(In thousands)
Cash flow hedges
Foreign currency forward contrac $ 2,251 Net revenue $ 2,75¢ Other income (expense), $ (261)
Foreign currency forward contrac — Cost of revenu 27) Other income (expense), —
Foreign currency forward contrac — Operating expens (724) Other income (expense), —
Total $ 2,251 $ 2,004 $ (267)

Derivatives Designated a:
Hedging Instruments

Year ended December 31, 20C

Location of Gain

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized i
Income and
Excluded from
Effectiveness Testin

or (Loss) Gain or (Loss)
Gain or (Loss, Reclassified from Reclassified Location of Gain or (Loss)
Recognized ir OCl into from OCI into Recognized in Income ani
OCI-Effective Income-Effective Income-Effective Excluded from
Portion (a) Portion Portion (a) Effectiveness Testing
(In thousands)
Cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency forward contrac $ (499 Net revenue $ (707) Other income (expense),
Foreign currency forward contrac — Cost of revenu 15 Other income (expense),
Foreign currency forward contrac — Operating expens 172 Other income (expense),
Total $ (49¢9) $ (519
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(a) Refer to Note 14, which summarizes the activitgther comprehensive income related to derieativ
The Company did not have any derivatives designasduedging instruments in the year ended Dece81h&2008.

The Company did not recognize any net gain orflelsged to the ineffective portion of cash flow ged during the year ended
December 31, 2010 or 2009.

Note 6—Net Income Per Share:

Basic net income per share is computed by divitlvegnet income for the period by the weighted ayerumber of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net incoree ghare is computed by dividing the net incometierperiod by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock and potentialiytide common stock outstanding during the period.

Potentially dilutive common shares include outstagdtock options and unvested restricted stock@syavhich are reflected in diluted
net income per share by application of the treastogk method. Under the treasury stock methodatheunt that the employee must pay for
exercising stock options, the amount of stock-bassdpensation cost for future services that the @omg has not yet recognized, and the
amount of tax benefit that would be recorded initmithl paid-in capital upon exercise are assuroduaktused to repurchase shares.

Net income per share for the years ended Decembe@03.0, 2009 and 2008 are as follows (in thousaext=pt per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Net income $50,90¢ $ 9,33 $18,05(
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic 35,38¢ 34,48t 35,21
Options and awarc 73¢ 363 407
Total diluted share 36,12« 34,84¢ 35,61¢
Basic net income per she $ 144 $ 0.27 $ 0.51
Diluted net income per sha $ 141 $ 0.27 $ 0.51

Anti-dilutive common stock options totaling 3,25618 3,614,698 and 3,231,105 were excluded fronwiiighted average shares
outstanding for the diluted per share calculatimm2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Note 7—Other Income (Expense), Net:
Other income (expense), net consisted of the fatigwin thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) ($130 $ 954 ($7,219
Foreign currency contract gains (losses), (439 (1,087 1,16¢

Total ($ 564 ($ 128 $ 8,384
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Note 8—Income Taxes:
Income before income taxes consists of the follgwin thousands):

United State:
International

Total

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg (in thousands):

Current:
U.S. Federa
State
Foreign

Deferred:
U.S. Federa
State
Foreign

Total

Net deferred tax assets consist of the followimgliousands):

Deferred Tax Assets:

Accruals and allowance

Net operating loss carryforwar
Stoclk-based compensatic
Deferred ren

Deferred revenu

Tax credit carryforward

Other

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Acquired intangible asse

Depreciation and amortizatic

Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar

Net deferred tax asse

Current portior
Non-current portior
Net deferred tax asse
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Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
$95,29; $38,04: $54,22:

(4,067) (6,376) (8,879
$91,22 $32,56 $45,34:

Year Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008

$37,95¢ $23,71¢ $21,45:

5,65¢ 2,27( 2,95¢
4,947 2,74¢ 5,541
48,55¢ 28,73 29,95
(8,929) (4,957) (1,750
642 (46€) (90€)
45 (83) —
(8,240) (5,509) (2,65¢)

$40,31¢ $23,23¢ $27,29:

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009
$ 18,45: $ 12,21:
351 36¢
5,98: 5,41¢
2,313 2,62¢
28¢ 191
1,732 2,112
59z 974
29,71( 23,90(
(25) (2,399
(2,96¢) (3.49))
_ (9 =
(3,266) (5,890
26,44+ $ 18,01(
$ 19,33 $ 13,34%
7,112 4,66°
$ 26,44 $ 18,01(
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Management’s judgment is required in determinirgg@mmpany’s provision for income taxes, its deféteex assets and any valuation
allowance recorded against its deferred tax assetsanagement’s judgment it is more likely than that such assets will be realized in the
future as of December 31, 2010, and as such natimtuallowance has been recorded against the Quytgpdeferred tax assets.

The effective tax rate differs from the applicabl&. statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Tax at federal statutory ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State, net of federal bene 4.2 31 3.7
Impact of international operatio 5.1 28.2 19.4
Stock-based compensatic 0.7 4.C 2.8
Tax credits (0.7) .7 (1.9
Others 0.9 2.5 1.2
Provision for income taxe 44.2% 71.2% 60.2%

Income tax benefits in the amount of $3.6 millié®36,000 and $81,000 related to stock options wedited to additional paiih capita
during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@®@8l, respectively. As a result of changes infalue of available for sale securities,
income tax expense of $3,000, $40,000 and $11,@80recorded in comprehensive income related tgyeheended December 31,

2010, December 31, 2009, and December 31, 200& ctgely.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company has $621,004.5 million of acquired federal and state rprating loss carry forwards as
well as $223,000 of California tax credits carryfards. All of these losses and $120,000 of thesditsrare subject to annual usage limitations
under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. The feltmses expire in different years beginning itdis2021. The state loss begins to expire in
fiscal 2014. The state tax credit carry-forward hasxpiration.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, various state and local, aneiign jurisdictions. With few
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject ta féderal, state and local, or foreign income tearginations for years before 2006. The
Company has limited audit activity in various ssad@d foreign jurisdictions. The Company has reediits liability for uncertain tax positions
as part of its long-term liability as payments ao¢ anticipated over the next 12 months. The exgstiix positions of the Company continue to
generate an increase in the liability for uncertaipositions. The liability for uncertain tax fittens may be reduced for liabilities that are
settled with taxing authorities or on which thetsta of limitations could expire without assessnfeniin tax authorities. The possible reduction
in liabilities for uncertain tax positions resulfifrom the expiration of statutes of limitationrimultiple jurisdictions in the next 12 months is
approximately $5.3 million, excluding the intergsnalties and the effect of any related deferagdhssets or liabilities.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amooingross unrecognized tax benefits (“UTB”) is abdws (in thousands):

Federal,

State, and

Foreign Tax
Gross UTB Balance at January 1, 200 $ 9,33¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theenitryeal 3,94(
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 65€
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (140
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat (503%)
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 20( 13,29:
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 3,60¢
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 184
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: (D)
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat (581)
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 20( 16,50
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 3,371
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 40¢
Settlement: (47
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat (1,80%)
Adjustments due to foreign exchange rate movet 3
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 20! 18,43:

The total amount of net unrecognized tax bendfis, tif recognized would affect the effective takeras of December 31, 2010 is $16.3
million. The ending net UTB results from adjustithg gross balance at December 31, 2010 for itects @81 U.S. federal and state deferred
foreign tax credits, interest, and deductible ta¥é® net UTB is included as a component of nomerurincome taxes payable within the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties ederlated to unrecognized tax benefits in incoemeskpense. During the period
ended December 31, 2010, December 31, 2009 andibece31, 2008, total interest and penalties expbngge $262,000, $354,000 and
$515,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2010@ckmber 31, 2009, accrued interest and penali@sgross basis was $1.8 million and
$1.5 million, respectively. Included in accruedeirgst are amounts related to tax positions for lwifie ultimate deductibility is highly certain
but for which there is uncertainty about the timofgsuch deductibility. Because of the impact diedeed tax accounting, other than interest
impact of any uncertain tax benefits related togerary differences would not affect the annual @ffe tax rate but would accelerate the
payment of cash to the taxing authority to an eageriod.

With the exception of those foreign sales subsiekafior which deferred tax has been provided, thmgany intends to indefinitely
reinvest foreign earnings. These earnings wereoxppately $10.1 million and $13.2 million as of @ecber 31, 2010 and December 31, 2(
respectively. Because of the availability of U.&eign tax credits, it is not practicable to detiexerthe income tax liability that would be
payable if such earnings were not indefinitely vested.
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Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies:
Litigation and Other Legal Matters
Wi-Lan Inc. v. NETGEAR

In October 2007, a lawsuit was filed against thenany by Wi-Lan Inc. (“Wi-Lan”), a patent-holdingmpany existing under the laws
of Canada, in the U.S. District Court, Eastern isof Texas. Wi-Lan alleged that the Companyiimged U.S. Patent Nos. 5,282,222,
RE37,802 and 5,956,323. Wi-Lan accused the Comp&mfringement with respect to its wireless netiog products compliant with the
IEEE 802.11 standards and ADSL products compliatht the ITUG.992 standards. Wi-Lan also sued 2Eiotechnology companies alleging
similar claims of patent infringement. The Compféited its answer to the lawsuit in the first quardé 2008. A claim construction hearing to
place for the ‘222 and ‘802 Patents on March 1102@nd on May 11, 2010, the Court issued its orderpreting the claims of these patents
(claim construction order). The claim constructimaring on the ‘323 patent occurred on Septemhb2010, and the Court subsequently issued
its claim construction order for this patent. Theu@ ordered that infringement of the RE37,802 ay&82,222 (Wi-Fi) patents would be tried
first, as to all defendants, and infringement & $956,323 (DSL) patent would be addressed imansktrial. Shortly before the beginning of
the first trial, the Company and Wi-Lan enterediséttlement discussions. Without admitting anyngetoing or violation of law and to avoid
the distraction and expense of continued litigadad the uncertainty of a jury verdict on the ngeiiihe Company and Wi-Lan signed a binding
release agreement in which the Company agreed ke mane-time lump sum payment to be paid by Mgy20%1 in consideration for mutual
general releases. In the agreement, each partgdigyaelease the other party from all claims, kmawvunknown, under any of the 222, 802
and 323 Patents with respect to the manufactues sade, etc. of products by the Company. Eacly pameed to bear its own costs and
attorneys’ fees. The Company has not made thenegjohe-time lump sum payment that is due by May2081, but the Company expects to
timely do so. This arrangement is not expectedatgeta material impact on the Compangonsolidated financial position, results of ofierss,
or cash flows. The Court has dismissed all claistsvben Wi-Lan and the Company, including all clapnssented by Wi-Las’ Complaint an
all of the Company’s counterclaims, and neithethefscheduled trials between Wi-Lan and the Compédtyccur.

Fujitsu et. al v. NETGEA

In December 2007, a lawsuit was filed against tben@any by Fujitsu Limited, LG Electronics, Inc. ddds. Philips Corporation in the
U.S. District Court, Western District of Wisconsifhe plaintiffs allege that the Company infringeSUPatent Nos. 6,018,642, 6,469,993 and
4,975,952. The plaintiffs accuse the Company’s ke networking products compliant with the IEER2 80 standards of infringement. The
Company filed its answer to the lawsuit in thetfgaarter of 2008. The District Court held a claionstruction hearing on August 15, 2008. On
September 10, 2008, the District Court issued ianctanstruction order. In February 2009, the partied numerous motions for summary
judgment concerning, among other things,-infringement, invalidity, and other affirmativefdases. In September 2009, the District Court
granted the Company’s motion for summary judgmémom-infringement of the three patents-in-suiteTistrict Court determined that the
Company’s compliance with the 802.11 standard dichecessarily infringe the patents-in-suit and tha plaintiffs did not provide adequate
evidence regarding the function of the Company&ipcts to put the issue of infringement beforerg. jin light of the District Court's
determination that the patents-in-suit were nainigied, the District Court declined to address@menpany’s summary judgment claims of the
invalidity of the patents in question. On DecemB@yr 2009, the District Court ordered litigation tom the amount $175,000 to be reimbursed
to the Company, which have not yet been collecte@aognized. On December 23, 2009, the Plairfil#d two briefs with the Federal Circuit
appealing the District Court’'s summary judgmenings. The Company’s opposition brief was submitiad-ebruary 18, 2010. The Federal
Circuit heard oral arguments on the Plaintiffs’ eglon June 7, 2010. On September 20, 2010, ther&éedircuit issued a unanimous ruling
that made three separate findings. It affirmedrareary judgment ruling from the District Court thihé Company did not infringe the claims
a Fujitsu patent related to wireless communicatienbnology. In addition, the Court affirmed a suamynjudgment ruling that the Company
did not infringe the claims of an LG Electronicg lpatent also related to wireless communicatienbkrtology. Further, the court affirmed the
lower court’s
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ruling that the Company did not infringe a Philgetent for a method of transmitting data messagascommunications network, except for
four products. For those four products, the Cauigd that Philips produced sufficient evidence ioéct infringement, so that an infringement
trial for these four products could proceed. Onabet 19, 2010, plaintiff LG Electronics submitte@etition for rehearing to the Federal

Circuit requesting that the Federal Circuit’'s damise set aside with respect to LG Electronicseagd patent and that a rehearing be granted.
The Federal Circuit denied LG Electronics’ petitfon a rehearing on November 2, 2010, letting stts&eptember 20, 2010 order affirming
the District Court’s decision to grant the Companynmary judgment of noninfringement on the pateseeed by LG Electronics. Subsequent
to the Federal Circuit ruling, the parties begatiemment discussions with respect to the four renagi products accused of infringing the

Philips patent.

OptimumPath, L.L.C. v. NETGEAR

In January 2008, a lawsuit was filed against then@any by OptimumPath, L.L.C (“OptimumPath”), a patholding company existing
under the laws of the State of South Carolinah@éW.S. District Court, District of South Caroli@ptimumPath claims that certain of the
Company’s wireless networking products infringe@ptimumPath’s U.S. Patent No. 7,035,281. OptimuimRigo sued six other technology
companies alleging similar claims of patent infengent. The Company filed its answer to the lawisuihe second quarter of 2008. Several
defendants, including the Company, jointly fileceguest for inter partes reexamination of the OptitRath patent with the United States
Patent and Trademark Office (the “USPTO”) on Octdls 2008. On January 12, 2009, a reexaminatiagosdered with respect to claims31-
and 8-10 of the patent, but denied with respectdins 4-7 and 11-32 of the patent. On FebruaB089, the defendants jointly filed a petition
to challenge the denial of reexamination of cla#visand 11-32. In March 2009, the District Coudrged defendants’ motion to transfer the
case to the U.S. District Court, Northern Dista€California. In July 2009, the petition to chaltge the denial of reexamination of claims 4-7
and 11-32 was denied. The Company and OptimumPi&tihded a Court-ordered mediation on Septembe2@2) but were unable to make
progress towards settlement. The parties receattypteted fact discovery and have disclosed expedrnts. The Company and other
defendants filed a combined claim construction/samynudgment brief on December 23, 2010. OptimumPasponded on January 20, 2011,
and the defendants replied on February 3, 2011 oflearguments on claim construction and the sumuaigment motion were made on
February 17, 2011. The District Court has set al fimetrial conference for May 3, 2011, and a 194day trial is scheduled to begin on
May 23, 2011.

Ruckus Wireless v. NETGE:!

In May 2008, a lawsuit was filed against the Conyplayn Ruckus Wireless (“Ruckus”), a developer of M/itechnology, in the U.S.
District Court, Northern District of California. Rkus alleges that the Company infringes U.S. Pdlest 7,358,912 and 7,193,562 in the
course of deploying Wi-Fi antenna array technologys WPN824 RangeMax wireless router. Ruckus alged Rayspan Corporation alleging
similar claims of patent infringement. The Compéited its answer to the lawsuit in the third quamé2008. The Company and Rayspan
Corporation jointly filed a request for inter parteeexamination of the Ruckus patents with the USBm September 4, 2008. The Court issued
a stay of the litigation while the reexaminatiomegeeded in the USPTO. On November 28, 2008, araigation was ordered with respect to
claims 11-17 of U.S. Patent No. 7,193,562, but eldmiith respect to claims 1-10 and 3®-On December 17, 2008, the defendants joirltyg
a petition to challenge the denial of reexaminatibolaims 1-10 and 18-36 of U.S. Patent No. 7,883, In July 2009, the petition was denied,
and the remaining claims 11-17 were confirmed. Coenpany is appealing the confirmation of claimsl¥1-On December 2, 2008,
reexamination was granted with regard to U.S. Raden 7,358,912. In early October 2009, the Compaagived an Action Closing
Prosecution in the reexamination of the 7,358, %t2mt. All the claims of the 7,358,912 patent, vifite exception of the unchallenged claims 7
and 8, were finally rejected by the USPTO. On Oet@0, 2009, Ruckus submitted an “after-final” aoh@ent in the 7,358,912 patent
reexamination proceeding. The Company’s commenuttkus’ “after-final” amendment were submitteddovember 30, 2009. On
December 1, 2009, the Court found
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that bifurcating the 7,193,562 patent from the 8,952 patent and commencing litigation on the 7,383 patent while the USPTO
reexamination process and appeals are still pendingd be an inefficient use of the Court’s resestcAccordingly, the Court ruled that the
litigation stay remains in effect. On September2®10, the Company filed the Rebuttal Brief indpgpeals of the USPTO'’s rulings during the
reexamination of the ‘562 patent, and the Compaquested an oral hearing with the Board of Appattbe USPTO to discuss this brief. On
September 13, 2010, Ruckus filed a Notice of Appé#the ‘912 Patent to appeal the adverse rulingsceived from the USPTO in the
reexamination of this patent. The Company fileéspondent’s brief in the ‘912 patent case on J&4n2@11. An oral hearing in the ‘562 case
was set for February 1, 2011, but the Company éedd cancel it and let the USPTO decide the ‘S dased solely on the previously
submitted papers. Thus, the reexaminations antetetgppeals are currently proceeding in the USPTO.

On November 4, 2009, Ruckus filed a new complairihe U.S. District Court, Northern District of @afnia alleging the Company and
Rayspan Corporation infringe a patent that is eelab the patents previously asserted againstdinep@ny and Rayspan Corporation by
Ruckus, as discussed above. This newly assertedtpatU.S. Patent No. 7,525,486 entitled “Incrdasgeless coverage pattern&\$ with the
previous Ruckus action, the WPN824 RangeMax wisalester is the alleged infringing device. The Campchallenged the sufficiency of
Ruckus’s complaint in this new action and movedisniss the complaint. Ruckus opposed this mofitve. Court partially agreed with the
Company’s motion and ordered Ruckus to submit a cmwplaint, which Ruckus did. The initial case ngeraent conference occurred on
February 11, 2010. On March 25, 2010, the Courtrad a stay until the completion of the ‘562 Pasergexamination proceedings in the first
Ruckus lawsuit against the Company and RayspanCbhet instructed the parties to submit status msgo the Court every 6 months,
apprising the Court of the status of the pendimgaeination proceedings in the USPTO. Upon findlagstion of all pending reexamination
proceedings of the ‘562 Patent, including any ajsp¢lae Court ordered the parties to jointly subimithe Court a letter indicating that all
appeals have been exhausted and requesting arfoatbe management conference.

On November 19, 2010, the Company filed suit agd®ugkus in the U.S. District Court, District of Bevare for infringement of four of
the Company’s patents. The Company alleges thati&leemanufacture, use, sale, or offers for sale withnUnited States or importation it
the United States of products, including wirelessymunication products, infringe United States Palos. 5,812,531, 6,621,454, 7,263,143,
and 5,507,035, all owned by the Company. The Compaanted Ruckus an extension to file its answehéoCompany’s suit, and on
January 11, 2011, Ruckus filed a motion to disrtiiesCompany’s suit based on insufficient pleadifigge Company filed its response to
Ruckus’s motion on January 31, 2011.

Northpeak Wireless, LLC v. NETGE,

In October 2008, a lawsuit was filed against thenBany and thirty other companies by Northpeak \Wgg| LLC (“Northpeak”) in the
U.S. District Court, Northern District of Alabamdorthpeak alleges that the Company’s 802.11b cailvipgiroducts infringe certain claims of
U.S. Patent Nos. 4,977,577 and 5,987,058. The Coyriilad its answer to the lawsuit in the fourthagier of 2008. On January 21, 2009, the
District Court granted a motion to transfer theectsthe U.S. District Court, Northern District@&lifornia. In August 2009, the parties
stipulated to a litigation stay pending a reexaridmarequest to the USPTO on the asserted pafEnésreexaminations of the patents are
proceeding. Thus far, all asserted claims of ti&8 ‘Patent have been rejected on multiple ground$adl asserted claims of the ‘577 patent
have been rejected because they are not suffigientbntive, i.e. they are obvious. The case remaiayed by stipulation, and no trial date has
been set.

WIAV Networks, LLC v. NETGEAR

In July 2009, a lawsuit was filed against the Conypand over fifty other companies by WIAV Networks,C (“WIAV”) in the U.S.
District Court, Eastern District of Texas. WIAV adjes that the Company and the other defendanisgeft).S. Patent Nos. 6,480,497 and
5,400,338. WIAV alleges that the Company’s wireless

84



Table of Contents

networking devices, including various routers aateg/ays, infringe upon WIAV’s patents. The Compéled its answer to the lawsuit in
October 2009 and asserted that WIAV's patents Wethk invalid and not infringed upon by the CompanyMarch 2010, the Company and its
co-defendants filed a motion to transfer the cagbe U.S. District Court, Northern District of @afnia. WIAV opposed the motion. On

June 3, 2010, the Court heard the defendamtdion to transfer the case from the Eastern Ristfi Texas to the Northern District of Califorr
The Court took the motion under consideration, amduly 15, 2010, the Court ruled that it wouldhsfer the case to the U.S. District Court,
Northern District of California. Discovery has rmtmmenced. On August 31, 2010, the U.S. Distriair€dorthern District of Californi
ordered WIAV to demonstrate why the Court shoultidismiss all but the first named defendant from ldwsuit. The parties briefed and
argued this issue before the Court. In respongeCthurt dismissed without prejudice all the defenslérom the case except Hewlett Packard.

PACIid Group, LLC v. NETGEA

In July 2009, a lawsuit was filed against the Conypand thirty other companies by The PACid GroupCL(“PACid") in the U.S.
District Court, Eastern District of Texas. PACitegles that the Company and the other defendamisgefU.S. Patent Nos. 5,963,646 and
6,049,612. PACid alleges that certain unnamed NEAK Rroducts that use encryption methods infringerupACid’s patents. The Company
filed its answer to the lawsuit in September 2008 asserted that PACid’s patents were both invailidi not infringed by the Company.
Discovery has not yet commenced. Most of the Comgashipset suppliers have settled out of the latend obtained a license to the
plaintiff's asserted patents. Because most of doeised infringement occurred in the chipset, teidesment by the chipset suppliers limits the
claims the plaintiff has against the Company.

MPH Technologies Oy v. NETGE!

On February 4, 2010, the Company was sued by MRiiA@ogies Oy (“MPH”) for infringement of U.S. pater,346,926 entitled
“Method for Sending Messages Over Secure Mobile @anication Links.” MPH alleges that the CompanyBN Client Software, Dual
WAN gigabit SSL VPN Firewall, ProSafe Dual WAN VH#rewall with 8-port 10/100 Switch, ProSafe VPNewirall with 8-port 10/100
Switch, ProSafe VPN Firewall 8 with 8-Port 10/100it8h, ProSafe VPN Firewall 8 with 4-Port 10/100 p&bSwitch, ProSafe 802 11 g
Wireless ADSL Modem VPN Firewall Router, ProSafer#léss-N VPN Firewall, and ProSafe 802 11 wirelBS8l Firewall 8 with 8-port
10/100 Mbps Switch infringe claims of the ‘926 RutéOn May 17, 2010, the defendants jointly fileshation to transfer the case to the U.S.
District Court, Northern District of California. laddition, the Company filed its answer, affirmatiefenses, and counterclaims on that day.
On June 9, 2010, the plaintiff filed its answethe Company’s invalidity counterclaim and its resp® to the defendants’ motion to transfer.
On June 23, 2010, the defendants filed their japty to plaintiff's response to the defendantstimo to transfer venue. On July 16, 2010, the
Court issued an order transferring the case tdlthréhern District of California. On September 1018, the Company amended its answer to
the complaint. The initial scheduling conferenceuwced on December 2, 2010. In response to thitecemce, the Court ordered that the
Plaintiff must file its opening claim constructibrief no later than May 17, 2011 and that defenslamist file their responsive claim
construction briefs no later than May 31, 2011. Toairt also ordered that a claim construction imgatéke place on June 22, 2011. The pa
are currently participating in the discovery praces

Atwater Partners of Texas LLC v. NETGE

On June 1, 2010, the Company, along with 24 otberpanies, was sued by a non-practicing entity daMevater Partners of Texas LLC
(“Atwater”) in U.S. District Court, Eastern Disttiof Texas. The complaint alleges that the Compiiractly or indirectly infringes five patents
based on the use of technology from Sharedbandnbémgies, LLC. The patents involve bonded DSL tedbgy. No accused products were
named by Atwater in its complaint. The Company nubthee Court in August 2010 for an order to disniigsgfailure to state a claim, or, in the
alternative, for a more definite statement. Pl#istibmitted a reply brief to the
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Company’s motion to dismiss for failure to statelaim. On October 25, 2010, Atwater and the Companyed the Court for an order
dismissing all claims between them in this actiathewut prejudice, with each party to bear its ovasts, expenses and attorneys fees. On
October 27, 2010 the Court dismissed the Compamy this case.

Ericsson v. NETGEA

On September 14, 2010, Ericsson Inc. and Teleftetakaget LM Ericsson filed a patent infringemeaws$uit against defendants D-Link
Corporation, D-Link Systems, Inc., NETGEAR, Incgek, Inc., Acer America Corporation, and Gatewayg, In the U.S. District Court,
Eastern District of Texas alleging that the deferigléanfringe certain Ericsson patents. The Comgaas/been accused of infringing 8 U.S.
patents: 5,790,516; 6,330,435; 6,424,625; 6,519,2232,215; 5,987,019; 6,466,568; and 5,771,468s8&on generally alleges that the
Company and the other defendants have infringeccantinue to infringe the Ericsson patents throtighdefendants’ IEEE 802.11-compliant
products. In addition, Ericsson alleges that thenany has infringed, and continues to infringe,dladmed methods and apparatuses of the
‘468 Patent through the Company’s PCMCIA routetse Tompany filed its answer to the Ericsson complan December 17, 2010 where it
asserted the affirmative defenses of noninfringdraad invalidity of the asserted patents. Discoverthis case has not yet commenced.

Fujitsu v. NETGEAF

On September 3, 2010, Fujitsu filed a complainirasga@Belkin International, Inc., Belkin, Inc., D4hk Corporation, D-ink Systems, Inc
NETGEAR, Inc., ZyXEL Communications Corporationdafiyxel Communications, Inc in the U.S. Districtu€ Northern District o
California alleging that certain of the Companyregiucts infringe upon Fujitsu’s U.S. patent Re.786, patent (‘769 Patent) through various
cards and interface devices within the Companydslpcts. The Company answered the complaint derthimgllegations of infringement and
claiming that the asserted patent is invalid. Iditain, the Company filed a motion to disqualifyursel for Fujitsu. The Company’s
disqualification motion was argued before the CoarDecember 16, 2010, and on December 22, 20&@ ¢hirt granted the Company’s
motion and disqualified counsel for Fujitsu. Inpesse, Fujitsu requested a stipulation from altiparto reset the Case Management
Conference and scheduled hearing dates for thensotod dismiss. The parties agreed and stipulateglsthedule the Case Management
Conference and hearing dates to on or after Ma8¢l2Q11.

Data Network Storage, LLC v. NETGE,

In April 2009, a lawsuit was filed against the Camp and fourteen other companies by Data Netwaskage, LLC (“DNS”) in the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of Califoa. DNS alleges that the Company and the othedt harties infringe U.S. Patent
No. 6,098,128. In particular, DNS is alleging thaveral of the Compa’s ReadyNAS products infringe upon DNS'’s patentee Company
filed its answer to the lawsuit in July 2009 andeated that DNS's patents were both invalid andri@deen infringed upon by the Company.
In September 2009, at a Court-sanctioned earlyraleenaluation, the parties were unable to reacaggaement on a settlement, and discovery
is in process. On January 27, 2010, the Court desdedefendant Fujitsu America, Inc.’s motion taysthe litigation, and the Company
submitted its invalidity contentions on Februar2@10. The Company and the plaintiff entered imtitlement discussions in early March.
Without admitting any wrongdoing or violation ofsleand to avoid the distraction and expense of ooet litigation and the uncertainty of a
jury verdict on the merits, the Company agreed &dera on-time lump sum payment in consideration for a fylgid and perpetual license to,
and a covenant not to sue on, the ‘128 patenttanglaintiff's entire portfolio of U.S. patents)ated patents, and foreign counterparts. The
Company has made the required one-time lump summeity and the lawsuit by DNS against the Comparg/dismissed with prejudice on
April 23, 2010. This arrangement did not have aemakimpact on the Company’s consolidated finangisition, results of operations, or cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2010.
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NETGEAR v. CSIR!

In May 2005, the Company filed a complaint for éeatory relief against the Commonwealth Scientfid Industrial Research
Organization (“CSIRO"), in the San Jose divisiortlod United States District Court, Northern Didto€ California. The complaint alleged that
the claims of CSIRO’s U.S. Patent No. 5,487,069 mvralid and not infringed by any of Company’s puots. CSIRO had asserted that the
Companys wireless networking products implementing theEED2.11a, 802.11g, and 802.11n wireless LAN stalgdiafringe this patent. |
July 2006, the United States Court of Appeals lier Eederal Circuit affirmed the District Court'scéigon to deny CSIRO’s motion to dismiss
the action under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities &k September 2006, the Federal Circuit deni8tRD’s request for a rehearing en banc.
CSIRO filed a response to the complaint in Septergb86. In December 2006, the District Court grd@SIRO’s motion to transfer the case
to the Eastern District of Texas, where CSIRO hadigpht and won a similar lawsuit against Buffalafieology (USA), Inc., which Buffalo
appealed and which was partially remanded to tis¢ribi Court. The District Court consolidated thigion with three related actions involving
other companies (such as Buffalo) accused of igiingn CSIRO’s patent. The Company attended a Coartdated mediation in November
2007 but failed to resolve the litigation. The Dt Court held a June 26, 2008 claim constructiearing. On August 14, 2008, the District
Court issued a claim construction order and deaigtbtion for summary judgment of invalidity. In Eeober 2008, the parties filed numerous
motions for summary judgment concerning, amongrdthiags, infringement, validity, and other affirtive defenses. The District Court
commenced a jury trial on April 13, 2009 regardatidiability issues for the four consolidated cas@®n April 20, 2009, the Company and
CSIRO executed a Memorandum of Understanding (“MyXdgtting forth the terms of a settlement and beeagreement between the
Company and CSIRO. Without admitting any wrongdaingiolation of law and to avoid the distractiomdaexpense of continued litigation
and the uncertainty of a jury verdict on the metii® Company agreed to make a one-time lump symeat in consideration for a fully paid
perpetual license and a covenant not to sue wieie to the069 patent and all foreign counterparts and relptgdnts. Based on the histor
and estimated projected future unit sales of the@my’s products that were alleged to infringedbserted patent, the Company allocated a
portion of the settlement cost towards product rsieipts prior to the settlement, which the Compaggnded as a litigation settlement expense
of $2.4 million, which was primarily recognizedtime three months ended March 29, 2009. Addition#tlg Company allocated $2.6 million
the settlement cost to prepaid royalties which ballrecognized as a component of cost of reventleeaglated products are sold. Of this $2.6
million, $413,000 was amortized and expensed iryda ended December 31, 2009 and $551,000 wagiaewband expensed in the year
ended December 31, 2010.

Finoc, LLC v. NETGEAI

In February 2009, a lawsuit was filed against thenfany and fourteen other companies by Finoc DeS@rsulting OY (“Finoc”) in the
U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Tex Finoc alleged that the Company’s wireless D&eway products infringe U.S. Patent
No. 6,850,560. In June 2009, without admitting patent infringement, wrongdoing or violation of land to avoid the distraction and expe
of continued litigation, the Company agreed to makaetime lump sum payment of $82,500 in consideratmreffully paid perpetual licen:
to the patent in suit as well as a dismissal witjyglice by Finoc. Based on the historical andhestizd projected future unit sales of the
Company’s products that were alleged to infringedhkserted patents, the Company allocated a patithe settlement cost towards product
shipments prior to the settlement, which the Comgpacorded as a litigation settlement expenseérttihee months ended June 28, 2009.
Additionally, the Company allocated the balancéhefsettlement cost to prepaid royalties which élrecognized as a component of cost of
revenue as the related products are sold.

Networl-1 Security Solutions, Inc. v. NETGEAR

In February 2008, a lawsuit was filed against teenBany by Network-1 Security Solutions, Inc. (“Netk-1"), a patent-holding
company existing under the laws of the State ob@ate, in the U.S. District Court for the Easteistiict of Texas. Network- alleged that th
Company’s power over Ethernet (“PoE”)
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products infringed its U.S. Patent No. 6,218,936twérk-1 also sued six other companies alleginglairalaims of patent infringement. The
Company filed its answer in the second quarter0O®82 In May 2009, without admitting any patentiimlement, wrongdoing or violation of
law and to avoid the distraction and expense oficoed litigation, the Company agreed to make atoime lump sum payment of $350,000 in
consideration for a license to the patent in ssiivall as a dismissal with prejudice of the lawsuiider the license, the Company will pay
future running royalties on certain of its POE protd which will be recognized as a component of obsevenue as the related products are
sold.

IP Indemnification Claim:

In addition, in its sales agreements, the Compwpigally agrees to indemnify its direct custometistributors and resellers (the
“Indemnified Parties”) for any expenses or lialiliesulting from claimed infringements of patemtademarks or copyrights of third parties
that are asserted against the Indemnified Paffitesterms of these indemnification agreements eneglly perpetual after execution of the
agreement. The maximum amount of potential futndeinnification is generally unlimited. From timetime, the Company receives requests
for indemnity and may choose to assume the defeinsech litigation asserted against the IndemniRadties.

In June 2006, the Company received a request demimification from Charter and Charter Communiaa&i®perating, LLC, related to a
lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court, EasterisBict of Texas, by Rembrandt Technologies, L‘Refnbrandt”), a patent-holding company.
Rembrandt also filed a similar lawsuit in the sgoresdiction against Comcast Corporation, Comcashl€ Communications, LLC and
Comcast of Plano, LP. Rembrandt alleged that prisduomplementing the DOCSIS standard, which are keghpo Charter, Comcast
Corporation, Comcast Cable Communications, LLC @nthcast of Plano, LP by, among others, the Comgafrynge various patents held by
Rembrandt. In June 2007, the Judicial Panel onitsitict Litigation ordered these and other simpatent cases brought by Rembrandt
consolidated and transferred to the U.S. Distrimti€for the District of Delaware. In November 20@Ye Company along with Motorola, Inc.,
Cisco Systems, Inc., Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., ARREBroup, Inc., Thomson, Inc. and Ambit Microsysteins. filed a complaint for declaratory
judgment in the U.S. District Court for the Distraf Delaware against Rembrandt, seeking a dedarétat eight asserted Rembrandt pat
asserted in the transferred cases are either ¢hoahot infringed. The District Court held a clagmnstruction hearing on August 5, 2008. On
November 29, 2008, the District Court issued ig8ralconstruction order. After the District Cc's order, Rembrandt agreed to drop three
patents from the case, leaving five patents atisghbe District Court held a mediation on March,3009 but the parties were unable to re¢
resolution. On July 21, 2009, Rembrandt delivecethe Company and other parties an executed covepnato sue on any of the eight patents
originally in the suit, contending that the exeontbf the covenant divests the District Court afgdiction or renders moot the remaining cle
and counterclaims in the action. On July 31, 268&mbrandt filed a motion to dismiss the litigativvihile Rembrandt’s motion was pending,
the defendants filed motions for summary judgmeanctions, and responses to Rembrandt’s motiorstoiss. In early October 2009, the
District Court suspended all further dates fore¢hee while it reviewed the pending motions and stateis. On October 23, 2009, the Court
ordered Rembrandt to supplement the covenant raatedo include any products or services that cpmjth DOCSIS 1.0, 1.1, 2.0 or 3 and
dismissed Rembrandt’s various infringement claimsh@ eight patents with prejudice. The Court gaeenbrandt five days to withdraw its
motion to dismiss the litigation if it found the @®'s conditions on dismissal to be unacceptabtamBrandt did not withdraw its motion to
dismiss the litigation, and on October 30, 2009nBendt executed a covenant not to sue on anyedditiht patents in the case and any
products or services that comply with DOCSIS 1.0Q, 2.0 or 3. The Company and its co-defendantsehdor attorneys’ fees to be paid by
Rembrandt. Rembrandt has opposed the motion. Tiiegpare waiting for the Court to rule on the rooti

All of the above described claims against the Camgpar filed by the Company, whether meritorioushot, could be time-consuming,
result in costly litigation, require significant aomts of management time, and result in the digarsf significant operational resources. Were
an unfavorable outcome to occur, there exists
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the possibility it would have a material adversgact on the Company’s financial position and resoftoperations for the period in which the
unfavorable outcome occurs or becomes probablddition, the Company is subject to legal procegslialaims and litigation arising in the
ordinary course of business, including litigatiefated to intellectual property and employment aratt

Based on currently available information, the Compdoes not believe that the ultimate outcomesgfumresolved matters, individua
and in the aggregate, are likely to have a matadaérse effect on the Compasyinancial position, liquidity or results of op&oas within the
next twelve months. However, litigation is subjextnherent uncertainties, and the Company’s viéthese matters may change in the future.
Were an unfavorable outcome to occur, there ettistpossibility of a material adverse impact on@wenpany’s financial position and results
of operations or liquidity for the period in whitie unfavorable outcome occurs or becomes probabtepotentially in future periods.

Environmental Regulation

The European Union (“EU”) has enacted the WastetEtal and Electronic Equipment Directive, whiclakes producers of electrical
goods, including home and commercial business rmé&tag products, financially responsible for speaificollection, recycling, treatment and
disposal of past and future covered products. Hagllihe for the individual member states of thet&lttanspose the directive into law in their
respective countries was August 13, 2004 (suclslegipn, together with the directive, the “WEEE istgtion”). Producers participating in the
market are financially responsible for implementihgse responsibilities under the WEEE Legislatieginning in August 13, 2005. Similar
WEEE Legislation has been or may be enacted irr ghigdictions, including in the United States,n@da, Mexico, China, India, Australia ¢
Japan. The Company adopted the authoritative gog&lfor asset retirement and environmental obligatio the third quarter of fiscal 2005 ¢
has determined that its effect did not have a riatienpact on the Company’s consolidated resultspsrations and financial position for the
three months ended October 3, 2010. The Comparpnitinuing to evaluate the impact of the WEEE Llegiisn and similar legislation in oth
jurisdictions as individual countries issue theiplementation guidanc

Additionally, the EU has enacted the Restrictioidakzardous Substances Directive (“RoHS Legislajiofie REACH Directive and the
Battery Directive. EU RoHS Legislation, along wdtimilar legislation in China, requires manufactsrr ensure certain substances, including
polybrominated biphenyls (“PBD”), polybrominategtenyl ethers (“PBDE”), mercury, cadmium, hexavatdromium and lead (except for
allowed exempted materials and applications), atevb specified maximum concentration values inaiarproducts put on the market after
July 1, 2006. The REACH Directive similarly requimnanufacturers to ensure the published list oftsulzes of very high concern in certain
products are below specified maximum concentratedoes. The Battery Directive prohibits use of artypes of battery technology in cert
products. The Company believes it has met the reogints of the RoHS Legislation, the REACH Direetand the Battery Directive.

Additionally, the EU has enacted the Energy UsingdBct (“EuP”) Directive, which requires manufaettg of certain products to meet
minimum energy efficiency limits. These limits alecumented in EuP implementing measures issuespfmific types of equipment and
document minimum power supply efficiencies and nimajude required equipment standby modes which r@dace energy consumption. The
Company believes it has met the requirements chgipdicable EuP implementing measures.

Employment Agreements

The Company has signed various employment agresmétit key executives pursuant to which if theimdoyment is terminated
without cause, such employees are entitled to vedéeir base salary (and commission or bonuspplicable) for 52 weeks (for the Chief
Executive Officer), 39 weeks (for the Senior Viae$ident of Worldwide Operations and Support) ando26 weeks (for other key
executives) and such
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employees will also continue to have stock optieest for up to a one year period following suchri@ation without cause . If a termination
without cause or resignation for good reason ocaittsin one year of a change in control, such erygés are entitled to full acceleration (for
the Chief Executive Officer) and up to two yearsaderation (for other key executives) of any unedgiortion of his or her stock options.

Leases

The Company leases office space, cars and equipmeet non-cancelable operating leases with vagapgation dates through
December 2026. Rent expense in the years endeédniber 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $6.4 milliorg $@llion and $6.3 million,
respectively. The terms of some of the Companyfis@leases provide for rental payments on a gradiuscale. The Company recognizes rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the leasedyemnd has accrued for rent expense incurreddiypaid.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@eating leases, net of sublease payments, doli@ss (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2011 $ 6,401
2012 5,30¢
2013 4,572
2014 4,03¢
2015 3,83¢
Thereaftel 9,63
Total minimum lease paymer $33,78

Guarantees and Indemnifications

The Company has entered into various inventoryteédlpurchase agreements with suppliers. Genetailyer these agreements, 50% of
orders are cancelable by giving notice 46 to 6Ggajor to the expected shipment date and 25%d#rerare cancelable by giving notice 31 to
45 days prior to the expected shipment date. Om@ersion-cancelable within 30 days prior to theeexgd shipment date. At December 31,
2010, the Company had $160.4 million in non-cardelgurchase commitments with suppliers. The Comgatablishes a loss liability for all
products it does not expect to sell for which it lkammitted purchases from suppliers. Such loszes ot been material to date.

The Company, as permitted under Delaware law aaddordance with its Bylaws, indemnifies its offe@nd directors for certain eve
or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while tfficer or director is or was serving at the Camygs request in such capacity. The term of
indemnification period is for the officer’s or dater’s lifetime. The maximum amount of potential futimdemnification is unlimited; howeve
the Company has a Director and Officer Insurandeythat limits its exposure and enables it tooregr a portion of any future amounts paid.
As a result of its insurance policy coverage, toen@any believes the fair value of these indemnificeagreements is minimal. Accordingly,
the Company has no liabilities recorded for thegeeaments as of December 31, 2010.

In its sales agreements, the Company typicallyesgte indemnify its direct customers, distributansl resellers for any expenses or
liability resulting from claimed infringements o&fents, trademarks or copyrights of third parfidge terms of these indemnification
agreements are generally perpetual any time afeouion of the agreement. The maximum amount tdrg@l future indemnification is
unlimited. The Company believes the estimatedvaline of these agreements is minimal. Accordintiig, Company has no liabilities recorded
for these agreements as of December 31, 2010.
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Note 10—Stockholder’s Equity:

At December 31, 2010, the Company had four stodeth@mployee compensation plans as described bElmmotal compensation
expense related to these plans was approximat@l $iillion for the year ended December 31, 2010.

The following table sets forth the total stock-lthsempensation expense resulting from stock optisiricted stock awards, and the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan included in the Cogip&@onsolidated Statements of Operations (in thods):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Cost of revenu $ 91:c $ 95¢ $ 864
Research and developm 2,271 1,97: 3,21¢
Sales and marketir 4,71( 4,147 3,40¢
General and administrati\ 4,307 3,94¢ 3,83t

$12,20: $11,02¢ $11,32¢

The Company recognizes these compensation costd thet estimated forfeitures on a straight-lingib@ver the requisite service period
of the award, which is generally the option vestieign of four years.

Total stock-based compensation cost capitalizéavientory was less than $250,000 in each of thesyeladed December 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company has the fallgwhare-based compensation plans:

2000 Stock Option Plan

In April 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Stopkidd Plan (the “2000 Plan”). The 2000 Plan prosifter the granting of stock
options to employees and consultants of the Comp@ptions granted under the 2000 Plan may be €ditltentive stock options (“ISOs”) or
nonqualified stock options (“NSOs”). ISOs may barged only to Company employees (including officard directors who are also
employees). NSOs may be granted to Company emgdpgéectors and consultants. A total of 7,350,88@res of Common Stock have been
reserved for issuance under the 2000 Plan.

Options under the 2000 Plan may be granted fopdsmf up to ten years, provided, however, thah@)exercise price of an ISO and
NSO shall not be less than the estimated fair vafuke underlying stock on the date of grant andhe exercise price of an ISO and N:
granted to a 10% shareholder shall not be lessth&® of the estimated fair value of the underh\dtack on the date of grant. To date, opt
granted generally vest over four years.

As discussed below, in April 2003, all remainingusds reserved but not issued under the 2000 Plemtressferred to the 2003 Stock
Plan.

2003 Stock Plan

In April 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stdek the “2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan provides far granting of stock options to
employees and consultants of the Company. Opticargted under the 2003 Plan may be either ISOs @INEOs may be granted only to
Company employees (including officers and directan® are also employees). NSOs may be granted ngp@oy employees, directors and
consultants. The Company has reserved 750,000ssbe@ommon Stock plus any shares which were resdut not issued
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under the 2000 Plan as of the date of the appitéle 2003 Plan. The number of shares which weserved but not issued under the 2000
Plan that were transferred to the Company’s 2088 Rlere 615,290, which when combined with the shegserved for the Company’s 2003
Plan total 1,365,290 shares reserved under the @oyip2003 Plan as of the date of transfer. Anyomystcancelled under either the 2000 Plan
or the 2003 Plan are returned to the pool availdslgrant. As of December 31, 2010, 255,445 share reserved for future grants under the
Company’s 2003 Plan.

Options under the 2003 Plan may be granted foogerdf up to ten years, provided, however, thah@)exercise price of an ISO and
NSO shall not be less than the estimated fair vafuike underlying stock on the date of grant afdhe exercise price of an ISO and N:
granted to a 10% shareholder shall not be lessth@®o of the estimated fair value of the underlystack on the date of grant. To date, opt
granted generally vest over four years, with th&t franche vesting at the end of 12 months andetfmaining shares underlying the option
vesting monthly over the remaining three yeardisecal 2005, certain options granted under the 22188 immediately vested and were
exercisable on the date of grant, and the shamsriyig such options were subject to a resaleictisih which expires at a rate of 25% per
year.

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan

In April 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 LongnTtncentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), which was apd by the Company’s
stockholders at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stoctrd on May 23, 2006. The 2006 Plan provides fegifanting of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performaawards and other stock awards, to eligible dirs¢temployees and consultants of the
Company. Upon the adoption of the 2006 Plan, the@my reserved 2,500,000 shares of common stodkdoance under the 2006 Plan. In
June 2008, the Company adopted amendments to @&R1an which increased the number of shares oa€tmepanys common stock that mi
be issued under the 2006 plan by an additional20®0@ shares. In July 2010, the Company adoptedadments to the 2006 Plan which
increased the number of shares of the Comgatymmon stock that may be issued under the 2@G06hy an additional 1,500,000 shares. #
December 31, 2010, 1,483,848 shares were resevvduatdire grants under the 2006 Plan.

Options granted under the 2006 Plan may be ei8®@slor NSOs. ISOs may be granted only to Compamjagymes (including officers
and directors who are also employees). NSOs maydrged to Company employees, directors and cardaltOptions may be granted for
periods of up to ten years, provided, however, hahe exercise price of an ISO and NSO shallbetess than the estimated fair value of the
underlying stock on the date of grant and (ii) éixercise price of an ISO and NSO granted to a I@&ebolder shall not be less than 110% of
the estimated fair value of the underlying stocklumdate of grant. Options granted under the 286 generally vest over four years, with
first tranche vesting at the end of 12 months &ede€maining shares underlying the option vestiogtiy over the remaining three years.

Stock appreciation rights may be granted undeR@®6 Plan subject to the terms specified by the atiministrator, provided that the
term of any such right may not exceed ten (10)s/&am the date of grant. The exercise price gdiyezannot be less than the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on the datestihek appreciation right is granted.

Restricted stock awards may be granted under t6& Plan subject to the terms specified by the pdministrator. The period over
which any restricted award may fully vest is gelignao less than three (3) years. Restricted stwérds are non-vested stock awards that may
include grants of restricted stock or grants ofrieted stock units. Restricted stock awards adejrendent of option grants and are generally
subject to forfeiture if employment terminates ptimthe release of the restrictions. During thexiqud, ownership of the shares cannot be
transferred. Restricted stock has the same voitiigsras other common stock and is considered tubently issued and outstanding.
Restricted stock units do not have the voting 8giftcommon stock, and the shares underlying tsteicted stock units are not considered
issued and outstanding. The Company expenses shefche restricted stock awards, which is deteedito be the fair market value of the
shares at the date of grant, ratably over the gehiming which the restrictions lapse.
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Performance awards may be in the form of perforraaares or performance units. A performance shaems an award denominate:
shares of Company common stock and a performariteneans an award denominated in units having kaidedlue or other currency, as
determined by the plan administrator. The plan adstrator will determine the number of performaagerds that will be granted and will
establish the performance goals and other condifimnpayment of such performance awards. The gafioneasuring the achievement of
performance goals will be a minimum of twelve (f®)nths.

Other stock-based awards may be granted unde Ot Rlan subject to the terms specified by the ptiministrator. Other stock-based
awards may include dividend equivalents, restristedk awards, or amounts which are equivalenti tar @ portion of any federal, state, local,
domestic or foreign taxes relating to an award, mag be payable in shares, cash, other securitiasyoother form of property as the plan
administrator may determine.

In the event of a change in control of the Compaitiyawards under the 2006 Plan vest in full ahdaistanding performance shares and
performance units will be paid out upon transfer.

Any shares of common stock subject to an awardishfatfeited, settled in cash, expires or is otvise settled without the issuance of
shares shall again be available for awards un@e2®06 Plan. Additionally, any shares that are¢esd by a participant of the 2006 Plan or
retained by the Company as full or partial paymerthe Company for the purchase of an award oatisfg tax withholding obligations in
connection with an award shall no longer again beemavailable for issuance under the 2006 Plan.

The number of “full value equity awards” (as defifeelow) that may be granted will be limited tomore than ten percent (10%) of the
shares issuable under the 2006 Plan. For thesesrspa “full value equity award” is any award piarg to the 2006 Plan, other than options,
stock appreciation rights or other awards whichbesed solely on an increase in value of the Cogipa@ommon stock following the date of
grant.

2006 Stand-Alone Stock Option Agreement

In August 2006, the Company reserved for and gteat800,000 share NSO in connection with the hidhg key executive. As of
December 31, 2010, no options remain outstandimigutine 2006 Stand-Alone Stock Option Agreement.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

The Company sponsors an Employee Stock PurchasdtR&“ESPP”), pursuant to which eligible employesay contribute up to 10%
of compensation, subject to certain income limidgpurchase shares of the Companyommon stock. Prior to January 1, 2006, employese
able to purchase stock semi-annually at a pricaldquB5% of the fair market value at certain pthafined dates. As of January 1, 2006, the
Company changed the ESPP such that employeesusilhase stock semi-annually at a price equal to 86&te fair market value on the
purchase date. Since the price of the shares isdetevmined at the purchase date and there isngeta look-back period, the Company
recognizes the expense based on the 15% discoputctase. For the years ended December 31, 2000,&hd 2008, ESPP compensation
expense was $236,000, $184,000 and $250,000, tasecAs of December 31, 2010, 512,032 shareeweserved for future grants under
ESPP.

Valuation and Expense Information

The fair value of each option award granted underGompany’s ESPP equals the 15% discount at psechie fair value of each
restricted stock unit under all shasased compensation plans equals the fair valueEGT®EAR stock on the date of the grant. The faiugad
each option award granted under all other shareebesmpensation plans is estimated on the dateaaf gsing the Black-Scholes-Merton
option
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valuation model and the weighted average assungiiothe following table. The expected term of ops granted is derived from historical
data on employee exercise and post-vesting emplotyteamination behavior. The risk free intereseratbased on the implied yield currently
available on U.S. Treasury securities with an egjeint remaining term. Expected volatility is baseda combination of the historical volatility
of the Company'’s stock as well as the historicddtility of certain of the Company’s industry peesgock. The Company estimated the
forfeiture rate for the years ended December 31022009 and 2008 based on its historical expegienc

Stock Options Granted Under
non-ESPP Plans
Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Expected life (in years 4.4 4.4 4.3

Risk-free interest rat 1.78% 1.72% 3.02%
Expected volatility 50% 5% 49%

Dividend yield — — —

The weighted average estimated fair value of optgnanted during the years ended December 31, 2000, and 2008, including optic
granted under the ESPP and not including restristteck units, were $10.80, $6.10 and $9.57, respdygt

Stock options activity under the stock option pldosing the years ended December 31, 2008, 2002@h@ were as follows (share data
in thousands):

Outstanding Options
Weighted Average

Number of Exercise Price Pe
Shares Share

December 31, 200 3,42 $ 20.47
Granted 1,01¢ 23.0z
Exercisec (157) 15.01
Cancellec (369 24.2
December 31, 200 3,91¢ $ 21.0C
Granted 1,52¢ 14.7:
Exercisec (370) 8.07
Cancellec (4529 21.1¢
December 31, 200 4,62( $ 19.9¢
Granted 1,36¢ 26.02
Exercisec (2,339 15.0Z
Cancellec (282 21.8(
December 31, 201 4,361 $ 23.2¢

94



Table of Contents

Information regarding the stock options outstandih@ecember 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 is summaliekiv.

Weighted
Weighted Average Average
Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Price Pe Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Value
(thousands Share Life (thousands
As of December 31, 201
Shares outstandir 4,367 $ 23.2¢ 7.62 $ 46,41«
Shares vested and expected to 3,981 $ 23.2¢ 7.5C $ 42,247
Shares exercisab 2,051 $ 23.72 6.1¢ $ 21,04t
As of December 31, 200
Shares outstandir 4,62( $ 19.9¢ 7.21 $ 20,93t
Shares vested and expected to 4,29¢ $ 20.0¢ 7.0¢ $ 19,37¢
Shares exercisab 2,45¢ $ 20.6¢ 5.7¢ $ 10,49
As of December 31, 200
Shares outstandir 3,91¢ $ 21.0¢ 6.9¢ $ 3,41
Shares vested and expected to 3,82( $ 20.87 6.95 $ 3,40¢
Shares exercisab 2,27: $ 17.3¢ 5.7¢ $ 3,35¢

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table abepeasent the total pre-tax intrinsic values (thitedtnce between the Company’s closing
stock price on the last trading day of 2010, 2@0®] 2008 and the exercise price, multiplied byrilmber of shares underlying the in-the-
money options) that would have been received by(hi®n holders had all option holders exercisegrtbptions on December 31,

2010, December 31, 2009, and December 31, 2008.arhount changes based on the fair market valttea@ompany’s stock. Total intrinsic
value of options exercised for the year ended Déegrdl, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $16.9 million, $3ldon and $1.2 million, respectively.

The total fair value of options vested during tleans ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 whsrfifion, $9.0 million and $9.1
million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, $17.8 million of total ecwgnized compensation cost related to stock api®axpected to be recognized ¢
a weighted-average period of 1.52 years.

Cash received from option exercises and purchasgsrthe ESPP for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2008 was $20.1
million, $3.0 million and $2.4 million, respectivel

Restricted stock units as of December 31, 20109 20@ 2008, and changes during the years endedvibece1, 2010, 2009, and 2008
were as follows (share data in thousands):

2010 2009 2008
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Grant Date Grant Date Grant Date
Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value
Shares Per Share Shares Per Share Shares Per Share

In thousands In thousands In thousands
Restricted stock units outstanding at beginnin

year 287 $ 18.71 23t $ 25.5¢ 14¢ $ 27.6i
Restricted stock units grant 48 22.7: 171 12.2¢ 152 24.8¢
Restricted stock units vest (133) 19.3( (1049 23.4: (58) 28.9¢
Restricted stock units cancell (3 11.41 (15 19.3¢ 9 27.3:
Restricted stock units outstanding at end of ! 19¢ $ 19.4( 287 $ 18.71 23¢ $ 25.5¢
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Total intrinsic value of restricted stock units tegbduring the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002008 was $3.1 million, $1.4
million and $1.2 million, respectively.

The total fair value of restricted stock units eestiuring the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@08 was $2.6 million, $2.4
million and $1.7 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, $1.6 million of total wwgnized compensation cost related to non-vesttdated stock units is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period df Ye@rs.

Total fair value of stock-based compensation awargpensed for the years ended December 31, 2000,&@] 2008 was $9.1 million,
$7.8 million and $8.5 million, respectively, nettak. The actual excess tax benefit recognizethitax deduction arising from the exercises
and cancellations of stock-based compensation afardhe years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 G0l ®taled $3.6 million, $136,000
and $81,000, respectively.

Common Stock Repurchase Programs

In October 21, 2008, the Company’s Board of Direstuthorized management to repurchase up to ®008hares of the Company’s
outstanding common stock. Under this authorizatibe timing and actual number of shares subjeparchase are at the discretion of
management and are contingent on a number of factoch as levels of cash generation from opegtiash requirements for acquisitions
the price of the Company’s common stock. The Comulith not repurchase any shares under this autit@izduring the years ended
December 31, 2010 or 2009. During the fiscal yealed December 31, 2008, the Company repurchasedxapately 1.2 million shares or
$12.0 million of common stock under this repurchas#horization.

In addition, the Company repurchased approxima&2|900 shares, or $738,000 of common stock undeparchase program to help
administratively facilitate the withholding and sdguent remittance of personal income and payedd for individuals receiving restricted
stock units during the year ended December 31, .28ibdilarly, during the years ended December 30924nd December 31, 2008, the
Company repurchased approximately 22,000 share9,800 shares, respectively, or $282,000 and $2060common stock, respectively,
under the same program to help facilitate tax vattiimg for restricted stock units.

These shares were retired upon repurchase. The &uyrsppolicy related to repurchases of its commntouolksis to charge the excess of
cost over par value to retained earnings. All repases were made in compliance with Rule 10b-18uthé Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

Note 11—Segment Information, Operations by Geograpb Area and Customer Concentration:

Operating segments are components of an enteglsa& which separate financial information is aafalié and is regularly evaluated by
management, namely the chief operating decisioremakan organization, in order to make operating mesource allocation decisions. By
definition, the Company operates in one businegmeat, which comprises the development, marketimsale of networking products for the
commercial business, home user, and broadbandsgravider markets. The Company’s primary headgtgand a significant portion of its
operations are located in the United States. Thapg@amy also conducts sales, marketing and custosneics activities through several small
sales offices in Europe, Middle-East and AfricaNIIEA”) and Asia as well as outsourced distributi@nters.

For reporting purposes revenue is attributed th ggographic location based on the geographicitotaf the customer. Net revenue by
geography comprises gross revenue less such itesaes incentives deemed to be a reduction akmehue, sales returns and price
protection.
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Geographic information
Net revenue by geographic location is as followslifpusands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

United State! $455,30: $313,54! $295,68¢
North American (excluding United State 9,76( 847 1,952
United Kingdom 99,49: 91,94 120,99:-
EMEA (excluding UK) 240,98: 200,23¢ 233,06¢
Asia Pacific and rest of the wor 96,51¢ 80,02: 91,64¢
$902,05: $686,59! $743,34¢

Long-lived assets, comprising fixed assets, arertefd based on the location of the asset. Longtagsets by geographic location are as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009

United State! $ 11,80¢ $ 13,22¢
EMEA 20t 282
China 4,84¢ 2,86(
Asia Pacific and rest of the world (excluding Chi 642 523
$ 17,50: $ 16,89

Customer concentration (as a percentage of nehueye

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Best Buy Co., Inc. and Affiliate 15% 11% 8%
Ingram Micro, Inc. and Affiliate: 11% 11% 14%
Tech Data Corporation and Affiliats 7% 8% 11%
All others individually less than 10% of rever 67% 70% 67%
100% 10C% 10C%

Note 12—Employee Benefit Plan:

In April 2000, the Company adopted the NETGEAR 4)HRlan to which employees may contribute up to%@d salary subject to the
legal maximum. From January 1, 2008 through Decer®@bg2008, the Company contributed an amount egud0% of the employee
contributions up to a maximum of $7,000 per calerygar per employee. Beginning on January 1, 260¢he first three pay periods of 2009
only, which ended on January 30, 2009, the Compganyributed an amount equal to 100% of the emplapetributions up to a maximum of
$7,000, for employees that remained active withcthapany through December 31, 2009. No match wiaseaf in 2010. The Company
expensed zero, $508,000, and $1.3 million relaaeatie NETGEAR 401(k) Plan in the years ended Deezr@h, 2010, 2009, and 2008,

respectively.

Note 13—Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

The Company adopted updated authoritative guidéordair value measurements and disclosures effecdtanuary 1, 2008 for financial
assets and liabilities measured on a recurringsb@kis authoritative guidance
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applies to all financial assets and financial lieibs that are being measured and reported oir adhue basis. Although there was no impac
adoption of this authoritative guidance to the obidated financial statements, the Company is nequired to provide additional disclosure
part of its financial statements. In accordancé additional authoritative guidance, the Comparfeitied adoption until January 1, 2009 as it
relates to non-financial assets and liabilitiesegt¢hose measured at fair value in the finant¢égksents on a recurring basis. The updated
guidance establishes a framework for measuring/édire and expands disclosure about fair value areagents. The statement requires fair
value measurements be classified and discloseddrobthe following three categories:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markeds are accessible at the measurement dateefotiédl, unrestricted assets or
liabilities;

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are nowvactr inputs which are observable, either direatlyndirectly, for substantially the full
term of the asset or liability;

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that regjiriputs that are both significant to the fair ealneasurement and unobservable (i.e.,
supported by little or no market activity).

The following tables summarize the valuation of @@mpany’s financial instruments by the above aaieg as of December 31, 2010
and December 31, 2009:

As of December 31, 201
Quoted market

prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable inputs
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalen—money market fund $ 77,79¢ $ 77,79 $ — $ —
Available-for-sale securitie—Treasuries(1 144,56. 144,56. — —
Foreign currency forward contractsi 1,38¢ — 1,38¢ —
Total $223,74¢ $ 222,35¢ $ 1,38¢ $ —
(1) Included in sho-term investments on the Compi’'s consolidated balance she
(2) Included in prepaid expenses and other currentsaesehe Compar' s consolidated balance she
As of December 31, 201
Quoted market
prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable inputs
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Foreign currency forward contractsi $(78¢ $ — $ (789 $ o
Total $(78¢ $ — $ (789 $ —
(3) Included in other accrued liabilities on the Comy’s consolidated balance she
As of December 31, 2009
Quoted market
prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable inputs
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalen—money market fund $120,32: $ 120,32 $ — $ =
Available-for-sale securitie—Treasuries(1 74,89¢ 74,89¢ — —
Foreign currency forward contractsi 1,32¢ — 1,32¢ —
Total $196,55! $ 195,22. $ 1,32¢ $ —

() Included in sho-term investments on the Compi's consolidated balance she
(2) Included in prepaid expenses and other currentsaeseghe Compar' s consolidated balance she
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As of December 31, 200

Quoted market

prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable inputs
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Foreign currency forward contracts $(349) $ — $ (349 $ =
Total $(34€) $ — $ (349) $ —

(3) Included in other accrued liabilities on the Comy’s consolidated balance she

The Company’s investments in cash equivalents aailadle for sale securities are classified withavel 1 of the fair value hierarchy
because they are valued based on quoted markespni@ctive markets. The Company enters intodoreurrency forward contracts with only
those counterparties that have long-term creditgatof A+/A1 or higher. The Company’s foreign amcy forward contracts are classified
within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as thee valued using pricing models that take into antthe contract terms as well as currency
rates and counterparty credit rates. The Comparifjegethe reasonableness of these pricing modaigyobservable market data for related
inputs into such models. Additionally, the Compamgiudes an adjustment for non-performance risk@recognized measure of fair value of
derivative instruments. At December 31, 2010 anddb®ber 31, 2009, the adjustment for non-performais&edid not have a material impact
on the fair value of the Company’s foreign currefmyvard contracts. The carrying value of non-ficahassets and liabilities measured at fair
value in the financial statements on a recurrirgidyancluding accounts receivable and accountalgay approximate fair value due to their
short maturities.

Note 14—Comprehensive Income and Cumulative Other @nprehensive Income, Net:

The following table sets forth the activity for @amomponent of other comprehensive income, netlefed taxes, for the years ended
December 31, 2010, December 31, 2009, and Dece®ib@008, (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Net income $50,90¢ $9,33¢ $18,05(
Unrealized gains on derivative instrume $ 25¢ $ 20 $ —

Unrealized gains (losses) on availefor-sale securitie 4 (63) (39
Total comprehensive incon $51,16¢ $9,29( $18,01¢

The following table sets forth the components ahalative other comprehensive income, net of reltaeds, as of December 31, 2010
and December 31, 2009 (in thousands):

As of
December 31,
2010 200¢
Net unrealized gains on derivative instrume $27: $20
Net unrealized gains on availa-for-sale securitie 8 _ 4
Total cumulative other comprehensive income, neaxés $281 $24
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

The following table presents unaudited quartemaficial information for each of the Company’s kight quarters. This information has
been derived from the Company’s unaudited finarstatiements and has been prepared on the samasdsesaudited Consolidated Financial
Statements appearing elsewhere in this ForrK.10-the opinion of management, all necessarystdjents, consisting only of normal recuri
adjustments, have been included to state fairlygtreaterly results.

December 31
March 28, June 27, October 3,
2010 2010 2010 2010
Net revenug $211,55! $195,94¢ $ 236,01 $ 258,53:
Gross profil $ 72,82« $ 69,56: $ 75,701 $ 81,15«
Provision for income taxe $ 9,85¢ $ 10,567 $ 8,43t $ 11,457
Net income $ 13,72} $ 10,46¢ $ 13,09t $ 13,62:
Net income per sha—basic $ 0.3¢ $ 0.3 $ 0.317 $ 0.3¢
Net income per she—diluted $ 0.3¢ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.3¢€ $ 0.37
September 27 December 31
March 29, June 28,
2009 2009 2009 2009
Net revenug $152,01¢ $144,67: $ 171,07: $ 218,83
Gross profil $ 42,93: $ 41,26( $ 55,74t $ 66,46/
Provision for income taxe $ 3,352 $ 4,43¢ $ 5,82 $ 9,627
Net income (loss $ (3,770 $ (3,280 $ 8,53 $ 7,85:
Net income (loss) per shi—basic $ (0.1)) $ (0.10 $ 0.2t $ 0.2%
Net income (loss) per shi—diluted $ (0.1 $ (0.10 $ 0.24 $ 0.22
ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcédenting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedure
Managemen’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@orting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Exchange Act). Because of its iehtlimitations, internal control over financiap@ting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures mieteriorate.

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, conducted an eviidueof the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of @etber 31, 2010. In making this assessment, our geamant used the criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued by Tommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the dingey Commission (COSO). Based
on management’s assessment using those criterimpanagement concluded that our internal contret édwmancial reporting was effective as
of December 31, 2010. The effectiveness of ouriatecontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®&, 2010 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regisfarblic accounting firm, as stated in their répdrich is included in this Annual Rept
on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportm

There was no change in our internal control ovearicial reporting that occurred during the fourtlager of fiscal year 2010 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, our internal control over financiaporting.
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Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atidtheé participation of our management (includig Ghief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer), our Chief Executive Officand Chief Financial Officer have concluded thatdisclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeEttehange Act were effective as of the end of théodecovered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to ensure that information required tadiselosed by us in reports that we file or sulumider the Exchange Act is (i) recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pieneds specified in the SEC’s rules and forms @hdccumulated and communicated to

our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, as appropriateltovatimely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Iltem 9B.  Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Il is incorpted herein by reference from our proxy statemelated to our 2011 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders, which we intend to file no lateah 120 days after the end of the fiscal year @by this Form 10-K.

Iltem 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govene

The information required by this Item concerning directors, executive officers and standing cortesi is incorporated by reference to
the sections of our Proxy Statement under the hgadiElection of Directors,” “Board and Committeeebtings,” and Section 16(a) Benefici
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and to the infatiotacontained in the section captioned “Execu@féicers of the Registrant” included
under Part | of this Form 10-K.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that appliesit@€bief Executive Officer and senior financial o#fs, as required by the SEC. The
current version of our Code of Ethics can be foanaur Internet site at http://www.netgear.com. #iddal information required by this Item
regarding our Code of Ethics is incorporated bgrefice to the information contained in the seat@ptioned “Corporate Governance Policies
and Practices” in our Proxy Statement.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementeurigm 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendmentitayaiver from, a provision of
our Code of Ethics by posting such information onwebsite at http://www.netgear.com within fousimess days following the date of such
amendment or waiver.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorpetby reference to the sections of our Proxy Stat¢mnder the headings
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Execu@@mpensation,” “Director Compensation,” “CompensatCommittee Interlocks and
Insider Participation,” and “Report of the CompdisaCommittee of the Board of Directors.”

ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alinagement and Related Stockholder Matt:
The information required by this Item regarding iggaompensation plans is incorporated by referéndbe section entitled “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” set forth in Iteraf3his Form 10-K.

The additional information required by this Itenirisorporated by reference to the information coved in the section captioned
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersldianagement” in our Proxy Statement.

ltem 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independenci

The information required by this Item is incorp@cby reference to the information contained ingbetion captioned “Election of
Directors” and “Related Party Transactions” in 8uoxy Statement.

Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required by this Item related taliafiees and services is incorporated by referéa¢be information contained in the
section captioned “Ratification of Appointment aflependent Registered Public Accounting Firm” apgpgan our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedu
(a) The following documents are filed as part of tld@part:
(1) Financial Statements.

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiinm 54
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01200¢ 55
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the theees ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 56
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the three years ended December 31,,220@9 and 200 57
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the theees ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 58
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 59
Quarterly Financial Data (unaudite 10C
Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repay 10C

(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

The following financial statement schedule of NETAFE Inc. for the fiscal years ended December 3102@009 and 2008 is filed as
part of this Form 10-K and should be read in codfiom with the Consolidated Financial StatementSlIBTf GEAR, Inc.

Schedule Il—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(In thousands)

Balance a
Balance a
Beginning
End of
of Year Additions Deductions Year
Allowance for doubtful account
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 2,03¢ $ (202 $ (355 $ 1,481
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,91¢ 217 (97) 2,03¢
Year ended December 31, 2C 2,307 43 (432) 1,91¢
Allowance for sales returns and product warra
Year ended December 31, 2C 42,60: 78,28( (70,097 50,78¢
Year ended December 31, 2C 38,31% 67,34( (63,059 42,60:
Year ended December 31, 2C 36,97 69,74¢ (68,404 38,311
Allowance for price protectior
Year ended December 31, 2(C 1,54t 13,01: (11,409 3,141
Year ended December 31, 2C 3,43( 6,56: (8,44%) 1,54¢
Year ended December 31, 2(C 497 7,48¢ (4,55¢€) 3,43(

(3) Exhibits.The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdibits are filed or incorporated by reference as phthis report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this Annual
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized, in the City of Sage]d&tate of California, on the 28th day of
February 2011.

NETGEAR, Inc.
Registran

/s/  PATRICK C.S. LO
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below constitutes anairgppgPatrick C.S.
Lo and Christine M. Gorjanc, and each of them aligrneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitfor him in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments to this Report on Fdi+K and to file the same, with exhibits theretd ather documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Comimisdiereby ratifying and confirming all that easfhsaid attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute
or substitutes, may do or cause to be done byevirareof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and orlé#tes indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ PatrRicKC.S. Lo Chairman of the Board and February 28, 2011
Patrick C.S. Lo Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer

/'s/ CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC Chief Financial Office February 28, 201
Christine M. Gorjanc (Principal Financial and Accounting Office
/s/ JOCELYN C ARTER-M ILLER Director February 28, 2011
Jocelyn Carter-Miller
/'s/ RALPHE. FAISON Director February 28, 201
Ralph E. Faison
/s/ A. TimOTHY G ODWIN Director February 28, 2011
A. Timothy Godwin
/s/ JEFG RAHAM Director February 28, 201
Jef Graham
/s/ LinwooDA. L ACY, JR. Director February 28, 201

Linwood A. Lacy, Jr.
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Signature

/s/ GEORGEG. C. PARKER

George G. C. Parker

/s/ GREGORYJ. RossMANN

Gregory J. Rossmann

/sl JuLEE A. SHIMER

Julie A. Shimer

Title

Director

Director

Director
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February 28, 2011

February 28, 201

February 28, 2011
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Exhibit
Number

2.1%

3.3

3.5

4.1
10.1
10.2#
10.3#
10.4#
10.5#
10.8#
10.9#
10.10#
10.12#
10.14*
10.15*

10.24*
10.25*

10.26*

10.30#
10.33#
10.34

10.41**

10.44
10.45

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemb20@2, by and among CP Secure International Holtingted, the

stockholders thereof and the registran

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiotihe registrant(2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrat

Form of registrar's common stock certificate(

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors afticers(2)

2000 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreementsthater(2]

2003 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereuic

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Offer Letter, dated December 3, 1999, betweenedbestrant and Patrick C.S. Lo(

Offer Letter, dated December 9, 1999, between the ragisand Mark G. Merrill(2

Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 2002, letvitee registrant and Michael F. Falcor
Employment Agreement, dated January 6, 2003, betieeregistrant and Charles T. Olsor
Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 2005, émtvthe registrant and Christine M. Gorjant
Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1997, betwihenregistrant and Tech Data Product Managemeni{2)

Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1996, betwiberregistrant and Ingram Micro Inc., as amendedinendment date
October 1, 1996 and Amendment No. 2 dated July1988(2)

Warehousing Agreement, dated July 5, 2001, betweenegistrant and APL, Logistics Americas, Ltd.

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated April 2002, between the registrant and DSV Solutions Bdfmerly Furness
Logistics BV)(2)

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated Decemb&@0D1, between the registrant and Kerry Logistitsng Kong) Limited
)

Employment Agreement, dated November 3, 2003, teriviiee registrant and Michael Werdanr

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan and forms of agreamtereunder(t

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July2@66, by and among the registrant, SKIM Holdinggo@ation, SkipJam
Corp., Michael Spilo, Jonathan Daub, Francis Rédehnis Aldover and Zhicheng Qiu(

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May @72By and among the registrant, NAS Holdings Cration, Infrant
Technologies, Inc., certain Infrant shareholdeesdbf, and Paul Tien as the Holders Represent@)i

Office Lease, dated as of September 25, 2007, dybatween the registrant and BRE/Plumeria, LL(
First Amendment to Office Lease, dated as of ARBil 2008, by and between the registrant and BRE/@&lia, LLC(9)
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.46# Amended and Restated 2006 L-Term Incentive Plan(1(

10.474# NETGEAR, Inc. Executive Bonus Plan(1

10.49# Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decem®e2@08, between the registrant and Michael F.drglcl)

10.50# Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decembge2@08, between the registrant and Christine Go(jeL)

10.51# Amendment to Offer Letter, dated December 23, 26@8yeen the registrant and Patrick Lo(

10.52# Amendment to Offer Letter, dated December 28, 26@8yeen the registrant and Mark Merrill(Z

10.53# Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decembe2@08, between the registrant and Chuck Olsor

10.54# Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decembge2@08, between the registrant and Michael Werdal)

10.55# Amendment #2 to Employment Agreement, dated Sepeh 2009, between the registrant and ChristiogaBc(12)

211 List of subsidiaries and affiliate

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, IndeperRiegistered Public Accounting Fir

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature pa

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ecurities Exchange Act Rules -14(a) / 15-14(a), as adopted pursuant
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) / 15@)146 adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiioBe906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 200z

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdtioBe906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act 0f2002

#  Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemen

*

*%

(1)
()
®3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Confidential treatment has been granted as toingrtations of this Exhibit

Registrant hereby agrees to furnish a copy efdmitted schedules and exhibits to the SecutigsExchange Commission upon its
request

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit bearirggame number filed with the Regist’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on
September 23, 2008 with the Securities and Exch@ugemission

Incorporated by reference to an exhibit fileithvthe Registrant’s Registration Statement on FSrth (Registration Statement 333-
104419), which the Securities and Exchange Comaris$éclared effective on July 30, 20

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32hef Registrant’s Current Report on ForrK 8iied on November 22, 2005 with the Securi
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of thegRtran’s Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 5, 2004 with the Securities ¢
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to the copy includedhenRegistrar s Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting otktolders filed ol
April 21, 2006 with the Securities and Exchange Gossion.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed ay27, 2006 with the Securities and
Exchange Commissiol
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(7)
(8)
9)
(10)
(11)

(12)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Regn’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 3, 2007 with the Securities a
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 &f Begistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filedSeptember 27, 2007 with the Securities
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 @& Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fitedMay 9, 2008 with the Securities and
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to the copy includedheRegistrars Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting otiholders filed o1
April 28, 2008 with the Securities and Exchange Guossion.

Incorporated by reference to the copy includedRegistrar's Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 4, 2009 with the Securiti
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1he&f Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filedSeptember 21, 2009 with the Securities
and Exchange Commissic

108



NETGEAR, Inc.

NETGEAR International, Inc

NETGEAR Global, Inc

NETGEAR Japan, Kk

NETGEAR Deutschland Gmb

NETGEAR Technologies India Private Limit
NETGEAR Taiwan Co., Ltc

NETGEAR Netherlands B.\

NETGEAR UK Limited

NETGEAR Austria GmbF

NETGEAR Cyprus Ltd

NETGEAR International, Ltd

NETGEAR Holdings, Ltd

Netgear Poland sp Z.o0

SkipJam Corp.

Netgear Asia Holdings Ltc

Netgear Hong Kong Ltc

Netgear Switzerland Gmb

Netgear do Brasil Produtos Electronicos L
Netgear Norway A

Netgear (Beijing) Network Technology Co, L

Netgear Asia Pte Ltc

Infrant Technologies, LLC
Netgear Czech Republic s.r
Netgear New Zealan

Netgear Australia Pty Ltc
Netgear Mexico S de R.L. de C

Subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Registrant

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B37718, 333-136892, 333-
136895, 333-151638, 333-160869, and 333-16834BEAGEAR, Inc. of our report dated February 28, 26dlating to the financial
statements, financial statement schedule and feetekness of internal control over financial refpa, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 28, 2011



EXHIBIT 31.1
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Patrick C.S. Lo, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the*Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or en#ttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsotimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andfie periods presented in this
report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and)1B§(e)) and internal control over financial reogy (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, paftidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financing réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financggorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentadsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatowed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) dritave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonslahe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardigctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significdain the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 28, 2011

By: /s/ PATRICKC.S.LO
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 31.2
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Christine M. Gorjanc, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the“Registrar”);

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or angttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementso#imer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andfie periods presented in this
report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and)1B§(e)) and internal control over financial reogy (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, paftidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financing réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financggorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentadsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatowed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drftave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonslahe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardigctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significdain the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 28, 2011

By: /'s/ CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARg lifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endimtember 31, 2009, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ordéte hereof (the “Report”), Patrick C.S. Lo, Chairman and Chief Executivéi€2f of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 28 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”),
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m);
and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 28, 2011

By: /s/ PatrickC.S.Lo

Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished ® $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its spafiirequest.

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with 8exurities and Exchange Commission and is
be incorporated by reference into any filing of thempany under the Securities Act of 1933 or tleei®es Exchange Act of 1934 (whether
made before or after the date of this Form 10-Kgdpective of any general incorporation languagatained in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARg lifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endimtember 31, 2009, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ortéte hereof (the “Report”), I, Christine M. Gorja@hief Financial Officer of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section012& adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”),
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Aa@%84 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fajphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 28, 2011

By: /'s/ CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished ® $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its spafiirequest.

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with Becurities and Exchange Commission and is n
be incorporated by reference into any filing of thempany under the Securities Act of 1933 or tleei®es Exchange Act of 1934 (whether
made before or after the date of this Forn-K), irrespective of any general incorporation larmge contained in such filin



